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 Global Yellow Pages Limited (“GYPL”) started 
in 1967 with the publication of the Yellow Pages print directories. 
Until 2015, the Company’s core activities were the publication of 
directories and the sale of advertising in these directories. 

On 4 May 2015, shareholders approved the diversification of the 
Company's core business to property investment, development and 
management at its Extraordinary General Meeting. 

As of today, the Company has a property portfolio of 303,172 sqm 
of land, comprising commercial, retail and residential assets in 
Singapore and New Zealand. Headquartered in Singapore, the Group 
also has presence in New Zealand and Australia. 

The Company was listed on the Singapore Exchange on 9 December 2004. 

CORPORATE  
PROFILE
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Our Vision. A 
trusted property  
company that  

delivers projects  
that owners  

and users value. 

Remarkables Residences in Queenstown,  
original sketch by Ignite Architects.
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CHAIRMAN’S  
LETTER

Mah Bow Tan

 THE PAST 
As many of you know, GYPL has been working tirelessly  
to diversify our business, finely balancing revenue from 
the declining print directories industry against strategic 
investments. FY2018 was an especially difficult year for us 
emotionally as we faced the biggest change for the Group 
in half a century – the discontinuation of our Yellow Pages 
print directories. 

Despite all the challenges due to market and technological 
changes, we have secured an exciting future for this 
Company by putting in place a business strategy focused 
on property. 

Today, 58% of our revenue is derived from property and 
property-related businesses, a figure that will grow as our 
business gathers momentum. We are now more ready than 
ever to cement our position as a trusted property company 
and we look forward to sharing our progress with you. 

On behalf of the Board, we would like to thank everyone 
who journeyed with us through our transformation –   

our customers, business partners, you our shareholders 
and last but not least, all our employees for supporting us 
in our evolution.

 THE PRESENT
FY2018 reminded us yet again that we live in a volatile world. 
Despite another year full of complex and ambiguous events, 
we saw global economic growth accelerate with stock 
markets scaling record highs. 

As stakeholders will note, our property portfolio today is 
predominantly made up of assets in New Zealand. While 
this may not always be the case going forward, we believe 
New Zealand currently represents an attractive and stable 
market with solid long term fundamentals. For the second 
year in a row in 2017, New Zealand was rated the highest 
for ease of doing business by the World Bank. New Zealand 
scored the lowest for corruption according to Transparency 
International’s 2017 Corruption Perceptions Index. New 
Zealand also has low debt compared to other OECD 

Dear  
Shareholders,
It gives me great pleasure to present to you GYPL’s 2018 Annual Report. 
This has been a significant year for us and although this year marks our  
51st Anniversary, we are ushering in an exciting new start for the Group. 
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countries, and a low inflation rate. 

As such, GYPL has expanded our portfolio in New Zealand 
with its long-term growth potential; and we are exploring 
the most effective ways to deliver quality projects to our 
purchasers, including using innovative pre-built construction 
methods.

With the acquisition of a new land parcel, Bellfield Estate in 
Auckland, our group assets under management this year 
grew 11%, with land area under ownership increasing 258%. 
Construction for the two projects, Remarkables Residences 
in Queenstown and the aforementioned Bellfield Estate, are 
underway as we look forward to creating more value for our 
stakeholders.

Enhancing our property management capabilities was 
another focus for us this year, which resulted in us 
establishing an in-house experienced team with an intimate 
understanding of the New Zealand retail market in which  
we operate. 

Overall, the Group has performed well over the last year, 
turning a profit from continuing operations of S$3.4million, 
as compared to a loss from continuing operations of 
S$1.1million last year; on the back of S$17.8million in revenue, 
despite a decrease of 13.6% from last year.

 THE FUTURE
As GYPL begins this new chapter, we want to grow in a 
purposeful way – thinking and investing long term, whilst 
remaining nimble to continuously grow efficiently amidst 

a global changing environment. We believe GYPL has an 
exciting future with great potential to deliver value for our  
shareholders. 

On behalf of the Board, we would like to extend our warmest 
welcome to our new Director, Loo Wen Lieh, who brings with 
him a wealth of experience in finance and investments. I 
would also once again like to take this opportunity to thank 
our shareholders, customers and business partners for their 
continued support, as well as to the management team and 
employees for their dedication to this Company. 

 

Mah Bow Tan 
Chairman
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Our Investment  
Strategy. Strategic 

acquisitions for a diversified 
property portfolio, driving 

financial performance and 
delivering sustained growth  

for our stakeholders.
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INTERVIEW  
WITH OUR CEO

  Q. 
The final Yellow Pages print edition marked the end 
of an era for the Group. What are your key learnings 
from this transformation?

A
Discontinuing the Yellow Pages print directories and saying 
goodbye to our staff, many of them long-serving, was very 
tough for us. Unfortunately, it was made necessary by shifts 
in culture and technology and we held it off for as long as we 
could as livelihoods were at stake. I was positively surprised 
and grateful for everyone’s support last year; it seems the 
market understood the challenges we faced.

It is without doubt that trying to ride out a sunset industry 
is painful and ultimately futile so my key learnings would be 
that: 1. It is extremely important to continue to innovate and 
not be afraid to try new ways of doing things – only when we 
challenge the status quo can we get a different outcome.  
2. Do not discount the importance of having a dedicated 
team – a high functioning team makes the world of difference 
in turning a vision into reality. And 3. Yes, there’s a need to 
have a stable long-term plan, but we also need to be nimble 
to seize golden opportunities which are few and far between.

 Q. 
You are not new to real estate. How long have you 
been in the industry and what do you enjoy most 
about it?

A  

I’ve been investing and developing property for the last 
30 years, predominantly in Singapore, New Zealand and 
Australia. Property, to me, is an invigorating space as every 
project is unique and the feasibility of each site depends on 
where you are in the market cycle and the unique features of 
each country which you’re operating in. 

The deal making stage for me is extremely important which 
is why we spend a lot of our effort at acquisition – purchase 
price is one of the factors that underpins the ability to ride 
out any market downturn so you always have to be ready 
to walk away and not be emotional. The stamina to hold in 
the event of a down market is another factor which requires 
foresight and no matter how great your project delivery is, 
cash flow is still always key. 

I also respect the patience needed to unlock the value of each 
project; whether it be an existing building or a greenfield site. 

We ask our CEO Stanley Tan
about the Company’s transition, his experience in real estate  
and how he sees the future of our business. 

Stanley Tan
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Exploring multiple strategies is challenging yet exhilarating 
as there are some that perform better than others but still, 
there is never just one “right answer”. Each project is unique 
but the ability for real estate to create value and uplift the 
surrounding communities makes it all worth the effort.

 Q. 
Do you have a favourite project that you developed 
in the past?

A
My favourite project to date is probably Heritage 
Queenstown, one of the hotels in the Heritage chain that I co-
founded. It was particularly challenging. We’d endeavoured 
to build the hotel to meet the deadline of The Williamsburg 
Conference in the late 90s and we managed to deliver the 
project in just nine months – ambitious but made possible 
through having the right team, which was led by Chris Minty, 
our current Project Director. Queenstown in New Zealand 
is such a beautiful place and it’s exciting to be back with  
our project Remarkables Residences which we are now 
marketing. 

 Q. 
What is GYPL’s investment strategy?

A 

A diversified portfolio is key for risk management so our 
investment strategy is very much focused around building a 
portfolio of projects, at different stages of the development 
cycle. We also assess various markets at different stages 
of development maturity but we need to be patient before 
entering a new territory as it all comes down to timing. As 
mentioned earlier, it is vital that while we look at financial 
performance and long-term growth, it is still important for 
us to stay nimble so that we can react when an opportunity 
presents itself. It has been quite a journey of transformation 
for us and we are committed to delivering value for  
our stakeholders.

 Q.  
What do you look for when you evaluate each new 
project opportunity?

A 

Buying at the right price, right time and with the right  
payment structure is key! Whether it’s a refurbishment, 
rebuild, a fresh start or adding built areas, room for value 
enhancement is something we always look for. Each project 
presents opportunities and constraints and an area that 
should always be considered is zoning use as this can 
present unseen appreciation opportunities or depreciation 
risks. 

Value enhancement comes from being patient and able 
to see a project differently. We ask ourselves questions 
like: How do we find value where others haven’t or where 
they don’t? And how do we turn a problem or loss-making 
business into an opportunity and profit? 

Structuring “the deal” to maximise the return on invested 
capital is another area that is extremely important during 
project evaluation. And last but definitely not least, the 
due diligence phase is key to providing assurance and 
verification that we are getting what we’ve been told we  
are buying.

 Q.   

You mentioned earlier that a dedicated team 
is important. What do you look for when you’re 
building a team?

A
Definitely inner strength and resilience – I think it’s important 
that team members adopt the attitude that no problem 
is too big to be solved. Being self-driven is extremely 
important – we run a lean, flat organisation where everyone 
is accountable so ensuring that we have team players on 
board who support each other is crucial. And of course, a 
diverse team of personalities and skills; being able to lever-
age skills across different projects is a useful strength.

 Q.  
Where do you see the Company in five years?

A
GYPL currently has a growing pipeline of projects that we are 
steadily adding to, so I’m very excited about our future and 
creating a strong stable portfolio that we can be proud of. 

In five years’ time, I see us successfully completing Bellfield 
Estate and Remarkables Residences in New Zealand, while 
searching for projects in Asia and Australia, and collaborating 
with partners so that we can continuously generate value for 
our stakeholders. 

There is a lot of hard work ahead of us but I believe the team 
is up to the challenge and ready to embody the new vision of 
this 51-year-old Company.
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PORTFOLIO

 The Yellow Pages Building is a 7-storey property zoned light industry and 
located in District 12, a suburban area steeped in history and located just 
outside the city centre. 

Located directly above the Braddell MRT Station, just four stops from Singapore’s iconic Orchard Road, the building 
is used by the Group for its operations and also leased for rental. Encircled by housing estates; conveniently 
surrounded by local eateries and mom-and-pop stores; and just one stop away from Toa Payoh HUB and Junction 
8 Shopping Centre, the central location offers access to grocery and retail shopping, as well as banks and other 
amenities.

YELLOW PAGES BUILDING

Location Toa Payoh, Singapore SG  
Land area 5,039 sqm  Gross floor area 13,268 sqm

 With the recent rezoning of Pakuranga into a town centre, our acquisition of  
retail mall Pakuranga Plaza and adjacent lots provides a strategic 4-hectare 
development site.

Situated in a prime East Auckland location 16 kilometres from Auckland’s Central Business District, the town 
centre is located at the gateway to East Auckland, on the corner of two regional arterial roads and near the Tamaki 
Estuary coastline. GYPL’s vision is to create a vibrant hub that includes retail, community, residential, hospitality 
and commercial offerings. Master planning for the site is currently underway.

Located within the upcoming town centre, Pakuranga Plaza is a neighbourhood shopping centre with a total gross 
floor area of 30,068 square metres and known locally for its easy, stress-free, everyday shopping. Anchored by 
three well-known tenants – Countdown, Farmers and The Warehouse, the centre is also a local business hub 
with five banks, a NZ Post in the area and the Plaza Tower office; and also includes community amenities such as 
Pakuranga Library, Howick Local Board and Plunket.

PAKURANGA TOWN CENTRE

Location Pakuranga, Auckland NZ   
Land area 41,212 sqm  Project size est. 160,000 sqm 
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PORTFOLIO

Location Frankton Flats, Queenstown NZ   
Land area 38,400 sqm  Project size 200-225 Townhouses 

 Remarkables Residences is GYPL’s residential development located in the 
heart of Queenstown’s growing Frankton district.

Considered one of Queenstown’s most accessible suburbs, the location is close to schools and the airport, a 
short walk to retail and hospitality outlets, 15 minutes from central Queenstown and Arrowtown, and 30 minutes 
to ski fields. 

Currently under construction, Remarkables Residences is Queenstown’s first urban development of substantial 
terraced homes and offers contemporary architecture inspired by the natural environment by Ignite Architects. 
Stage One is fully committed and Stage Two is currently being marketed.

REMARKABLES RESIDENCES

Location Opaheke, Papakura NZ   
Land area 218,521 sqm  Project size est. 500 homes 

 Bellfield Estate is located at Bellfield Road, Papakura, and is approximately 
22 hectares in size.

The Group intends to develop the land and subdivide it for sale, and is also exploring the development of part of 
the land into residential houses and commercial units. 

Civil works are currently underway and the project is being prepared to take to market.

BELLFIELD ESTATE
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This year was very much about expanding our property development and management capabilities in New Zealand. 
Based in our Auckland offices, our new team members are passionate, capable and bring great energy to our development 
projects and retail operations. We are also proud to welcome new colleagues to our Management Team – Chris Minty 
(Project Director), Jaki Dwight (Property Manager) and Aaron Abercrombie (Project Manager) – who have many years of 
experience in development, centre management and civil construction. Having a strong team is essential and we look 
forward to a bright future ahead.

OUR PEOPLE 

WE ARE ON A JOURNEY

From left to right: Tony Turner, Andrea Lane, Tiffany Tran, Matt Mihalicz, Jason Oh, George Nuku; not pictured: Isolde

Remarkables Residences is our inaugural development 
project in New Zealand. 

Designed by Ignite Architects, the residential development 
is situated at the foot of The Remarkables mountain range 
and offers a variety of designs and configurations to suit 
owner-occupiers, families and  investors. The master plan 
and design strategy maximises the opportunities of the 
greenfield site and the spectacular views, with materials 
used and a colour palette inspired by the local landscape 
and traditional architecture of the region. Placement 
of dwellings throughout the site ensures optimal living 
arrangement, with a network of linear and pocket parks to 
draw the neighbourhood together and provide connectivity 
to surrounding public amenities. 

A six-stage development, Stage One was launched and 
fully committed in FY18 by Bayleys Realty Group, and onsite 
construction has commenced by Queenstown-based 
builder, Rilean Construction.

FEATURED 
PROJECT

Remarkables Residences Stage 2,  
visualised by Buildmedia.
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Remarkables Residences Stage 2, 
visualised by Buildmedia.

Remarkables Residences in Queenstown,  
original sketch by Ignite Architects.
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Supporting our communities is something that we’re passionate about. 

This year, we raised funds for the SPCA in Auckland through our Christmas gift wrapping station at Pakuranga Plaza. For 
a gold coin donation, customers had their gifts wrapped. 

Other organisations that we’ve supported this year include the MILK (Mainly I Love Kids) Fund, South Central Community 
Family Service Centre, Babes Pregnancy Crisis Support, and the Compassion Fund in Singapore; as well as UNICEF, 
MECOSS, Dementia Auckland, Assistance Dogs Trust, The Salvation Army, Pink Ribbon, The Red Cross, Amnesty 
International, Youthline, Pakuranga College, Family for every Child, and Oxfam in New Zealand.

COMMUNITY IN FOCUS

WE ARE ON A JOURNEY

Pakuranga Plaza community graphic,  
designed by 7 Creativity for the  
SPCA gold coin fundraiser.

2018 marks the International Year of the Reef. Motivated to minimise waste and manage our carbon footprint, we 
reviewed our waste management practices and energy consumption, and are phasing out single-use plastics and  
taking steps to fly carbon neutral. This year, GYPL will be publishing our first Sustainability Report, which  provides the 
Group’s framework to drive improvements and positive impacts of the organisation.

ENVIRONMENT

We completed another acquisition in July 2018, adding 
approximately 21.9 hectares to our development 
pipeline. Located along Bellfield Road in Papakura, 
we’ve named the project Bellfield Estate, a site that 
will allow us to design more than 500 housing lots and 
create a thriving community. We began groundworks 
in FY18 and will be taking Stage One to market  
in FY2019.

PORTFOLIO 
EXPANSION
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KEY 
FIGURES

Note: All figures exclude results of discontinued operations. Market capitalisation is based on the closing share price on 29 June 2018. Shares 
in issues (excluding treasury shares) are 275 million as at 30 June 2018.   

S$76.2MGroup’s 
Net 
Assets S$50.9MMARKET

CAP

S$17.8M 
R E V E N U E

S$8.6M 
E B I T D A S$3.4MPROFIT  

AFTER  
TAX

4.56%
Return on Equity

S $139M
PROPERTY PORTFOLIO SIZ E
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
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The Group’s revenue from continuing operations for FY2018 
was S$17.8 million, a decrease of S$2.8 million or 13.6% 
from S$20.6 million for FY2017 due mainly to reduced 
revenue contribution from Supatreats Asia Pte Ltd (“SAPL”) 
Group. 

Other income of S$2.9 million relates mainly to rental 
income generated from Yellow Pages Building.

Other gains of S$4.7 million in FY2018 relates mainly to fair 
value gains of S$4.5 million on investment properties. In the 
prior year, fair value losses of S$3.2 million on investment 
properties was recorded under other losses.

Other losses of S$2.1 million for FY2018 relates mainly 
to unrealised revaluation foreign exchange losses of  
S$1.4 million, deemed loss on disposal of FundPlaces Pte. 
Ltd. (“FundPlaces”) of S$0.4 million due to a reclassification 
of the investment from an associated company to an 
available-for-sale financial asset and impairment losses of 
available-for-sale financial assets of S$0.3 million. 

Total expenses of S$18.7 million for FY2018 were S$1.6 
million or 7.7% lower than last year. Cost of ice-cream and 
related goods decreased by S$0.8 million or 25.1% in FY2018 
due to lower purchases incurred by SAPL Group. Marketing, 
advertising and promotion expenses also decreased by 
S$0.7 million or 27.3% in FY2018 due to lower expenses 
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incurred by SAPL Group. Staff costs decreased by S$0.8 
million or 21.0% in FY2018 due mainly to lower headcount. 
Finance expenses decreased by S$0.5 million or 13.9% 
because of reduced borrowings. Other expenses increased 
by S$1.2 million due mainly to increase in provision for other 
receivables in SAPL Group. 

Profit from discontinued operations was S$0.3 million in 
FY2018 compared to a loss of S$0.5 million in FY2017, 
attributable mainly to the Search segment. 

As a result, the Group posted a net profit of  
S$3.7 million in FY2018, as compared to a net loss of  
S$1.7 million in FY2017. Excluding the results of discontinued 
operations the Group posted an adjusted profit after 
tax of S$3.4 million and loss after tax of S$1.1 million  
for FY2018 and FY2017, respectively. 

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents decreased to S$3.5 
million as at 30 June 2018 compared to S$9.6 million as at 30 
June 2017 due to the payment of deposit for the proposed 
acquisition of land in Papakura, New Zealand and repayment 
of borrowings. 

Development properties increased S$2.8 million due 
mainly to the capitalisation of development costs from 
development of Remarkables Residences during the year. 

Other current assets of S$17.0 million as at 30 June 2018 
were higher by S$14.0 million as compared to 30 June 2017 
due mainly to prepayment of land cost for the proposed 
acquisition of land in Papakura, New Zealand.  

Investment properties decreased by S$3.7 million as at 
30 June 2018 due mainly to a weaker New Zealand dollar 
foreign exchange rate, partly offset by fair value gains on 
investment properties.

Total borrowings from loans taken by the Group’s foreign 
subsidiaries and the Company decreased by S$9.2 million 
due mainly to the weaker New Zealand dollar foreign 
exchange rate and repayment of loans during FY2018.

Negative working capital of S$21.8 million was due mainly 
to S$58.3 million of borrowings maturing in September 
2018. These borrowings are secured on Pakuranga Plaza 
shopping mall, the land adjacent to the shopping mall and 
the land in Queenstown. The Group has since refinanced 
S$51.2 million of borrowings in August 2018.  

As a result of the above, the Group’s net assets closed at 
S$76.1 million as at 30 June 2018 compared to S$63.0 
million as at 30 June 2017.
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BOARD  
OF DIRECTORS

From left to right:  Andrew Tay, Stanley Tan, Pang Yoke Min, Mah Bow Tan, Ng Tiong Gee, Loo Wen Lieh

MAH BOW TAN 
Non-Executive Chairman
Chairman, Nominations Committee
Member, Remuneration Committee

Mr Mah Bow Tan has served in the Government, holding 
various portfolios until his retirement from politics in  
May 2011. His involvement and experience spans the 
private and public sectors. In the private sector, he has 
been with Singapore Bus Services (SBS), Singapore News 
and Publications Ltd and Singapore Press Holdings Ltd.

Mr Mah has served the Labour Movement in various 
capacities. He worked closely with the National Transport 
Workers Union as General Manager in the former SBS, 
and was Chairman of NTUC Comfort Cooperative Limited; 
Chairman of the Productivity Board; Chairman of the 
Singapore Institute of Labour Studies (now the Ong Teng 
Cheong Labour Leadership Institute); and Chairman of the 
Singapore Labour Foundation (2002 to 2011).

His accolades include the Medal of Honour conferred 
by the National Trades Union Congress (NTUC), and the 
Alumni Award for Achievement presented by the University 
of New South Wales for his outstanding contribution to 
public service in Singapore. He has also been conferred an 
Honorary Doctor of Science degree by the University of New 
South Wales.

Mr Mah was awarded the President’s and Colombo Plan 
Scholarships to study at the University of New South Wales, 
Australia, graduating with First Class Honours in Industrial 
Engineering in 1971 and a Master of Engineering degree in 
Operations Research in 1973. He was appointed Director  
of GYPL on 30 September 2011 and re-elected  
on 30 October 2015. He is Chairman of the Nominations 
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee. 

STANLEY TAN
Chief Executive Officer

Member, Executive Committee

Stanley Tan has spent his years in business covering 
various sectors including media and publishing, property 
development and investments, as well as hotel management.

In 1978, he founded Magazines Incorporated which, under 
his leadership, became the largest media representation 
house in South East Asia and among the largest lifestyle 
magazine publishers in Singapore. Magazines Incorporated 
was later restructured into an investment unit, The Angliss 
Property Group. It incorporates media- and paper-related 
businesses, as well as industrial estates and townships in 
various parts of Australia and New Zealand. He has remained 
a Director of the company. 

Stanley was conferred an Honorary Officer to the New 
Zealand Order of Merit in 2002 and received the Singapore 
National Day Award in 2011. He was also recognised by the 
New Zealand High Commission in 2015 for his contribution 
to Singapore and New Zealand’s 50 year partnership, as  
well as New Zealand and ASEAN’s 40 year partnership. 

Stanley was appointed to the Board of GYPL on 6 February 
2007 and re-elected on 26 October 2017. He was appointed 
Chairman on 25 July 2008, as well as Executive Chairman 
and Acting Chief Executive Officer on 11 February 2009. He 
was confirmed as Chief Executive Officer on 30 September 
2011 and is currently a member of the Executive Committee.
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ANDREW TAY 
Chairman, Audit Committee
Member, Executive Committee

Andrew Tay has spent more than 20 years of his career 
in Corporate and Institutional Banking covering South East 
Asia with Bank of America, Standard Chartered Bank and 
Commerzbank AG.

Andrew was previously the Regional Head of Institutional 
Banking for South East Asia and India, covering bank and 
non-bank financial institutions for Standard Chartered Bank. 
From 2001 to 2003, he was the Executive Director of ABR 
Holdings Limited which is listed on the Singapore Exchange.

Andrew graduated with a Bachelor of Business Admin-
istration from the University of Singapore in 1978. He was 
appointed Director of GYPL on 12 December 2007 and re-
elected on 28 October 2016. He is Chairman of the Audit 
Committee and Member of the Executive Committee. 

NG TIONG GEE
Chairman, Remuneration Committee

Member, Nominations Committee
Member, Audit Committee

Ng Tiong Gee was the Senior Vice President for Technology 
of Resorts World Sentosa from 2013 to 2016. He was 
the Chief Information Officer, as well as the Chief Human 
Resource Officer of United Test and Assembly Center Ltd 
from 2008 to 2013. Prior to that, Tiong Gee was with STATS 
ChipPAC in 2001 and was its Senior Vice President of Human 
Resources and Chief Information Officer until 2008. 

Between 1988 and 1992, he held various key engineering 
positions at Digital Equipment Singapore, now part of 
Hewlett-Packard. He then went on to work at Siemens 
Microelectronics Asia Pacific Pte Ltd (now known as Infineon 
Technologies Asia Pacific) for over six years where he last 
served as Director of Information Systems and Services. 
From 1999 to 2001, he was the Chief Information Officer of 
Gateway Incorporated, heading the company’s IT activities 
in Asia Pacific.

Tiong Gee is an independent director of Y Ventures Group 
Ltd, as well as Chairman of its Nominations Committee and 
a member of its Remuneration and Audit Committees. He  
is also currently the lead independent director of Pacific 
Radiance Ltd and is Chairman of its Nominations Committee 
and a member of its Remuneration Committee. 

He graduated with a Bachelor of Mechanical Engineering 
with Honours from the National University of Singapore 
and holds a Master of Business Administration from 
Nanyang Technological University of Singapore. He has also 
attended the Advanced Management Program at Harvard  
Business School.

Tiong Gee was appointed Director of GYPL on 6 August 
2007 and re-elected on 26 October 2017. He is Chairman 
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the 
Nominations and Audit Committees.

PANG YOKE MIN 
Member, Nominations Committee
Member, Remuneration Committee
Member, Audit Committee

Pang Yoke Min is the Executive Chairman of Pacific 
Radiance Ltd, an offshore marine company involved in 
shipbuilding, ship owning and chartering for the marine, oil 
and gas industries. He is also Chairman of YM Investco Pte 
Ltd, a family investment holding company.

Previously, he was Group Managing Director of Jaya 
Holdings Ltd from 1981 to 2006. Yoke Min was appointed 
Director of GYPL on 6 February 2007 and re-elected on 30 
October 2015. He is a member of the Audit, Nominations and 
Remuneration Committees.  

LOO WEN LIEH

Loo Wen Lieh is the Group Financial Controller of Tee Yih 
Jia Group, a leading frozen foods manufacturer in Singapore 
with investments in various industries, including property, 
technology and F&B. Wen Lieh is also an alternate director of 
JB Foods Limited which is listed on the Singapore Exchange.

From December 2002 to May 2007, Wen Lieh was the 
Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary of AGVA 
Corporation Limited and Hengxin Technology Limited where 
he was responsible for their Initial Public Offering, financial, 
tax and other related matters. He was a manager with KPMG 
from July 1996 to November 2002 and left KPMG for one 
year from March 2000 to February 2001 to be the co-
founder for a technology start-up. 

Wen Lieh graduated with a Bachelor of Accountancy 
from Nanyang Technological University in 1996 and is a 
Fellow Chartered Accountant of Singapore, an ACA of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, 
and an ASEAN Chartered Professional Accountant. He was 
appointed Director of GYPL on 1 July 2018.
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MANAGEMENT 
TEAM

STANLEY TAN  
Chief Executive Officer

CHUA JOAN KEAT  
Chief Financial Officer

Stanley Tan was appointed Chief Executive Officer of 
the Group in September 2011. Under his management, 
the Company has overcome the challenges of a sunset 
industry by diversifying our portfolio and steering our 
core business to property development, investment  
and management. 

Stanley has more than three decades of real estate 
investment experience in Singapore, New Zealand and 
Australia; comprising townships, commercial, retail, hotel, 
industrial and residential developments. Some of these 
investments in New Zealand  were Centre Place (Hamilton); 
BP House (Wellington); Nestle manufacturing complex, 
State Insurance Building, Vulcan Building and CML Building 
(Auckland); as well as the development of Citylife and 
Heritage Hotels. Past investments in Singapore included 
properties around Amoy Street, Ann Siang Street, Beach 
Road and Neil Road. Stanley is also a Director of The 
Angliss Property Group which had property investments in 
Melbourne, Sydney, Brisbane and Townsville.

Chua Joan Keat was appointed Chief Financial Officer 
of the Group in January 2014 and has over 20 years of 
financial management, investment, regulatory reporting and 
technical accounting experience in Big 4 accounting firms 
and global multinational companies. 

He was previously Financial Controller of AXA Life Insurance 
Singapore and Head of Treasury & Investment Services at 
Aviva Singapore. Joan Keat graduated with a Bachelor of 
Accountancy Degree (First Class Honours) from Nanyang 
Technological University in 1996 and is a Chartered 
Accountant with the Institute of Singapore Chartered 
Accountants, a Chartered Accountant with the Chartered 
Accountants Australia and New Zealand, and a Chartered 
Financial Analyst.
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CHRISTOPHER MINTY
Project Director

Chris Minty has over 25 years of experience in New 
Zealand property development, property management and 
consultancy for a variety of stakeholders including trusts, 
listed property entities, financial institutions, corporates, 
private clients and receivers. 

His portfolio comprises significant commercial and resi-
dential developments including the Heritage Hotels 
(Auckland, Christchurch and Queenstown), The Parc 
(Auckland), Foundry (Albany), Neuhaus (Stonefields) and 
Saba on Fanshaw (Auckland). Besides his own company 
Pacific Advisory and Management, Chris previously worked 
with IronGate Property, St John Balanced Property Fund, 
Symphony Group and Chase Corporation.

Chris graduated with a Bachelor of Business Studies from 
Massy University in 1979, where he received the Top Student 
Award from Fletcher Construction Ltd.

KATHLYN TAN 
Corporate Marketing Director

Kathlyn Tan first joined the Company in June 2011 as 
Executive Assistant to the Chairman and has since worked 
in various functions across the Group including operations, 
business development, strategic planning and project 
management. 

In November 2016, she was appointed Head of Marketing 
of GYP Properties, before taking on the role of Corporate 
Marketing Director to support the Group’s transition and 
repositioning. 

Kathlyn graduated from the University of Sydney with 
a Bachelor of Economics and a Graduate Certificate in 
Strategic Public Relations. She has previously worked with 
the World Business Dialogue, Hill+Knowlton Strategies and 
GTG (formally 3M GTG). 

JAKI DWIGHT
Property Manager

Jaki Dwight has more than 15 years’ experience managing 
shopping centres and commercial properties in New 
Zealand and Australia. 

Prior to joining the Company, she was with Australian 
public listed Scentre Group (formerly Westfield Group), 
where she managed the shopping centres Shore City 
and Glenfield Mall and played a key role in securing both 
centres’ income and capital values. Jaki later went on 
to property group Vinta where she helped drive the 
remix, development and turnaround of Hunters Plaza in  
Papatoetoe, Auckland. 

Jaki brings a high level of retail experience & passion within 
this sector of the market, aligning with the Group’s strategy 
to grow and enhance our portfolio and returns.

Aaron Abercrombie has been in the civil construction 
industry for ten years. He comes from a varied background 
of commercial siteworks, earthworks, roading and sub-
divisions, and has worked on projects such as Power 
Stations in the Netherlands and tunnelling boring in  
Australia. 

Before joining GYPL, Aaron was a Quantity Surveyor for  
Hiway Stabilizers, New Zealand’s largest road construction 
and geotechnical contractors; and General Manager 
of Troydon Contractors, a civil contracting company in 
Auckland. 

AARON ABERCROMBIE
Project Manager
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The Company recognises the importance of good 
corporate governance and the offering of high standards of 
accountability to shareholders.

This statement sets out the Company’s corporate 
governance framework and practices in compliance with 
the principles and guidelines of the Code of Corporate 
Governance 2012 (the “Code”). Where there have been 
deviations from the Code, appropriate explanations are 
provided. The Company will continue to enhance its 
corporate governance practices appropriate to the conduct 
and growth of its business and to review such practices from 
time to time, to ensure compliance with the Listing Manual 
of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited  
(“SGX-ST”).

Board matters
Principle 1: The Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

The Board is entrusted with the overall management of the 
business affairs of the Company. 

The primary function of the Board is to protect and enhance 
long-term value and return for its shareholders. Besides 
carrying out its statutory responsibilities, the key roles of 
the Board are to:

(a) set the overall strategy and policies of the Group’s 
business direction, and ensures that sufficient resources 
are in place to meet its objectives;

(b) establish a framework of prudent and effective 
controls that enables risks to be assessed and managed, 
including safeguarding of shareholders’ interests and the 
Group’s assets;

(c) set the Group’s values and standards, compliance and 
accountability systems, and ensures that obligations to 
the Company’s shareholders are understood and met;

(d) Identify the key shareholder groups and recognise 
that their perceptions affect the Group’s reputation;

(e) review the Group’s financial performance and key 

operational initiatives and endorses the recommended 
framework of remuneration for the Board and key 
executives and assume responsibility for corporate 
governance; and

(f) consider sustainability issues relating to the environ-
ment and social factors as part of the strategic formulation 
of the Group.

The Board meets at least four times a year. In addition to 
scheduled Board meetings, ad hoc meetings are convened 
as and when circumstances require. To facilitate the 
Board’s decision-making process, the Company’s Articles 
of Association provides for directors to participate in 
Board meetings by telephone conference and similar 
communications equipment, and for Board resolutions to be 
passed in writing, including by electronic means. During the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018, the Board held 4 Board 
meetings excluding ad hoc meetings.

In the discharge of its functions, the Board is supported 
by four Board committees that provide independent 
oversight of management and serve to ensure that 
there are appropriate checks and balances. These 
key committees comprise the Audit Committee, the 
Nominations Committee, the Remuneration Committee 
and the Executive Committee (collectively, the “Board 
Committees”). These Board Committees function within 
written terms of reference, which are reviewed on a regular 
basis. Each Board Committee reports to the Board with their 
recommendations, however, ultimate responsibility for final 
decision on key matters lies with the Board. The effectiveness  
of each Board Committee is regularly reviewed by  
the Board.

As at 30 June 2018, the Audit Committee, the Nominations 
Committee and the Remuneration Committee are 
comprised entirely of non-executive directors. For the 
Executive Committee, other than Stanley Tan, who is the 
Chief Executive Officer, the rest of the directors are non-
executive. Further details on their composition and activities 
are provided below.

The Executive Committee was established with effect from 
September 2007 and as at 30 June 2018, its members are 
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Stanley Tan and Andrew Tay. The duties and responsibilities 
of the Executive Committee are to provide guidance to 
management on the strategic development of the Group 
and to oversee the businesses and investments of the 
Group and matters relating thereto.

The number of Board and Board committee meetings held 
during the financial year ended 30 June 2018, and the 
attendance of members at such meetings, is set out on page 
54 of the Annual Report.

The Board has put in place financial authorisation 
and approval limits for operating and capital budgets, 
procurement of goods and services, and cheque signatory 
arrangements. Approval sub-limits are also provided at 
management level to facilitate operational efficiency. 
Within these guidelines, the Board approves transactions 
above certain financial thresholds. The Board approves the 
Group’s quarterly and full-year financial results for release to 
the SGX-ST and transactions of a material nature requiring 
announcement under the listing rules of the SGX-ST. 
Directors and senior executives are briefed on the Group’s 
operations and are routinely updated on developments 
and changes in the operating environment. All directors 
objectively make decisions at all times as fiduciaries in the 
interest of the Company.

A formal letter setting out the director’s duties and 
responsibilities under the various regulations is issued 
to new directors upon their appointment. The Company 
also conducts an in-house orientation programme, 
incorporating briefings from various business and corporate 
units for new Board members to familiarise them with the 
Group’s business activities and strategies. The Company 
secretaries will also bring to the directors’ attention the 
Company’s governance practices, including policies on 
disclosure of interest in securities, prohibitions on dealing 
in the Company’s securities and restrictions on disclosure 
of price-sensitive information. All newly appointed directors 
are given briefings by the management on the history, 
business operations and corporate governance practices of 
the Group. Newly appointed directors also attend courses, 
seminars and trainings which may have a bearing on their 
duties and contributions to the Board, organised by the 

professional bodies and regulatory institutions to keep 
themselves updated on the latest developments concerning 
the Group. 

To keep pace with regulatory changes, the director’s 
own initiatives are supplemented from time to time with 
information, updates and sponsored seminars conducted by 
external professionals, including any changes in legislation 
and financial reporting standards, government policies, 
and regulations and guidelines from SGX-ST that affect the 
Company and/or the directors in discharging their duties. 
The directors are informed of developments relevant to the 
Group, including changes in laws, regulations and risks that 
may impact the Group. Directors can apply to the Company 
for funding for any such courses, conferences and seminars 
which they may apply to attend.

Directors are at liberty to request further explanations, 
briefings or informal discussions on any aspect of the 
Group’s operations or business issues from management.

Principle 2: Board Composition and Guidance

The directors of the Company as at the date of this Annual 
Report are:

Mah Bow Tan  
(Non-Executive Chairman & Independent Director) 
Stanley Tan Poh Leng  
(Chief Executive Officer & Executive Director) 
Ng Tiong Gee  
(Non-Executive & Independent Director) 
Pang Yoke Min  
(Non-Executive & Non-Independent Director) 
Andrew Tay Gim Chuan 
(Non-Executive & Independent Director) 
Loo Wen Lieh  
(Non-executive & Non-Independent Director)

The Board has adopted the definition in the Code of what 
constitutes an independent director in its review of the 
independence of each director.
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Mah Bow Tan, Ng Tiong Gee and Andrew Tay are considered 
to be independent for the purposes of the Code. The Board 
has noted that Andrew is part of the Executive Committee 
and taking into consideration amongst other things, 
the instances of constructive challenge and probing of 
management by Andrew in meetings such as at Board  
meetings and the exercise of independent judgement in 
discharging his duties in the best interests of the Company, 
the Board is of the view that Andrew should continue to be  
deemed independent.

Both Tiong Gee and Andrew have served on the Board 
for more than nine (9) years from the date of their first 
appointment on 6 August 2007 and 12 December 2007 
respectively. The Board has subjected their independence 
to a particularly rigorous review. 

Taking into account the views of the Nominations 
Committee, the Board concurs that Tiong Gee and Andrew 
continue to demonstrate strong independence in character 
and judgement in the discharge of their responsibilities as 
directors of the Company. They have continued to express 
their individual viewpoints, debated issues and objectively 
scrutinised and challenged management. After taking into 
account these factors, the Board has determined that Tiong 
Gee and Andrew continue to be considered Independent 
Directors, notwithstanding the duration they have served on 
the Board. 

The Board size and composition are reviewed from time-to-
time by the Nominations Committee, with a view to ensuring 
that the Board is of an appropriate size that is conducive 
for effective decision-making, has an appropriate balance 
of independent directors, and comprise directors with the 
right skills and expertise to meet the industry and business 
needs of the Company, taking into account the scope and 
nature of the operations of the company, the requirements 
of the business and the need to avoid undue disruptions 
from changes to the composition of the Board and Board 
Committees. The Board’s decision-making process is not 
dominated by any individual or small group of individuals.

The Board’s policy in identifying director nominees is  
primarily to have an appropriate mix of members with 
complementary skills, core competencies and experience 

for the Group, regardless of gender.

The Board comprises persons who, as a group, provide the 
necessary core competencies, and includes experienced 
professionals with management, information technology, 
financial, banking, government, property, hotel, publishing 
and print media backgrounds. This enables management 
to benefit from their external and objective perspective of 
issues that are brought before the Board.

Where necessary or appropriate, the non-executive 
directors on the Board will meet without the presence of 
the management. The non-executive directors also help 
to develop proposals on strategy, actively participate in 
discussions and decision-making at Board and Board 
Committee levels, as well as in open and candid discussions 
with management. The non-executive directors review 
the performance of management in meeting agreed goals  
and objectives.

Information on the Board members is provided under the 
section “Board of Directors” in the Annual Report.

Principle 3: Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer

The roles of the Chairman and the CEO of the Company are 
kept separate to ensure an appropriate balance of power, 
increased accountability and greater capacity of the Board 
for independent decision making. 

The Chairman, Mah Bow Tan, is a non-executive and 
independent director and is responsible for leading the 
Board. He sets the agenda for Board meetings, ensures 
that adequate time is available for discussion for all agenda 
items, in particular, strategic issues, and that complete, 
adequate and timely information is made available to the 
Board. He encourages constructive relations within the 
Board and between the Board and management, facilitates 
the effective contribution of non-executive directors, and 
ensures effective communication with shareholders. He 
takes a lead role in promoting high standards of corporate 
governance, with the full support of the directors, the 

company secretary and management. 

The CEO, Stanley Tan, bears executive responsibility for the 
Group’s business direction and operational decisions of  
the Group.

The Group has not appointed a lead independent director 
considering the Group’s current business operations 
and the Board size of only six members with three being 
independent directors. The Chairman is a non-executive, 
independent director and is not related to the CEO. The 
Group’s independent directors confer amongst themselves 
when necessary, without the presence of the other directors, 
and the independent directors will provide feedback to the 
Chairman after such meetings as appropriate. In addition, 
independent directors also meet regularly and on ad hoc 
basis with the CEO and senior management team as well as 
other Non-Executive Directors to discuss challenges facing 
the Group.

Principle 4: Board Membership

The Nominations Committee makes recommendations to 
the Board on all Board appointments. As at 30 June 2018,  
the Nominations Committee was chaired by Mah Bow 
Tan and its other members were Pang Yoke Min and Ng 
Tiong Gee. Bow Tan and Tiong Gee are non-executive and 
independent directors and Yoke Min is a non-executive and 
non-independent director. The Nominations Committee is 
guided by its Board-approved written terms of reference, 
and serves to ensure a formal and transparent process for 
the nomination of directors to the Board.

The Nominations Committee may identify candidates 
for appointment as new directors through the business 
network of Board members or engage external independent 
professional advisors to assist in the search for suitable 
candidates. The Nominations Committee will generally 
identify suitable candidates skilled in core competencies 
such as strategic planning, accounting or finance, business 
or management expertise, industry knowledge and 
customer-based experience.

If the Nominations Committee decides that the candidate 
is suitable, the Nominations Committee then recommends 
its choice to the Board of Directors. Meetings with such 
candidates may be arranged to facilitate open discussion. 
Upon appointment, arrangements will be made for the  
new director to attend various briefings with the  
management team.

The Nominations Committee is charged with determining 
annually whether or not a director is independent, bearing in 
mind the circumstances set forth in the Code and any other 
salient factors. The Nominations Committee is also charged 
with the responsibility of re-nomination having regard to the 
director’s contribution and performance (e.g., attendance, 
preparedness, participation and candour). The Nominations 
Committee determines if directors who hold multiple board 
representations give sufficient time and attention to the 
affairs of the Group.

At present, the Board does not intend to set a maximum 
number of listed company board representations a director 
may hold as it is of the view that the effectiveness of a director 
should be evaluated by a qualitative assessment of his 
contributions to the Company’s affairs taking into account 
his other commitments including his directorships in other 
listed companies. The Nominations Committee considers 
that the multiple board representations held presently by 
some directors do not impede their respective performance 
in carrying out their duties to the Company.

Currently, the Company does not have any alternate director. 

At each Annual General Meeting of the Company, not less 
than one-third of the directors for the time being (being 
those who have been longest in office since their last 
appointment or re-election), and a director who, if he did 
not retire at that Annual General Meeting, would at the next 
Annual General Meeting have held office for more than 
three years, are required to retire from office by rotation. A 
retiring director is eligible for re-election by shareholders at 
the Annual General Meeting. In addition, all newly-appointed 
directors will hold office only until the next Annual General 
Meeting and will be eligible for re-election.
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Principle 5: Board Performance

The Nominations Committee acknowledges the importance 
of a formal assessment of Board performance and gives 
careful consideration to the establishment of objective 
performance criteria by which the Board’s performance may 
be evaluated. A formal assessment process is in place to 
assess the effectiveness of the Board’s performance and 
individual director’s contribution annually. The evaluation 
of the individual director’s contribution is conducted by a 
questionnaire to be completed by each individual director. 
The findings are then collated and analysed, and thereafter 
presented to the Nominations Committee, which will, in 
consultation with the Chairman, take appropriate actions 
to address the findings of the performance assessment. 
To-date, the Nominations Committee does not require 
the assistance of an external facilitator in relation to 
the assessment process. The Nominations Committee 
has considered and assessed the performance and 
contributions of all of the Board members, taking into 
account their attendance, and participation at Board 
meetings and their time and efforts devoted to the business 
and affairs of the Company and the Group.

Principle 6: Access to Information

Directors have separate and independent access to 
management and the company secretaries. The Board is 
provided with relevant information and comprehensive 
analysis by management pertaining to matters to be brought 
before the Board for discussion and decision. Management 
also provides regular reports on the Group’s financial 
performance and operations to the Board. Board papers 
are sent to all directors in advance of the Board meeting. 
Senior managers who have prepared the papers, or who can 
provide additional insight on the matters to be discussed, 
are normally invited to present the paper or attend the Board 
meeting. The company secretaries attend Board meetings 
and are responsible for, amongst other things, ensuring that 
Board procedures are observed and that applicable rules 
and regulations are complied with. The appointment and the 
removal of the company secretaries is deliberated on by the 
Board as a whole.

Where necessary, the Company will, upon the request of 
directors (whether as a group or individually), provide them 
with independent professional advice, at the Company’s 
expense, to enable them to discharge their duties.

Remuneration matters
Principle 7: Procedures for Developing 
Remuneration Policies

Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration

Principle 9: Disclosure of Remuneration

Remuneration Committee

As at 30 June 2018, the Remuneration Committee was 
chaired by Ng Tiong Gee and its other members were Mah 
Bow Tan and Pang Yoke Min. Tiong Gee and Bow Tan are 
non-executive and independent directors. Yoke Min is a non-
executive and non-independent director. The Chairman of 
the Remuneration Committee, Tiong Gee, is an independent 
director and has, in the case of an equality of votes, a second 
or casting vote in respect of decision to be made by the 
Renumeration Committee. The Remuneration Committee 
has access to expert professional advice on executive 
compensation matters whenever there is a need to consult 
externally. The Remuneration Committee is guided by its 
Board-approved written terms of reference.

The Remuneration Committee recommends to the 
Board a framework of remuneration for the Board and key 
executives, including termination clauses, and determines 
the specific remuneration package for the Chief Executive 
Officer. The Remuneration Committee’s recommendations 
are submitted for endorsement by the entire Board. No 
director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.
The Remuneration Committee covers all aspects of 
remuneration, including but not limited to directors’ fees, 
salaries, allowances, bonuses, options and benefits in kind.
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Remuneration Policy

The Company adopts an overall remuneration policy for 
staff comprising a fixed component in the form of a base 
salary. The variable component is in the form of a bonus that 
is linked to the Company’s and the individual’s performance.

In determining the remuneration for the Chief Executive 
Officer and key executives, the Remuneration Committee 
takes into account the following principles:

(1) the remuneration should motivate the executives to 
achieve the Company’s performance targets;

(2) the performance-related elements of remuneration 
should form a significant part of their total remuneration 
package;

(3) the interests of the executives should be aligned with 
shareholders; and

(4) the remuneration should be directly linked to the 
performance of the Group and individual performance.

The executive director and key management personnel are 
moderately compensated, the Remuneration Committee is 
of the view that there is no requirement to have any long-
term incentive scheme or schemes involving the offer 
of shares or grants of options or other forms of deferred 
remuneration at this time. As such, there is no mechanism to 
reclaim incentives for such schemes. 

The non-executive directors’ fees are set in accordance 
with a remuneration framework comprising basic retainer 
fees for each non-executive director, additional fees for 
the appointments to the various committees established 
by the Board and attendance fees for attendance at Board 
and Board committee meetings. Factors such as effort and 
time spent, and responsibilities of the directors, are taken 
into account. Directors’ fees are subject to the approval of 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. The Group 
currently does not have any scheme to encourage non-
executive directors to hold shares in the Group.

The Code recommends full disclosure of the remuneration 
of the Company’s directors and top key executives in the 

Group. The Board has considered this matter carefully 
and has decided against disclosure in dollar terms. Given 
the highly competitive and niche industry that the Group 
operates in, it is felt that the disadvantages will outweigh the 
benefits.
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Remuneration Band And 
Name of Director

Fixed 
Component(1)

Variable 
Component(2) Benefits Fees(3)

Total 
Compensation

% % % % %

S$500,000 to below 
S$750,000

Stanley Tan Poh Leng 86.1% 7.1% – 6.8% 100.0%

Below S$250,000

Mah Bow Tan 0.0% – – 100.0% 100.0%

Andrew Tay Gim Chuan 0.0% – – 100.0% 100.0%

Ng Tiong Gee 0.0% – – 100.0% 100.0%

Pang Yoke Min 0.0% – – 100.0% 100.0%

Remuneration Band and 
Name of Key Executive

S$250,000 to below 
S$500,000

Chua Joan Keat 92.2% 7.8% – – 100.0%

Below S$250,000

Kathlyn Tan Jiling 92.4% 7.6% – – 100.0%

Jaki Dwight(4) 100.0% – – – 100.0%

(1) Fixed Component refers to base salary earned, annual wages supplement and transport allowance, if applicable, for the financial year ended 30 June 2018. 
(2) Variable Component refers to variable bonus paid or accrued relating to performance for the financial year ended 30 June 2018. 
(3) Fees include director’s fees and professional fees for consultancy services provided. 
(4) Jaki Dwight joined the Group on 22 January 2018.  

The breakdown of the remuneration of directors and key executives (who are not directors) who are still in office as at 30 June 
2018 is as follows:

As disclosed above, the annual remuneration of Kathlyn Tan 
Jiling, who is the daughter of Stanley Tan, CEO and Executive 
Director, was within S$150,000 to S$200,000 band. Not 
included in the above list of key executives is the annual 
remuneration of Terry Pang Wei Sen, son of Pang Yoke Min, 
Director, which is below S$50,000 and he left the Group on 
31 August 2017. 

The total remuneration paid to the top five key executives 
(who are not directors) for the financial year ended 30 June 
2018 was approximately S$571,000.

The Company does not have any employee share/stock 
options scheme or any other long-term incentive scheme 
during the financial year ended 30 June 2018. The Company 
has been considering long-term incentive schemes for 
directors and key management personnel taking into 
account various factors but has yet to find a suitable model. 
The Company will continue to look into the matter. 

Accountability and audit
Principle 10: Accountability

Principle 11: Risk Management and  
Internal Controls

Principle 12: Audit Committee

Accountability

The Board has overall responsibility to shareholders for 
ensuring that the Group is well managed and guided by its 
strategic objectives. In presenting the Group’s quarterly and 
annual financial statements to shareholders, the Board aims 
to provide a balanced and understandable assessment of 
the Group’s performance, position and prospects. 

In line with the rules of the SGX-ST Listing Manual, the 
Board provides a negative assurance statement to the 
shareholders in respect of the interim financial statements. 
The Company had pursuant to Listing Rule 720(1), received 
undertakings from all its Directors and executive officers in 
the form set out at Appendix 7.7 of the Listing Manual, inter 

alia, that they each shall, in the exercise of their powers 
and duties as directors and officers (as the case may be) 
comply to the best of their abilities with the provisions of the 
Exchange’s listing rules, the Securities and Futures Act, the 
Code on Takeovers & Mergers, and the Companies Act and 
will also procure the Company to do so.

Management provides all members of the Board with 
accounts and reports on the Group’s financial performance 
and position on a quarterly basis. Although management 
does not provide reports on a monthly basis, all directors 
nevertheless have unrestricted access to the Group’s 
records and information through requests for further 
explanations, briefings and informal discussions on the 
Group’s operations or business issues from management.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The directors recognise that they have overall responsibility 
to ensure proper financial reporting for the Group and 
effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls, 
including financial, operational, compliance and IT controls, 
and risk management policies and systems. The Audit 
Committee assists the Board in providing oversight of 
risk management in the Company. It is responsible for 
reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s 
risk management systems and internal controls, including 
financial, operational, compliance and IT controls and 
reporting to the Board annually its observations on any 
matters under its purview including risk management, 
internal controls or financial and management matters as it 
considers necessary and makes recommendations to the 
Board as it thinks fit. 

The Company has in place an Enterprise Risk Management 
Framework. The implementation and maintenance of the 
Company’s risk management framework is undertaken 
by the senior management team, which reports to the 
Audit Committee on strategic business risks as well as 
providing updates on the risk management activities 
of the Company’s businesses and the Enterprise Risk 
Management implementation progress in the Company.  
Significant strategic risks identified are assessed, managed 
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and monitored adequately within the Company’s risk 
management framework. These strategic risks are also 
reviewed and refreshed to ensure relevant emerging risks 
are being considered and included for proper assessment, 
monitoring and reporting as appropriate.

The Group continually reviews and improves its business and 
operational activities to identify areas of significant business 
risk as well as taking appropriate measures to control and 
mitigate these risks. These include the implementation of 
safety, security and internal control measures and taking 
up appropriate insurance coverage. The Group’s financial 
risk management programme seeks to minimise potential 
adverse effects of the unpredictability of financial markets 
on the Group’s financial performance. The financial risk 
management policies are outlined in Note 38 of the Notes to 
the Financial Statements.

Key internal controls of the Group include:

• Establishment of policies and approval limits for key 
financial and operational matters, and rules relating to the 
delegation of authorities;

• Documentation of key processes and procedures;
• Segregation of incompatible functions which give rise to a 

risk of errors or irregularities not being promptly detected;
• Safeguarding of assets;
• Maintenance of proper accounting records;
• Ensuring reliability of financial information;
• Ensuring compliance with appropriate  

legislation and regulations; and
• Having qualified and experienced persons take charge of 

important functions.
The Audit Committee ensures that a review of the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls is 
conducted at least annually. The Audit Committee has met 
with the internal auditors without management during the 
year.

The Board is not aware of any material inadequacy in the 
overall internal controls and processes currently in place.

The Board has received assurance from the Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer:

1) that the financial records have been properly maintained 
and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
Company’s operations and finances; and

2) the effectiveness of the Company’s risk  management 
and internal control systems. 

Based on the work performed by the Internal Auditors during 
the current financial period, as well as the statutory audit by 
the external auditors, and the assurance from management, 
the Board, with the concurrence of the Audit Committee, is 
of the opinion that the system of internal controls and risk 
management in place as at 30 June 2018 is adequate and 
effective to address the financial, operational, compliance 
and information technology risks within the current scope 
of the Group’s business operations. The system of internal 
controls and risk management established by the Group 
provides reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the 
Group will not be adversely affected by any event that can 
be reasonably foreseen as it strives to achieve its business 
objectives. However, the Board also notes that no system 
of internal controls and risk management can provide  
absolute assurance against the occurrence of material  
errors, poor judgment in decision making, human errors, 
losses, fraud or other irregularities.

Audit Committee 

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Audit Committee 
members comprises Andrew Tay Gim Chuan (Chairman), 
Ng Tiong Gee and Pang Yoke Min. Andrew and Tiong Gee  
are independent non-executive directors and Yoke Min is 
a non-independent and non-executive director. At least 
two members of the Audit Committee have accounting 
or financial management expertise and related financial 
experience. The Audit Committee’s scope of authority is 
formalised in its approved terms of reference, which include 
the statutory functions of an audit committee as prescribed 
under the Companies Act, Chapter 50, the Code and Chapter 
9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.

The Audit Committee has authority to perform the functions 
and to investigate any matter specified within its terms 

of reference, and has full access to and co-operation of 
management, and full discretion to invite any executive 
director or executive officer to attend its meetings. 
Reasonable resources have been made available to the 
Audit Committee to enable it to discharge its duties.

The activities of the Audit Committee include the following:

• To review significant financial reporting issues and 
judgments so as to ensure the integrity of the financial 
statements of the Company and the Group and any 
formal announcements relating to the Company’s and the 
Group’s financial performance;

• To review the balance sheet and statement of changes 
in equity of the Company and consolidated financial 
statements of the Group for the quarterly and full-year 
results prior to their submission to the Board;

• To make recommendations to the Board on the 
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external 
auditors, and approving the remuneration and terms of 
engagement of the external auditors;

• To review with external auditors their (i) annual audit plan, 
findings, and recommendations to management as well as 
management’s response and (ii) audit report;

• To review the assistance given by management to the 
external auditors;

• The Audit Committee and the external auditors review  
areas of identified risks and where critical accounting 
estimates, assumptions and judgments are made, which 
include the review of impairment of intangible assets with 
indefinite useful life, valuation of investment properties, 
valuation of available-for-sale financial assets and going 
concern assumption of the Group and Company;

• To review interested person transactions and conflict of 
interest situations that may arise within the Group;

• To review the adequacy of the Group’s internal financial 
controls, operational and compliance controls, and risk 
management policies and systems (collectively referred 
to as “internal controls”); and 

• To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s 
internal auditors, including the adequacy of internal audit 
resources and their evaluation of the overall risk profile 
and internal controls systems as well as the scope and 
results of the internal audit procedures.

In the event the Audit Committee becomes aware of a 
suspected fraud or irregularity which has or is likely to have 
a material impact on the financial results of the Group, it will 
commission an investigation into the matter and review and  
report the findings of the investigation to the Board  
of Directors.

The details of the aggregate amount of fees paid to external 
auditors and the breakdown of fees payable in respect of 
audit and non-audit services can be found under Additional 
Information on part (b) on page 145.

The Audit Committee has undertaken a review of all non-
audit services provided by the external auditors during the 
current financial period and reviewed the independence 
and objectivity of the external auditors, and after having 
been satisfied with its standard of audit, independence and 
objectivity recommends to the Board the re-appointment of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors for the financial 
year ending 30 June 2019. The independence of the external 
auditors is reviewed annually. The Audit Committee has 
met with the external auditors without management during  
the year.

In appointing the audit firm for the Company, the Company 
has complied with Rules 712, 715 and 716 of the Listing 
Manual of the SGX-ST.

The Audit Committee keeps abreast of changes to 
accounting standards and issues which have a direct impact 
on financial statements through the reports presented 
by the external auditors on the scope and results of the 
external audit, and through their discussions with the 
external auditors.

Management has put in place, and the Audit Committee 
has endorsed, arrangements by which employees of the 
Group may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible 
improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other 
matters. 

The objective for such arrangements is to ensure inde-
pendent investigation of such matters and for appropriate 
follow-up action, and to encourage the reporting of such 
matters, in good faith, with the confidence that employees 
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maintaining a system of internal control processes to 

safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Group’s 
business and assets. The effectiveness of the internal 
financial control systems and procedures is monitored by 
the Audit Committee. The internal auditors have unrestricted 
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making such reports will be treated fairly and to the extent 
possible, protected from reprisal.

No former partner or director of the Company’s existing 
auditing firm or auditing corporation is a member of the 
Audit Committee.

1. The AC has discussed significant financial reporting 
matters with management and the external auditors which 
have been included as key audit matters (“KAMs”) in the 
independent auditors’ report for the financial year ended 30 
June 2018, as set out in pages 61 to 62 of this Annual Report.

Key Audit Matter How the AC Reviewed the Matter and What Decision Was Made

Net current liability 
of the Group and the 
Company

The AC reviewed the going concern assessment performed by the Management in view 
that the Group and the Company are in a net current liability position as at 30 June 2018 to 
assess whether the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate for the preparation 
of the financial statements. 
 
The AC reviewed all the relevant financial and non-financial factors set out by the 
Management, taking into consideration the cash flow projections and financing plans 
presented by the Management. Accordingly, the AC is satisfied that there are adequate  
funding in place as at 30 June 2018 to enable the Group and the Company to continue as 
a going concern. 

The external auditors have included this as a key audit matter in the auditor’s report for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2018. This is on page 61 of the annual report.

Valuation of 
investment 
properties

The AC considered the valuation approach and methodologies applied by the external 
valuer, Bayleys Valuations Limited. 

The AC also discussed the above with the external auditors and considered the work 
performed by the external auditor on their assessment of the appropriateness of the 
valuation methodologies and the reasonableness of the underlying assumptions adopted 
by the external valuer. The external auditors have included the valuation of investment 
properties as a key audit matter in the auditor’s report for the financial year ended 30 
June 2018. This is on page 62 of the annual report.

Impairment 
assessment of 
indefinite life 
intellectual property 
asset

The AC has considered the approach and methodology applied to the value-in-use (“VIU”) 
model in the impairment assessment.

The AC reviewed the reasonableness of the Management’s estimates and assumptions 
used in the VIU calculations  of the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) with the Group. The 
AC also discussed the above with the external auditors on the work performed over 
the appropriateness of the assumptions used, namely the discount rate and estimated 
terminal growth rate and was satisfied that these were appropriate. 

The impairment review remains an area of audit focus. The external auditors have included 
the impairment assessment of indefinite life intellectual property asset as a key audit 
matter in the auditor’s report for the financial year ended 30 June 2018. This is on page 
62 of the annual report.

2. 

access to all the company’s documents, records, properties 
and personnel, including access to the Audit Committee.

The Company has established its internal audit function and 
outsourced it to a reputable international accounting firm, 
Ernst & Young Advisory Pte Ltd, who is rated as generally 
conforming to the Standards for the Professional Practice 
of Internal Auditing set by The Institute of Internal Auditors, 
and staffed with professionals with relevant qualifications 
and experience. The internal audit function reports to 
the Chairman of the Audit Committee and is assisted by 
management in its detailed work. The Audit Committee 
ensures, at least annually, the adequacy of the internal audit 
function and reviews and approves the internal audit plan.

Communication with shareholders

Principle 14: Communication with 
Shareholders

Principle 15: Encouraging Greater 
Shareholder Participation

The Company communicates information to shareholders 
and the investing community through announcements 
that are released to the SGX-ST via SGXNET. Such 
announcements include the quarterly and full-year results, 
material transactions, and other developments relating 
to the Group requiring disclosure under the corporate 
disclosure policy of the SGX-ST.

All shareholders of the Company are sent a copy of the 
Annual Report and notice of the Annual General Meeting. 
The notice of Annual General Meeting, which sets out all 
items of business to be transacted at the Annual General 
Meeting, is also advertised in the newspapers. Where 
there is inadvertent disclosure made to a select group, the 
Company will make the same disclosure publicly to all others 
as promptly as possible on the Company’s website. The 
Company also maintains a website at www.gypproperties.
com where the public can access information on the Group.

The Group believes in encouraging shareholder participation 

at general meetings. Shareholders are informed of the rules 
that govern general meeting of shareholders. A shareholder 
who is entitled to attend and vote may either vote in person 
or in absentia through the appointment of one or more 
proxies (who can either be named individuals nominated by 
the shareholder to attend the meeting or the Chairman of 
the meeting as the shareholder may select). The Company’s 
Articles of Association allow a shareholder of the Company 
to appoint up to two proxies to attend and vote in place of 
the shareholder. The Company’s Articles of Association 
have not yet been amended to allow for other absentia 
voting methods such as by mail, electronic mail, fax and/or 
other methods. Such amendments may be proposed if the 
necessary security and other measures that can protect 
against errors, fraud and other irregularities that could arise 
from such absentia voting methods become available on 
a cost-effective basis, and the Board views that this is of 
sufficient interest to the Company’s shareholders.

The Board noted that with the Companies (Amendment) Act 
2014, with effect from 3 January 2016, a member who is a 
relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two (2) 
proxies to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting, 
but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights 
attached to a different share or shares held by such member. 
Where such member appoints more than two (2) proxies, the 
number and class of shares in relation to which each proxy 
has been appointed shall be specified in the instrument 
appointing a proxy or proxies. “Relevant intermediary” has 
the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Companies 
Act. At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, a member 
who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint more 
than two (2) proxies to attend and vote at the Annual General 
Meeting.

Resolutions to be passed at Annual General Meetings 
are always separate and distinct in terms of issue so that 
shareholders are better able to exercise their right to approve 
or deny the issue or motion. A balanced assessment of the 
relevant issues is provided or explained to shareholders, 
if necessary, to enable them to make informed judgments 
about the resolutions.

The Company’s main forum for dialogue with shareholders 
takes place at its Annual General Meeting, where the 
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Members Board
Audit  
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Nominations 
Committee

Held   Attendance  Held  Attendance   Held  Attendance  Held  Attendance 
Mah Bow Tan 4 4 NA NA 1 1 1 1
Stanley Tan Poh Leng 4 4 NA NA 1 1 NA NA
Ng Tiong Gee 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1
Pang Yoke Min 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1
Andrew Tay Gim Chuan 4 4 4 4 NA NA NA NA

Board and Committee Meetings held during the financial year  
ended 30 June 2018

The Executive Committee has met periodically during the financial year ended 30 June 2018.

members of the Board, senior management and the external 
auditors are in attendance. At the Annual General Meeting, 
shareholders will be given the opportunity to air their views 
and ask questions regarding the Company.

At each Annual General Meeting, the Board presents the 
progress and performance of the Group and encourages 
shareholders to participate in the question and answer 
session. The external auditors are present to address 
shareholders’ queries on the conduct of audit and the 
preparation and content of the auditors’ report.

The Chairman of each of the Audit, Nominations and 
Remuneration Committees, or members of the respective 
Committees standing in for them, are present at each 
Annual General Meeting, and other general meetings held 
by the Company, if any, to address shareholders’ queries. 
Senior management is also present at general meetings 
to respond, if necessary, to operational questions from 
shareholders that may be raised.

Minutes of general meetings which includes substantial and 
relevant comments or queries from shareholders relating to 
the agenda of the meeting, and responses from the Board 
and management, were prepared and made available to 
shareholders upon request.  

The Company does not have a fixed dividend policy at 
present. The form, frequency and amount of dividends to be 
declared each year will take into consideration the Group’s 

profit growth, cash position, positive cash flow generated 
from operations, projected capital requirements for 
business growth and other factors as the Board may deem 
appropriate. The Board would consider a dividend policy at 
an appropriate time.

The Company will put all resolutions to vote by poll at general 
meetings and the detailed results of the number of votes 
cast for and against each resolution and the respective 
percentages will be announced via SGXNET.

Dealings in securities
The Company has adopted the principles and best practices 
on dealings in securities as contained in the Listing 
Manual of the SGX-ST. Directors and staff are to refrain 
from dealing in the securities of the Company during the 
periods commencing two weeks before and up to the date 
of announcement of the Company’s quarterly results and 
one month before and up to the date of announcement of 
the Company’s full-year results, or while in possession of 
unpublished price-sensitive information. They are also 
discouraged from dealing in the Company’s securities on 
short term considerations.

Directors and staff are reminded to observe the insider 
trading laws at all times even when dealing with securities 
within permitted trading periods.

Our goal is to provide timely, accurate and 
clear information to our shareholders and the 
investing public. This is in line with our belief of 
achieving and demonstrating high standards in 
corporate governance and transparency. 

We use various platforms for dissemination of information 
to the investing public. Amongst other things, our investor 
relations policy provides that: 

• All important and relevant information are published 
immediately via the Singapore Exchange Securities 
Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) website, www.sgx.com; 

• All investors and stakeholders have opportunity to gain 
insight into the matters communicated by the Group in a 
clear and explicit manner; 

• Meetings are arranged between management and 
shareholders or analysts but such meetings will not 
release information not otherwise published or publicly 
available; and 

• Quarterly reports are published in a timely manner. 
We invite the media and the investing community as 
necessary and provide updates on our financial and 
operational performance and our future plans. 

In addition, we hold an Annual General Meeting and 
Extraordinary General Meetings as necessary, to provide all 
shareholders with opportunities for direct interaction with 
our management. 

Our annual report serves to provide shareholders with 
a deeper understanding of our business strategies and 
financial and operational performance. To ensure our 
shareholders have timely and ready access to our annual 
report, we also post it on our website. 

We are committed and will continue to engage in active 
communication with our shareholders to ensure that we act 
consistently in their best interests. 

SGX-ST Listing 
Global Yellow Pages Limited has been listed on the SGX-ST 
since 9 December 2004. More information can be found on 
the SGX-ST website www.sgx.com. 

Shareholders and analysts  
enquiries 
We value your feedback and enquiries. Please 
contact us at: 

Global Yellow Pages Limited  
1 Lorong 2 Toa Payoh,  
Yellow Pages Building,  
Singapore 319637 

Tel : (65) 6351 1000  
Fax : (65) 6354 3828  
Email : ir@gypproperties.com  
Web : www.gypproperties.com

 
Financial Calendar FY2018
2017 
26 October 2017 – 14th Annual General Meeting 
10 November 2017 – FY2018 Q1 Results Release 

2018
9 February 2018 – FY2018 Q2 Results Release 
30 April 2018 – FY2018 Q3 Results Release 
23 May 2018 – Extraordinary General Meeting 
24 August 2018 – FY2018 Full Year Results Release

INVESTOR
RELATIONS
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The directors present their statement to the members together with the audited financial statements of the Group for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 and the balance sheet of the Company as at 30 June 2018.

In the opinion of the directors,

(a) the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group as set out on pages 66 to 144 
are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and of the Group as at 30 June 2018 and 
the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the financial year covered by the consolidated 
financial statements; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they fall due.

Directors
The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are as follows:

Mah Bow Tan  
Stanley Tan Poh Leng 
Ng Tiong Gee 
Pang Yoke Min 
Andrew Tay Gim Chuan 
Loo Wen Lieh (Appointed on 1 July 2018)

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures
Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose object was 
to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the 
Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ interests in shares or debentures
(a) According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, none of the directors holding office at the end of the financial year had 
any interest in the shares or debentures of the Company or its related corporations, except as follows:

Holdings registered in name of 
director or nominee

Holdings in which a director is 
deemed to have an interest

At
30.6.2018

At 
1.7.2017

At
30.6.2018

At
1.7.2017

Company (No. of ordinary shares)

Stanley Tan Poh Leng 9,732,900 8,110,750 - -

Pang Yoke Min* 29,353,740 300,000 - 24,161,450

Ng Tiong Gee 5,250 5,250 - -
Mah Bow Tan** 24,000,000 - 600,000 500,000

Company (No. of warrants)
Stanley Tan Poh Leng 7,600,529 7,824,075 - -
Pang Yoke Min* 3,873,304 - - 3,987,225

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 30 June 2018

(b) The directors’ interests in the ordinary shares and warrants of the Company as at 21 July 2018 were the same as those as 
at 30 June 2018.

Audit Committee
The members of the Audit Committee at the end of the financial year were as follows:

Andrew Tay Gim Chuan (Chairman) 
Pang Yoke Min 
Ng Tiong Gee      

All members of the Audit Committee are non-executive directors and the majority are independent. 

The Audit Committee carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore Companies Act. In 
performing those functions, the Committee reviewed:

• the scope and the results of internal audit procedures with the internal auditor;
• the audit plan of the Company’s independent auditor and any recommendations on internal accounting controls arising from 

the statutory audit; 
• the assistance given by the Company’s management to the independent auditor; and
• the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended  

30 June 2018 before their submission to the Board of Directors. 

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that the independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, be 
nominated for re-appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Independent Auditor
The independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, has expressed its willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the directors

Andrew Tay Gim Chuan               Stanley Tan Poh Leng 
Director     Director 
 
20 September 2018

* Prior to 8 August 2017, by virtue of Section 4 of the Securities and Futures Act, Mr Pang Yoke Min (“Mr Pang”) is deemed to be interested in the 24,161,450 
shares and 3,987,225 warrants in the Company held by Southport Worldwide Offshore Limited. On 8 August 2017, 24,161,450 shares and 3,987,225 warrants 
were registered in the name of Mr Pang. 
** By virtue of Section 164 of the Companies Act, Mr Mah Bow Tan is deemed interested in the 600,000 (2017: 500,000)  shares owned by his spouse,  
Dr Sheryn Mah.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Global Yellow Pages 
Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our Opinion
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Global Yellow Pages Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”) and the balance sheet of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of 
the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”) so as to give a true and 
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at 30 June 2018 and 
of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group for the 
financial year ended on that date.

What we have audited

The financial statements of the Company and the Group comprise:

• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the financial year ended 30 June 2018;
• the consolidated balance sheet of the Group as at 30 June 2018;
• the balance sheet of the Company as at 30 June 2018;
• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the financial year ended 30 June 2018;
• the consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the financial year ended 30 June 2018; and
• the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority Code of Professional 
Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code.

Our Audit Approach
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the accompanying 
financial statements. In particular, we considered where management made subjective judgments; for example, in respect 
of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently 
uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other 
matters consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2018. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Net current liability of the Group and the Company

As at 30 June 2018, current liabilities of the Group and the 
Company exceeded its current assets by $21,822,000 and 
$11,729,000 respectively.

Management believes that the above financial indicator 
does not impede the Group’s and the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern due to the following factors:

• The Group has term loans amounting to $51,221,000 
(“PPL loans”) and $7,088,000 (“RR land loan”) from 
Westpac Bank New Zealand (“Westpac”) that will mature 
and be fully repayable on 30 September 2018 (the 
“Refinancing Plan”); and

• Based on a 12-months cash flow projection (the “Cash 
Flow Projection”), the Group and the Company will have 
sufficient cash flow to meet its operating requirements.

We focused on this area as the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern is dependent on the success of 
the Refinancing Plan and the reliability and accuracy of 
the Cash Flow Projection. Significant judgements were  
involved in assessing the likelihood of successfully 
refinancing the RR land loan, and the key assumptions used 
to develop the Cash Flow Projection (Note 2.2). Subsequent 
to the year end, management obtained extensions for the 
PPL loans and RR land loan with the bank.

The disclosures relating to these borrowings are included 
in Note 31 of the financial statements. 

The following audit procedures were performed to address 
the Refinancing Plan and the Cash Flow Projections: 

(i) The Refinancing Plan

Our audit procedures focused on the assessment of the 
refinancing of the term loans by the bank and included the 
following:

• obtained the extension letter dated 29 August 2018 for 
the extension to the PPL loans amounting to $51,221,000 
with the bank for a further term of 3 years from the date 
of the extension letter;

• obtained the extension letter dated 30 August 2018 
for the extension to the RR land loan amounting to 
$7,088,000 for a further term of 2 months from 30 
September 2018;

• understood and evaluated the key terms and conditions 
of the new loan agreements in relation to the refinancing 
of RR land loan and development loan (“RR development 
loan”) for the development of Remarkables Residences 
(Note 27);

• understood the debt covenants applicable to the terms 
and assessed the Group’s compliance with the debt 
covenants based on current available information; and

• assessed the appropriateness of the disclosures relating 
to the refinancing of the term loans.

(ii) The Cash Flow Projection

The following audit procedures were performed to assess 
the reliability and accuracy of the Cash Flow Projection:

• verified the mathematical accuracy of the calculations 
used in the Cash Flow Projection; and

• assessed the reasonableness of management’s key 
assumptions regarding projected cash inflows and 
outflows.

We have obtained satisfactory explanations from  
management to support the view that refinancing of the 
RR land loan is highly likely. In addition, we considered 
the key assumptions made by management (Note 2.2) in 
developing the Cash Flow Projection to be reasonable. 
Accordingly, no material uncertainty exists at the date 
of financial statements. The disclosures in the financial 
statements are also assessed to be appropriate.
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Impairment assessment of indefinite life intellectual property asset

The Group holds significant amount of indefinite life 
intellectual property asset on the balance sheet amounting 
to $11,863,000, or 7% of the Group’s total assets. The 
disclosures relating to this intangible asset is included in 
Note 28(b) of the financial statements. 

The impairment assessment of the indefinite life intangible 
asset is significant to our audit due to the significant 
judgement involved in establishing the reasonableness of 
the key inputs used by management in the value-in-use 
calculations of the cash-generating-unit (“CGU”). Changes 
in the key inputs can trigger potential impairment to the 
intangible assets.

The key inputs used in the value-in-use calculations are 
disclosed in Note 28(d) to the financial statements.

We evaluated the reasonableness of management’s 
estimate of the future cash flow forecasts in the value-
in-use calculations, by taking into consideration the 
CGU’s past performance. We also evaluated the process 
by which they were drawn up, including testing the  
underlying calculations. 

We involved valuation specialists to assist in the 
assessment of the weighted average discount rate  
applied by the management. There were no significant 
issues noted.

We evaluated management’s sensitivity analysis to assess 
the impact on the recoverable amount of the CGU by 
reasonable possible changes to the estimated terminal 
growth rate and the weighted average discount rate. We 
found these key inputs to be reasonable.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Valuation of investment properties

As at 30 June 2018, the carrying value of the Group’s 
investment properties is $91,368,000, accounting for 57% 
of the Group’s total assets. The disclosures relating to 
these investment properties are included in Note 26 of the 
financial statements.

The valuation of the investment properties is significant 
to our audit due to the use of assumptions to arrive at the 
estimates. Significant judgement is required to determine 
the assumptions used to determine the fair value of these 
investment properties. The key assumptions used include 
the prevailing market conditions which affect the adopted 
value per square metre, capitalisation rates, discount rates 
and terminal yield.

Our audit procedures focused on the valuation process 
and included the following:

• assessed the competency and independence of the 
professional valuers engaged by the Group;

• checked, on a sample basis, the accuracy of underlying 
lease and financial information provided by management 
to the valuers; 

• assessed the reasonableness of the adopted value per 
square metre, capitalisation rates, discount rates and 
terminal yield assumptions by benchmarking the rates 
against comparables and prior year’s inputs; and

• assessed the appropriateness of the disclosures relating 
to the valuation techniques and key inputs applied by the 
professional valuers.

We have obtained satisfactory explanations from 
management as well as the professional valuers regarding 
the basis, methods and key assumptions used to determine 
the fair values of the investment properties. Our testing 
indicated that the assumptions and judgements used 
were reasonable in the context of the Group’s portfolio 
of investment properties. The disclosures in the financial 
statements are also assessed to be appropriate.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT continued Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the sections of the annual report but 
does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is 
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the  
Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 
the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient 
to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and 
transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and  
fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
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to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether 
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within 
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary 
corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions 
of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Chua Lay See.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants 
Singapore, 20 September 2018 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT continued
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Note

For the financial year 
ended 30 June 2018 

$’000

For the financial year  
ended 30 June 2017 

$’000

Continuing operations

Revenue 4 17,787 20,570

Other income 5 2,907 3,055

Other gains 6(a) 4,738 1,020

Other losses 6(b) (2,084) (4,103)

Staff costs 7 (2,928) (3,708)

Depreciation (804) (714)

Amortisation (10) (10)

Marketing, advertising and promotion expenses (1,947) (2,678)

Professional and consultancy fees (1,835) (1,888)

Property related and maintenance expenses (3,211) (3,192)

Cost of ice-cream and related goods (2,500) (3,340)

Finance expenses 9 (3,090) (3,589)

Other expenses 8 (2,367) (1,133)

Total expenses (18,692) (20,252)

Share of results of associated companies 23 (74) -

Profit before income tax 4,582 290

Income tax expense 10(a) (1,160) (1,438)

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations 3,422 (1,148)

Discontinued operations

Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations 11 255 (502)

Total profit/(loss) 3,677 (1,650)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 30 June 2018

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Note

For the financial year 
ended 30 June 2018 

$’000

For the financial year  
ended 30 June 2017 

$’000

Other comprehensive income/(loss):

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit  
or loss: 

Currency translation differences arising from consolidation

- (Loss)/gains 34(b)(ii) (3,519) 2,117

- Reclassification 34(b)(ii) - 63

Available-for-sale financial asset

- Fair value (losses)/gains 34(b)(iii) (250) 1,730

- Reclassification 34(b)(iii) 250 (1,730)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income, net of tax (3,519) 2,180

Total comprehensive income 158 530

Profit/(loss) attributable to:

- Equity holders of the Company 3,789 (1,786)

- Non-controlling interests (112) 136

3,677 (1,650)

Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company:

- From continuing operations 3,531 (1,054)

- From discontinued operations 258 (732)

3,789 (1,786)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:

- Equity holders of the Company 270 394

- Non-controlling interests (112) 136

158 530
Basic and diluted profit/(loss) per share for profit/(loss) from 
continuing and discontinued operations attributable to equity 
holders of the Company (cents per share)
- From continuing operations 12 1.671 (0.527)

- From discontinued operations 12 0.122 (0.366)

1.793 (0.893)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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BALANCE SHEETS

Group Company

Note 2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 13 3,483 9,558 995 7,341

Restricted cash 13 84 277 - -

Trade and other receivables 14 1,722 2,050 751 903

Inventories 15 12 111 - 85

Other current assets 16 16,999 2,963 93 119

Due from an associated company 20 277 - 277 -

Development properties 27 24,750 21,964 - -

Income tax recoverable 10(c) 43 24 - -

47,370 36,947 2,116 8,448

Non-current assets

Other receivables 14 458 958 458 958

Available-for-sale financial asset 17(b) 502 675 472 675

Due from subsidiaries 18 - - 80,488 64,151

Other non-current assets 21 661 526 30 52

Investments in subsidiaries 22 - - 3,243 3,415

Investments in associated companies 23 141 110 60 1

Property, plant and equipment 25 8,291 8,937 8,229 8,837

Investment properties 26 91,368 95,064 - -

Intangible assets 28 11,879 12,020 7 139

Deferred income tax assets 10(d) 119 125 - -

113,419 118,415 92,987 78,228

Total assets 160,789 155,362 95,103 86,676

As at 30 June 2018

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Group Company

Note 2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 29 6,180 5,372 1,372 1,628

Provision 30 1,246 583 1,246 583

Advance receipts and billings 835 1,479 327 944

Due to subsidiaries 19 - - 9,161 8,589

Borrowings 31(a) 60,048 67,536 1,739 1,682

Current income tax liabilities 10(b) 883 846 - -

69,192 75,816 13,845 13,426

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables 29 711 489 248 249

Borrowings 31(b) 11,977 13,715 11,977 13,715

Deferred income tax liabilities 10(d) 2,765 2,353 89 89

15,453 16,557 12,314 14,053

Total liabilities 84,645 92,373 26,159 27,479

NET ASSETS 76,144 62,989 68,944 59,197

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share capital 32 92,702 79,705 92,702 79,705

Treasury shares 32  (960) (960) (960) (960)

Other reserves 34 (11,201) (7,608) (3,946) (3,946)

Accumulated losses 33 (4,384) (8,128) (18,852) (15,602)

Capital and reserves attributable to equity 
holders of the Company 76,157 63,009 68,944 59,197

Non-controlling interests 22(c) (13) (20) - -

Total equity 76,144 62,989 68,944 59,197

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the financial year ended 30 June 2018

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Note Share
capital

Treasury
shares

Share
option
reserve

Currency
transla-
tion
reserve

Fair value 
reserve

Capital 
reserve

Transac-
tions with 
non-
con-
trolling 
interests

Total 
other 
reserves

Accumu-
lated
losses Total

Non- 
con-
trolling 
interests

Total
equity

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2018

Beginning of financial year 79,705 (960) 57 132 - (4,003) (3,794) (7,608) (8,128) 63,009 (20) 62,989

Profit for the year - - - - - - - - 3,789 3,789 (112) 3,677

Other comprehensive income for the year - - - (3,519) - - - (3,519) - (3,519) - (3,519)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year - - - (3,519) - - - (3,519) 3,789 270 (112) 158

Issue of shares, net of expenses 32 12,997 - - - - - - - - 12,997 - 12,997

Transactions with non-controlling interest 34(b)(v) - - � - - - (119) (119) - (119) 119 -

Disposal of subsidiaries 34(b)(v) - - - - - - 45 45 (45) - - -

End of financial year 92,702 (960) 57 (3,387) - (4,003) (3,868) (11,201) (4,384) 76,157 (13) 76,144
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Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Note Share
capital

Treasury
shares

Share
option
reserve

Currency
transla-
tion
reserve

Fair value 
reserve

Capital 
reserve

Transac-
tions with 
non-
con-
trolling 
interests

Total 
other 
reserves

Accumu-
lated
losses Total

Non-  
con-
trolling 
interests

Total
equity

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2017

Beginning of financial year 74,493 (960) 57 (2,048) - (4,003) (6,224) (12,218) (4,038) 57,277 (30) 57,247

Loss for the year - - - - - - - - (1,786) (1,786) 136 (1,650)

Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 2,180 - - - 2,180 - 2,180 - 2,180

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year - - - 2,180 - - - 2,180 (1,786) 394 136 530

Issue of shares, net of expenses 32 5,212 - - - - - - - - 5,212 - 5,212

Transactions with non-controlling interest 34(b)(v) - - � - - - 126 126 - 126 (126) -

Disposal of subsidiaries 34(b)(v) - - - - - - 2,304 2,304 (2,304) - - -

End of financial year 79,705 (960) 57 132 - (4,003) (3,794) (7,608) (8,128) 63,009 (20) 62,989

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES IN EQUITY continued
For the financial year ended 30 June 2018

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.



74 75

GLOBAL YELLOW PAGES LIMITED | 2018 ANNUAL REPORT GLOBAL YELLOW PAGES LIMITED | 2018 ANNUAL REPORT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF CASH FLOWS

Note

For the 
financial 

year ended 
30 June 

2018
$’000

For the 
financial year 

ended
30 June 

2017
$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Total profit/(loss) 3,677 (1,650)

Adjustments for:

 - Income tax expense 10(a) 1,160 1,450

 - Depreciation 25 888 1,041

 - Amortisation 28 79 769

 - Dividend income (50) (35)

 - Interest income (35) (105)

 - Finance expense 9 3,090 3,589

 - Fair value (gains)/losses on investment properties 26(a) (4,542) 3,186

 - Loss/(gain) on disposal of plant and equipment 49 (680)

 - Impairment of intangible assets 28(b) - 1,235

 - Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets 250 -

 - Impairment of club membership 22 -

 - Intangible asset written off 28(e) 63 26

 - Loss on disposal of subsidiaries 6(b) - 746

 - Loss on re-measurement of retained interest on disposal  
    of subsidiaries 6(b) - 171

 - Net gain on disposal of available-for-sale financial asset 17(a) - (324)

 - Net loss on deemed disposal of an associated company 23 407 -

 - Share of results of associated companies 23 74 -

 - Unrealised currency translation gains (556) (539)

4,576 8,880

For the financial year ended 30 June 2018

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Note

For the 
financial 

year ended 
30 June 

2018
$’000

For the 
financial year 

ended
30 June 

2017
$’000

Changes in working capital, net of effects from disposal of subsidiaries:

 - Inventories 99 (22)

 - Development properties (2,448) (21,415)

 - Receivables 551 591

 - Other current assets (13,827) (1,316)

 - Advance receipts and billings (644) (518)

 - Payables 1,588 (923)

Cash used in operations (10,105) (14,723)

Income tax paid 10(b)&(c) (550) (36)

Net cash used in operating activities (10,655) (14,759)

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary, net of cash disposed of 13 - 303

Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale financial assets 17(a) - 6,704

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 25 (412) (150)

Development expenditure incurred (204) (446)

Additions to investment properties 26(a) - (13)

Purchase of intangible assets 28(e) (2) (139)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 138 680

Interest received 35 104

Dividend received from an available-for-sale financial asset 50 35

Investment in associated companies (500) -

Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities (895) 7,078

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note

For the 
financial 

year ended 
30 June 

2018
$’000

For the 
financial year 

ended
30 June 

2017
$’000

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of shares 32 13,164 5,248

Share issue expense 32 (167) (36)

Decrease in deposits pledged 186 144

Payment for loan establishment (229) -

Proceeds from borrowings - 12,632

Repayment of borrowings (3,682) (6,629)

Interest paid (3,412) (3,803)

Net cash provided by financing activities 5,860 7,556

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (5,690) (125)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year 9,558 9,292

Effects of currency translation on cash and cash equivalents (385) 391

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year 13 3,483 9,558

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

Non-cash changes

1 July
2017
$’000

Principal 
and inter-
est pay-
ments  
$’000

Interest 
expense
$’000

Interest 
capital-
ised  
in devel-
opment 
proper-
ties
$’000

Foreign 
exchange 
move-
ment
$’000

30 June 
2018
$’000

Bank borrowings (Note 31) 81,251 (3,682) - - (5,544) 72,025

Interest payables (Note 29) 47 (3,412) 3,080 338 (3) 50

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF CASH FLOWS continued
For the financial year ended 30 June 2018

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements. 

1. General information
Global Yellow Pages Limited (the “Company”) is listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) and 
incorporated and domiciled in Singapore. The address of its registered office is 1, Lorong 2 Toa Payoh, Yellow Pages Building, 
Singapore 319637.

The principal activities of the Company previously consisted of the sale of advertising space and the publication of Singapore 
telephone directories and certain overseas and industry directories, the provision of digital based information and database 
marketing. On 1 August 2017, the Company announced cessation of the publication of print directories from 1 January 2018 
and restructuring of its digital business under a licensing model with an associated company (Note 11). Subsequent to the 
restructuring, the principal activities of the Company is that of investment holding.

The principal activities of its subsidiaries, associated companies and joint venture are disclosed in Note 41.

The Search segment was discontinued during the financial year (Note 11). Accordingly, the prior period’s results were  
re-presented.

2. Significant accounting policies
2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”) under the 
historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to exercise its judgement in the process 
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions. 
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.

Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2017/2018

On 1 July 2017, the Group adopted the new or amended FRS and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are mandatory for 
application for the financial year. Changes to the Group’s accounting policies have been made as required, in accordance with 
the transitional provisions in the respective FRS and INT FRS.

The adoption of these new or amended FRS and INT FRS did not result in substantial changes to the accounting policies of the 
Group and the Company and had no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior financial years except for 
the following:

FRS 7 Statement of cash flows

The amendments to FRS 7 Statement of cash flows (Disclosure initiative) sets out required disclosures that enable users of 
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash 
flows and non-cash changes.

The Group has included the additional required disclosures in Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows to the Financial  
Statement.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 30 June 2018

 
2.2 Going concern

As at 30 June 2018, the Group and the Company are in a net current liability position of $21,822,000 (2017: $38,869,000) and 
$11,729,000 (2017: $4,978,000) respectively and in a net asset position of $76,144,000 (2017: $62,989,000) and $68,944,000 
(2017: $59,197,000).

As at the date of these financial statements, the directors are of the view that the going concern basis is appropriate for the 
preparation of financial statements of the Group and the Company for the next 12 months from the balance sheet date, on the 
basis of the following:

(i) Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the Group has successfully:

(a) Obtained the extension for PPL loans amounting to $51,221,000 on 29 August 2018 with the bank for a further 3 years 
from the date of extension letter; 

(b) Obtained the extension for RR land loan amounting to $7,088,000 on 30 August 2018 with the bank for a further 2 months 
from 30 September 2018; and

(c) Obtained additional borrowings from money market line of $5,000,000 maturing in January 2019.

(ii) The appropriateness of the going concern basis is dependent on the following key assumptions:

(a) The Group’s ability to meet the key terms and conditions of the new loan agreements in relation to the refinancing of RR 
land loan and RR development loan with the bank;

(b) The Group’s ability to roll-over the $5,000,000 money market line with the bank upon maturity;

(c) The Group’s ability to successfully obtain bank borrowing amounting to $4,338,000 from the bank within the next 12 
months from the balance sheet date. This bank borrowing will be secured on a mortgage of the land parcel in Bellfield, 
Papakura, New Zealand; and

(d) The reliability and accuracy of management’s projected cash inflows and outflows from operations of the Company and 
its subsidiaries for the next 12 months from the balance sheet date.

2.3 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and rendering of services in 
the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is presented, net of goods and services tax, rebates and discounts and 
after eliminating sales within the Group. 

The Group assess its role as an agent or principal for each transaction and in an agency arrangement the amounts collected 
on behalf of the principal are excluded from revenue. The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue and related 
cost can be reliably measured, it is probable that the collectability of the related receivables is reasonably assured and when 
the specific criteria for each of the Group’s activities are met as follows:

(a) Sale of advertising space

Revenue from the sale of advertising space in printed directories is recognised upon distribution to users as there are no 
further customer obligations to be fulfilled by the Group after distribution. All direct and incremental costs, including printing 
and publishing costs incurred in the production of printed directories are deferred and recognised as expenses in profit or 
loss upon distribution.

Revenue from the sale of advertising space on the internet directory are recognised rateably over the contracted  
advertising period.

Revenue from the sale of advertising space in magazines is recognised upon publication.

The amount of unearned income from services to be rendered in future financial periods is disclosed as advance receipts 
and billings on the balance sheet.
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2.3 Revenue recognition continued

(b) Rendering of services

Revenue earned from the provision of other advertising related services, call centre, direct marketing, information 
technology consultancy services, business solutions and related services is recognised in the period when the service is 
rendered to customers.  

(c) Sale of directories

Revenue from the sale of directories is recognised when the publications are delivered, the customer has accepted the 
publications and collectability of the related receivables is reasonably assured.

(d) Rental income

Rental income from operating leases (net of any incentives given to the lessees) is recognised on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term.

(e) Royalty income

Royalty income is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement, provided 
that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. 

(f)  Franchise income

Franchise income is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance to the substance of the relevant agreement, provided 
that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

(g) Initial franchise fee

The Group collects initial franchise fees when franchise agreements are signed and recognises the initial franchise fees as 
revenue when the Group has performed substantially all initial services required by the franchise agreement. Franchise fees 
collected from franchisees but not yet recognised as income are recorded as  deferred revenue in the liability section of the 
consolidated balance sheet.

(h) Marketing income

Under the franchise agreements, advertising contributions received from franchisees must be spent on advertising, 
marketing and related activities. The advertising and promotional costs are expensed in the period incurred. The revenues 
and expenses of the advertising funds are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as the Group 
has control over the fund. 

(i) Sale of ice-cream and related goods

Revenue from sale of ice-cream and related goods are recognised when the Group has transferred to the buyer the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods and it is probable that the agreed consideration will be received. 
These criteria are considered to be met when the goods are delivered to and accepted by the buyer.

( j) Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
(k) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

2.4 Group accounting

(a) Subsidiaries

(i) Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control.  The Group controls an entity 
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the entity.  Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group.  They are deconsolidated from the date on that control ceases.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between 
group entities are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but are considered an impairment indicator of the 
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with 
the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests comprise the portion of a subsidiary’s net results of operations and its net assets, which is 
attributable to the interests that are not owned directly or indirectly by the equity holders of the Company. They are shown 
separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, and balance sheet.  
Total comprehensive income/(loss) is attributed to the non-controlling interests based on their respective interests in a 
subsidiary, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

(ii) Acquisitions 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations entered into by the Group. 

The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary or business comprises the fair value of the assets 
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred also 
includes any contingent consideration arrangement and any pre-existing equity interest measured at their fair value at the 
acquisition date.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited 
exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 

On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the date  
of acquisition either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net  
identifiable assets. 

The excess of (a) the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the 
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the (b) fair values of the identifiable net 
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Please refer to Note 2.6(a) for the subsequent accounting policy on goodwill.

If those amounts are less than the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the subsidiary acquired and the measurement 
of all amounts has been reviewed, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a gain from bargain purchase.

(iii) Disposals 

When a change in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary results in a loss of control over the subsidiary, the 
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary including any goodwill are derecognised. Amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are also reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained 
earnings if required by a specific Standard. 

Any retained equity interest in the entity is remeasured at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the 
retained interest at the date when control is lost, and its fair value is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 Group accounting continued

(a) Subsidiaries continued

(iii) Disposals continued

Please refer to Note 2.7 for the accounting policy on investments in subsidiaries in the separate financial statements of 
the Company.

(b) Transactions with non-controlling interests

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control over the subsidiary are 
accounted for as transactions with equity owners of the Company. Any difference between the change in the carrying 
amounts of the non-controlling interest and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised within equity 
attributable to the equity holders of the Company.

(c) Associated companies and joint ventures

Associated companies are entities over which the Group has significant influence, but not control, generally accompanied 
by a shareholding giving rise to voting rights of 20% and above but not exceeding 50%.

Joint ventures are entities over which the Group has joint control as a result of contractual arrangements, and rights to the 
net assets of the entities.

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using 
the equity method of accounting less impairment losses, if any.

(i) Acquisitions

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures are initially recognised at cost. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured at the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date 
of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Goodwill on associated companies and joint ventures 
represents the excess of the cost of acquisition of the associated company or joint ventures over the Group’s share of the 
fair value of the identifiable net assets of the associated company or joint ventures and is included in the carrying amount 
of the investments.

(ii) Equity method of accounting

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to 
recognise Group’s share of its associated companies’ or joint ventures’ post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in 
profit or loss and its share of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee’s other comprehensive income. 
Dividends received or receivable from the associated companies or joint ventures are recognised as a reduction of the 
carrying amount of the investments. When the Group’s share of losses in an associated company or joint venture equals 
to or exceeds its interest in the associated company or joint venture, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless 
it has legal or constructive obligations to make, or has made, payments on behalf of the associated company or joint 
venture. If the associated company or joint venture subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share 
of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not recognised.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associated companies or joint ventures are eliminated to 
the extent of the Group’s interest in the associated companies or joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated 
unless the transactions provide evidence of impairment of the assets transferred. The accounting policies of associated 
companies or joint ventures are changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted 
by the Group.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
(iii) Disposals

Investments in associated companies or joint ventures are derecognised when the Group loses significant influence 
or joint control. If the retained equity interest in the former associated company or joint venture is a financial asset, the 
retained equity interest is measured at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the retained interest 
at the date when significant influence or joint control is lost, and its fair value and any proceeds on partial disposal, is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Please refer to Note 2.7 for the accounting policy on investments in associated companies and joint ventures in the 
separate financial statements of the Company.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment 

(a) Measurement 

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price and any cost that is 
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management.

 (b) Depreciation 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their depreciable amounts over their estimated useful 
lives as follows:
     Useful lives 
Leasehold property   30 years  
Office equipment and furniture  5 years 
Computer equipment   3 - 5 years 
Fittings and fixtures   5 years 
Motor vehicles    10 years 
Boats     9 years 
Renovation    9 years

The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of property, plant and equipment are reviewed, and 
adjusted as appropriate, at each balance sheet date. The effects of any revision are recognised in profit or loss when the 
changes arise.

(c) Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised is added to the carrying 
amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity 
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repair and maintenance expenses are recognised in profit or loss 
when incurred.

(d) Disposal

On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the disposal proceeds and its carrying 
amount is recognised in profit or loss within “other gains and losses”. 

2.6 Intangible assets

(a) Goodwill on acquisitions

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses represents the excess of (i) the sum of the consideration transferred, 
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest 
in the acquiree over (ii) the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired.
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2.6 Intangible assets continued

(a) Goodwill on acquisitions continued

Goodwill on subsidiaries is recognised separately as intangible assets and carried at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses. 

Goodwill on acquisitions of joint ventures and associated companies represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition 
over the Group’s share of the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired. Goodwill on associated companies and joint 
ventures is included in the carrying amount of the investments.

Gains and losses on the disposal of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies include the carrying amount of 
goodwill relating to the entity sold.

(b) Intellectual property assets

The fair value of the intellectual property assets acquired through business acquisition is separately identified and 
capitalised as intangible assets.

Intellectual property assets that have finite useful lives are carried initially at cost and subsequently carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. These costs are amortised to profit or loss using the 
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of 5 years. 

Intellectual property assets that have indefinite useful lives are not subject to amortisation but tested at least annually for 
impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

(c) Acquired computer software licences

Where computer software is not an integral part of the related hardware, it is treated as an intangible asset. Computer 
software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as part of the hardware and classified as property, plant 
and equipment (Note 2.5).

Acquired computer software licences are initially capitalised at cost which includes the purchase price (net of any discounts 
and rebates) and other directly attributed costs of preparing the asset for its intended use. Direct expenditure including 
employee costs, which enhances or extends the performance of computer software beyond its specifications and which 
can be reliably measured, is added to the original cost of the software. Costs associated with maintaining the computer 
software are recognised as an expense when incurred.

Capitalised computer software licences are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. These costs are amortised to profit or loss using the straight-line method over their estimated useful 
lives of 3 to 5 years. 

The amortisation period and amortisation method of intangible assets other than goodwill are reviewed at least at each 
balance sheet date. The effects of any revision are recognised in profit or loss when the changes arise.

2.7 Investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and joint venture

Investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and joint venture are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses 
in the Company’s balance sheet. On disposal of such investments, the difference between disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amounts of the investments are recognised in profit or loss.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
2.8 Investment properties

Investment properties include buildings that are held for long-term rental yields and/or for capital appreciation and land under 
operating leases that is held for long-term capital appreciation or for a currently indeterminate use. Investment properties 
include properties that are being constructed or developed for future use as investment properties.

Investment properties are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at fair value, determined annually by 
independent professional valuers on the highest and best use basis.  Changes in fair values are recognised in profit or loss. 

Investment properties are subject to renovations or improvements at regular intervals. The cost of major renovations and 
improvements is capitalised and the carrying amounts of the replaced components are recognised in profit or loss. The cost 
of maintenance, repairs and minor improvements is recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

On disposal of an investment property, the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised 
in profit or loss.

2.9 Development properties

Development properties refer to properties developed for sales. 

Development properties that are unsold are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less cost to complete the development and selling expenses. 

Revenue recognition on development properties for sale is recognised upon the transfer of significant risks and rewards of 
ownership to the purchasers under the completion of construction method. 

When it is probable that the total development costs will exceed the total revenue, the expected loss is recognised as  
expense immediately.

The cost of development properties for sale comprises specifically identified costs, including land, construction and related 
development costs. Interest on borrowings obtained specifically to finance the acquisition of land and construction of the 
development properties are also capitalised. 

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

(a) Goodwill 

Goodwill recognised separately as an intangible asset is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is indication 
that the goodwill may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating-units (“CGU”) 
expected to benefit from synergies arising from the business combination.

An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of a CGU, including the goodwill, exceeds the recoverable 
amount of the CGU. The recoverable amount of a CGU is the higher of the CGU’s fair value less cost to sell and value-in-use.

The total impairment loss of a CGU is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the CGU and then 
to the other assets of the CGU pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the CGU.

An impairment loss on goodwill is recognised as an expense and is not reversed in a subsequent period.

(b) Property, plant and equipment 
 Investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and joint venture 
 Intangible assets 

Property, plant and equipment, investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and joint venture and intangible assets 
with finite useful lives are tested for impairment whenever there is any objective evidence or indication that these assets 
may be impaired.  
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2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets continued

(b) Property, plant and equipment 
 Investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and joint venture 
 Intangible assets  continued

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not subject to amortisation and are tested for impairment annually and 
whenever there is indication that the assets may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and the 
value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets. If this is the case, the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the 
asset belongs. 

If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the 
asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.  

The difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is recognised as an impairment loss in profit or loss, 
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case, such impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

An impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount of an asset 
other than goodwill is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined (net of any amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised in profit or loss.

 

2.11 Financial assets

(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial 
assets. The classification depends on the nature of the asset and the purpose for which the assets were acquired. 
Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

(i) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. They are presented as current assets, except for those expected to be realised later than 12 months after 
the balance sheet date which are presented as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are presented as “cash and 
cash equivalents” (Note 13), “trade and other receivables” (Note 14), “deposits” (Note 16), “due from subsidiaries” (Note 18) 
and “due from an associated company” (Note 20) on the balance sheets.

(ii) Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of 
the other categories. They are presented as non-current assets unless the investment matures or management intends 
to dispose of the assets within 12 months after the balance sheet date.

(b) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date – the date on which the Group commits 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
to purchase or sell the asset. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been 
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. On disposal of a financial asset, 
the difference between the carrying amount and the sale proceeds is recognised in profit or loss. Any amount previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that asset is reclassified to profit or loss.

(c) Initial measurement

Loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs.

(d) Subsequent measurement

Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Dividend income on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised separately in income. Changes in the fair values 
of available-for-sale equity securities (i.e. non-monetary items) are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the fair value reserve, together with the related currency translation differences.

(e) Impairment 

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of 
financial assets is impaired and recognises an allowance for impairment when such evidence exists. 

(i) Loans and receivables

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy and default or significant 
delay in payments are objective evidence that these financial assets are impaired. 

The carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an impairment allowance account which is calculated 
as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
original effective interest rate. When the asset becomes uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised against the same line item in profit or loss. 

The impairment allowance is reduced through profit or loss in a subsequent period when the amount of impairment loss 
decreases and the related decrease can be objectively measured. The carrying amount of the asset previously impaired 
is increased to the extent that the new carrying amount does not exceed the amortised cost had no impairment been 
recognised in prior periods.

(ii) Available-for-sale financial assets 

In addition to the objective evidence of impairment described in Note 2.11(e)(i), a significant or prolonged decline in the fair 
value of an equity security below its cost is considered as an indicator that the available-for-sale financial asset is impaired. 

If any evidence of impairment exists, the cumulative loss that was previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. The cumulative loss is measured as the difference between the acquisition 
cost (net of any principal repayments and amortisation) and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously 
recognised as an expense. The impairment losses recognised as an expense on equity securities are not reversed through 
profit or loss in the subsequent period.

2.12 Borrowings 

Borrowings are presented as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 
months after the balance sheet date, in which case they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value (net of transaction costs) and subsequently carried at amortised cost. Any 
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the 
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.
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2.13 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year 
which are unpaid. They are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating 
cycle of the business if longer).  Otherwise, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently carried at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest method.

2.14 Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities

The fair values of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as exchange-traded and over-the-counter securities and 
derivatives) are based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted market prices used for financial assets 
are the current bid prices; the appropriate quoted market prices used for financial liabilities are the current asking prices. 

The carrying amounts of current financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost approximate their fair values.  

2.15 Leases

(a) When the Group is the lessee – Operating leases

The Group leases certain computer, office equipment and office space under operating leases from non-related parties.

Leases where substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership are retained by the lessors are classified as 
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessors) are recognised 
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

(b) When the Group is the lessor – Operating leases

The Group leases investment properties and excess office space that it owns under operating leases to non-related parties. 

Leases of investment properties and property, plant and equipment where the Group retains substantially all risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership are classified as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases (net of any 
incentives given to lessees) is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Initial direct costs incurred by the Group in negotiating and arranging operating leases are added to the carrying amount of 
the leased assets and recognised as an expense in profit or loss over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income.

Contingent rents are recognised as an income in profit or loss when earned.

2.16 Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost, and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted average cost basis. 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
2.17 Income taxes

Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the tax 
authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts in the financial statements except when the deferred income tax arises from the initial recognition of 
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and affects neither accounting nor taxable 
profit or loss at the time of the transaction.

A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associated 
companies and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is measured:

(i) at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income 
tax liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet 
date; and

(ii) based on the tax consequence that will follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the balance sheet date, to 
recover or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities except for investment properties.  Investment properties 
measured at fair value is presumed to be recovered entirely through sale.

Current and deferred income taxes are recognised as income or expense in profit or loss, except to the extent that the tax 
arises from a business combination or a transaction which is recognised directly in equity. Deferred tax arising from a business 
combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition.

The Group accounts for investment tax credits (for example, productivity and innovative credit) similar to accounting for other 
tax credits where deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit will be available against which the unused tax credit can be utilised.

2.18 Provisions

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been 
reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. 

2.19 Employee compensation

Employee benefits are recognised as an expense, unless the cost qualifies to be capitalised as an asset.

(a) Defined contribution plans 

Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed contributions into 
separate entities such as the Central Provident Fund on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no 
further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid.

(b) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the  
estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.
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2. Significant accounting policies continued

2.19 Employee compensation continued

(c) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are those benefits which are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement 
date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises 
termination benefits when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits.

2.20 Currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). The financial statements are presented in 
Singapore Dollar, which is the functional currency of the Company. 

(b) Transactions and balances

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into the functional currency 
using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Currency exchange differences resulting from the settlement 
of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the 
closing rates at the balance sheet date are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the date when 
the fair values are determined.

(c) Translation of Group entities’ financial statements

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) 
that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as 
follows:

(i)  Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing exchange rates at the reporting date; 

(ii) Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates (unless the average is not a reasonable approximation 
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated 
using the exchange rate at the dates of the transactions); and

(iii) All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the currency 
translation reserve.  These currency translation differences are reclassified to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal 
of the entity giving rise to such reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations are treated as assets and liabilities of 
the foreign operations and translated at the closing rate at the balance sheet date.  

2.21 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the executive committee 
whose members are responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
2.22 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on 
hand and deposits with financial institutions which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. For cash subjected to 
restriction, assessment is made on the economic substance of the restriction and whether they meet the definition of cash 
and cash equivalents.

2.23 Share capital and treasury shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new ordinary shares are 
deducted against the share capital account.

When any entity within the Group purchases the Company’s ordinary shares (“treasury shares”), the carrying amount which 
includes the consideration paid and any directly attributable transaction cost is presented as a component within equity 
attributable to the Company’s equity holders, until they are cancelled, sold or reissued.

When treasury shares are subsequently cancelled, the cost of treasury shares are deducted against the share capital account 
if the shares are purchased out of capital of the Company, or against the retained profits of the Company if the shares are 
purchased out of earnings of the Company. 

When treasury shares are subsequently sold or reissued, the cost of treasury shares is reversed from the treasury share 
account and the realised gain or loss on sale or reissue, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and 
related income tax, is recognised in the capital reserve.

2.24 Dividends to Company’s shareholders

Dividends to Company’s shareholders are recognised when the dividends are approved for payment.

2.25 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method except for those costs that are directly 
attributable to the construction or development of properties. This includes those costs on borrowings acquired specifically 
for the construction or development of properties, as well as those in relation to general borrowings used to finance the 
construction or development of properties. 

The actual borrowing costs incurred during the period up to the completion of the construction or development of properties 
less any investment income on temporary investment of these borrowings, are capitalised in the cost of the property under 
development. Borrowing costs on general borrowings are capitalised by applying a capitalisation rate to construction or 
development expenditures that are financed by general borrowings.

2.26 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised as a receivable at their fair value when there is reasonable assurance that the 
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all the attached conditions.

Government grants receivable are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs 
which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government grants relating to expenses are deducted against 
the related expense.
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2. Significant accounting policies continued

2.27 Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that either has been disposed of, or that is classified as held-for-sale, and:

(a) represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations;
(b) is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; or
(c) is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

3. Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements
Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Impairment review of intangible assets with indefinite useful life

Intangible assets with indefinite useful life is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is any indication that these 
assets may be impaired.  

For purposes of impairment testing, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating-unit has been determined based on value-
in-use calculations. These calculations involved critical assumptions. Please refer to Note 28(d) for the critical assumptions 
made.

(b) Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on valuations by independent professional valuers. The fair values are 
determined using the income capitalisation, discounted cash flow and direct comparison method. In determining fair value, the 
valuer has used valuation methods which involve certain estimates. Please refer to Note 26(b) for the key inputs used. 

(c) Valuation of available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are carried at fair value. The fair values are determined using the net asset value of the 
underlying investment. Please refer to Note 17(b) for the critical assumptions and key inputs used. At each balance sheet 
date, the available-for-sale financial assets will be assessed if there is objective evidence that the financial asset is impaired. 
A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an equity security below its cost is considered as an indicator that the 
available-for-sale financial asset is impaired.  Please refer to Note 17(b) for the impairment assessment of the available-for-sale 
financial assets.

4. Revenue

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Group
For the financial 

year ended 
30 June 2018

$’000

For the financial 
year ended 

30 June 2017
$’000

Rental income from investment properties 10,345 10,396
Franchise income 2,615 3,267
Marketing income 1,077 2,124
Revenue from sale of ice-cream and related goods 3,750 4,783

17,787 20,570

5. Other income
Group

For the financial 
year ended 

30 June 2018
$’000

For the financial 
year ended 

30 June 2017
$’000

Rental income 2,504 2,650

Royalty income 237 �

Interest income 35 103

Management fees 56 107

Dividend income 50 35

Other income 25 160

2,907 3,055

6. Other gains and losses
(a) Other gains

Group
For the financial 

year ended 
30 June 2018

$’000

For the financial 
year ended 

30 June 2017
$’000

Fair value gains on investment properties [Note 26(a)] 4,542 �

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 106

Net gain on disposal of available-for-sale financial  assets [Note 17(a)] - 324

Foreign exchange gain - 483

Others 196 107

4,738 1,020

(b) Other losses

Group
For the financial 

year ended 
30 June 2018

$’000

For the financial 
year ended 

30 June 2017
$’000

Foreign exchange loss 1,391 �

Fair value losses on investment properties [Note 26(a)] - 3,186

Loss on deemed disposal of associated company (Note 23) 407 �

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets [Note 17(b)] 250 �

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 36 �

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 13) - 746

Loss on re-measurement of retained interest on disposal of  
    subsidiaries (Note 13) - 171

2,084 4,103
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8. Other expenses
Group

For the financial 
year ended 

30 June 2018
$’000

For the financial 
year ended 

30 June 2017
$’000

Allowance for impairment of trade receivables 63 71

Allowance for impairment of other receivables 927 �

Write back of impairment of trade receivables (9) (44)

Bad debt recovered (11) �

Insurance expense 247 197

Telecommunication expense 51 44

Temporary and outsourced services 45 13

Travelling expenses 456 429

Technical and licensing fees 118 �

Other expenses 480 423

2,367 1,133

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

7. Staff costs
Group

For the financial 
year ended 

30 June 2018
$’000

For the financial 
year ended 

30 June 2017
$’000

Salaries and wages 2,688 3,480
Employer's contribution to defined contribution plans including  
    Central Provident Fund 151 225

Government grants (12) �

Other benefits 101 3

2,928 3,708

9. Finance expenses

Group
For the financial 

year ended 
30 June 2018

$’000

For the financial 
year ended 

30 June 2017
$’000

Income tax expense attributable to profit/(loss) is made up of:

Profit/(loss) for the financial year
From continuing operations
Current income tax
 - Singapore - 100
 - Foreign 531 667

531 767
Deferred income tax [Note 10(d)] 863 829

1,394 1,596
From discontinued operations
Current income tax
 - Singapore - 5
 Deferred income tax [Note 10(d)] - 2

1,394 1,603
Under/(over) provision in prior financial years

From continuing operations
Current income tax 103 (116)
Deferred income tax [Note 10(d)] (337) (42)
From discontinued operations

Current income tax - 5

Deferred income tax [Note 10(d)] - �

1,160 1,450

Tax expense is attributable to:
 - Continuing operations 1,160 1,438
 - Discontinued operations (Note 11) - 12

1,160 1,450

Group
For the financial 

year ended 
30 June 2018

$’000

For the financial 
year ended 

30 June 2017
$’000

Interest expense on bank borrowings 3,418 3,843

Less: Borrowing costs capitalised in development properties [Note 27(b)] (338) (254)

3,080 3,589

Other finance charges 10 �

Finance expenses recognised in profit or loss 3,090 3,589

10. Income taxes 
(a) Income tax expense
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Group

For the financial 
year ended 

30 June 2018
$’000

For the financial 
year ended 

30 June 2017
$’000

Profit/(loss) before tax from

 - Continuing operations 4,582 290

 - Discontinued operations (Note 11) 255 (490)

4,837 (200)

Share of results of associated companies, net of tax 74 �

Profit/(loss) before tax and share of results of  associated companies 4,911 (200)

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 17% (2017: 17%) 835 (34)

Effects of:

 - Different tax rates in other countries 584 138

 - Singapore statutory stepped income exemption - (103)

 - Tax incentives 5 (75)

 - Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 277 1,675

 - Income not subject to tax (752) (260)

 - Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (3) (17)

 - Deferred tax assets not recognised 448 279

 - Over provision in prior financial years (234) (153)

Tax charge 1,160 1,450

10. Income taxes continued

(a) Income tax expense continued 

The tax on the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the Singapore standard 
rate of income tax as follows:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
(b) Movement in current income tax liabilities

(c) Movement in income tax recoverable

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Beginning of financial year 846 196 - �

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 13) - (18) - �

Income tax (paid)/refunded (531) (12) (5) �

Tax expense on profit for the current financial year [Note 10(a)] 531 772 - �

Under/(over) provision in prior financial years [Note 10(a)] 103 (111) (5) �

Currency translation differences (66) 19 - �

End of financial year 883 846 - �

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Beginning of financial year (24) � - �

Income tax paid (19) (24) - �

End of financial year (43) (24) - �

(d) Deferred income taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current income tax assets 
against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The following 
amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown on the balance sheet:

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Deferred income tax liabilities

- To be recovered within one year (468) (228) - �

- To be settled after one year 3,233 2,581 89 89

2,765 2,353 89 89

Deferred income tax assets

- To be recovered within one year (25) � - �

- To be recovered after one year (94) (125) - �

(119) (125) - �
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10. Income taxes continued

(d) Deferred income taxes continued 

The movements in the deferred income tax account are as follows:

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Beginning of financial year 2,228 1,439 89 89

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 13) - (41) - �

Tax charged to profit or loss [Note 10(a)] 526 789 - �

Currency translation differences (108) 41 - �

End of financial year 2,646 2,228 89 89

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

The movements in the deferred income tax assets and liabilities (prior to offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction) 
are as follows:

Group 
Deferred income tax liabilities

Accelerated 
tax 

depreciation
$’000

Unremitted 
foreign-
sourced 
income
$’000

Total
$’000

2018

Beginning of financial year 2,515 61 2,576

Charged to profit or loss 709 81 790

Currency translation differences (113) - (113)

End of financial year 3,111 142 3,253

2017

Beginning of financial year 1,722 � 1,722

Charged to profit or loss 792 61 853

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 13) (45) � (45)

Currency translation differences 46 � 46

End of financial year 2,515 61 2,576

Company

Deferred income tax liabilities

Deferred income tax assets

Unutilised  
tax and capital

allowances
$’000

Provisions
$’000

Total
$’000

2018

Beginning of financial year (291) (57) (348)

(Credited)/charged to profit or loss (264) - (264)

Currency translation differences 5 - 5

End of financial year (550) (57) (607)

2017

Beginning of financial year (218) (65) (283)

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 13) � 4 4

(Credited)/charged to profit or loss (68) 4 (64)

Currency translation differences (5) � (5)

End of financial year (291) (57) (348)

Accelerated tax 
depreciation

$’000

2018

Beginning and end of financial year 108

2017

Beginning and end of financial year 108

Deferred income tax assets

Provisions
$’000

2018

Beginning and end of financial year (19)

2017

Beginning and end of financial year (19)
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10. Income taxes continued

(d) Deferred income taxes continued

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses and capital allowances carried forward to the extent that realisation 
of the related tax benefits through future taxable profit is probable.

The Group has unrecognised tax losses of $4,299,000 (2017: $1,666,000) and capital allowances of $Nil (2017: 
$94,000) at the balance sheet date which can be carried forward and used to offset against future taxable income 
subject to meeting certain statutory requirements by those companies with unrecognised tax losses and capital 
allowances in their respective countries of incorporation. The tax losses and capital allowances have no expiry date. 

11. Discontinued operations
 
(a) On 1 August 2017, the Company announced the cessation of publication of print directories from 1 January 2018 and 
restructured the digital business into a licensing model with an associated company. 

Prior to the restructuring, results from publication of print directories and digital business were disclosed under the Search 
segment. Accordingly, the entire results from Search segment is presented separately on the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income as “Discontinued operations” in the current and prior year.

(b) On 31 May 2017, the Company disposed of 80% of its shareholdings in a subsidiary group, eFusion Solutions Pte Ltd 
(“eFusion”) and its subsidiaries (“eFusion Group”).

Prior to the disposal, eFusion Group is in the business of direct sales and marketing solutions and operate as a segment on 
its own (“Direct Sales segment”). Accordingly, the entire results from the Direct Sales segment is presented separately on the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as “Discontinued operations” in the prior year. 

(c) The results of the discontinued operations after intercompany eliminations are as follows:

Pursuant to the restructuring announced by the Group on 1 August 2017, recognised within expenses in the current financial 
year are termination benefits amounting to $1,072,000 paid to employees made redundant.

In the current financial year, a provision of $663,000 for the legal claims awarded by the High Court to the defendant (Note 30) 
for a legal proceeding commenced by the Group in relation to copyright infringement has been included within expenses in the 
discontinued operations. Details of the legal proceeding has been included in Note 30. 

Group
For the financial 

year ended 
30 June 2018

$’000

For the financial 
year ended 

30 June 2017
$’000

Revenue 3,115 12,268

Expenses (2,860) (12,758)

Profit/(loss) before tax from discontinued operations 255 (490)

Income tax expense - (12)

Profit/(loss) after tax from discontinued operations 255 (502)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
In the previous financial year, included within the expenses is an impairment charge of $1,235,000 on the intellectual property 
assets attributable to the Search segment following the Company’s announcement of cessation of publication of print 
directories and restructuring of the digital business.

(d) The impact of the discontinued operations on the cash flows of the Group is as follows:

Group

For the financial 
year ended 

30 June 2018
$’000

For the financial 
year ended 

30 June 2017
$’000

Operating cash (outflows)/inflows (17) 1,101

Investing cash inflows 17 465

Financing cash outflows - (1,683)

Total cash outflows - (117)

12. Earnings/(loss) per share
(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing the net profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

Group

For the financial 
year ended 

30 June 2018
$’000

For the financial 
year ended 

30 June 2017
$’000

Net profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company ($’000)

- From continuing operations 3,531 (1,054)

- From discontinued operations 258 (732)

3,789 (1,786)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for  
    calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share (‘000)

211,334 199,952

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cents per share)

- From continuing operations 1.671 (0.527)

- From discontinued operations 0.122 (0.366)

1.793 (0.893)
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12. Earnings/(loss) per share continued

(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share 

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings/(loss) per share, profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company 
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary 
shares. The Company has only one category of dilutive potential ordinary shares which is warrants.

For warrants, the weighted average number of shares on issue has been adjusted as if all dilutive warrants were exercised. 
The number of shares that could have been issued upon the exercise of all dilutive warrants less the number of shares that 
could have been issued at fair value (determined as the Company’s average share price for the financial year) for the same total 
proceeds is added to the denominator as the number of shares issued for no consideration. No adjustment is made to the net 
profit/(loss).

As at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017, the outstanding warrants are not dilutive.

Included in the bank balances above is an amount of $987,000 (2017: $256,000) relating to cash reserved for marketing specific 
pursuits, in accordance with Franchise Agreements.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

Disposal of subsidiaries

On 31 May 2017, the Company disposed of 80% of its shareholdings in eFusion Group. The remaining 20% shareholdings was 
reclassified as an available-for-sale financial asset [Note 17(b)]. Details of the consideration received and the effects of the 
disposal on the cash flows of the Group were:

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Cash at bank and on hand 3,483 9,558 995 7,341

Restricted cash-deposits pledged 84 277 - �

3,567 9,835 995 7,341

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Cash and bank balances (as above) 3,567 9,835 995 7,341

Less: Restricted cash – deposits pledged (84) (277) - �

Cash and cash equivalents per consolidated statement of cash flows 3,483 9,558 995 7,341

13. Cash and cash equivalents

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued 2017
$’000

(i) Consideration received:

Cash received 1,200

Consideration receivable (Note A) 1,500

2,700

Note A: The receivable amount of $1,500,000 is unsecured, interest-free, and repayable on a monthly basis over the next three 
years. The carrying amount of the receivable approximates its fair value.

2017
$’000

(ii) Carrying amounts of assets and liabilities disposed of:

Cash and cash equivalents 897

Trade and other receivables 1,165

Other current assets 54

Plant and equipment (Note 25) 102

Intangible assets [Note 28(e)] 188

Total assets 2,406

Trade and other payables (826)

Current income tax liabilities [Note 10(b)] (18)

Deferred income tax liabilities [Note 10(d)] (41)

Total liabilities (885)

Net assets derecognised 1,521

- Goodwill on consolidation [Note 28(a)] 2,708

Net assets disposed of 4,229
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2017
$’000

Net assets disposed of (as above) 4,229

- Reclassification of currency translation reserve [Note 34(b)(ii)] 63

4,292

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries [Note 6(b)] (746)

Loss on re-measurement of retained interest on disposal of subsidiaries [Note 6(b)] (171)

Fair value of retained interest [Note 17(b)] (675)

Consideration transferred from disposal 2,700

Less: Consideration receivable [Note 13(i)] (1,500)

Cash proceeds from disposal 1,200

Less: Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiaries disposed of (897)

Net cash inflow on disposal 303

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Current

Trade receivables - third parties 1,393 2,143 299 1,140

Less: Allowance for impairment of trade receivables (302) (958) (205) (906)

Trade receivables - net 1,091 1,185 94 234

Other receivables - third parties 645 879 671 683

Less: Allowance for impairment of other receivables (14) (14) (14) (14)

Other receivables - net 631 865 657 669

1,722 2,050 751 903

Non-current

Other receivables – third parties 458 958 458 958

14. Trade and other receivables

The carrying amount of the non-current other receivables approximates its fair value.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

13. Cash and cash equivalents continued

Disposal of subsidiaries continued 

The aggregate cash inflows arising from the disposal of eFusion were:

The aging analysis of trade receivables past due but not impaired as at the balance sheet date is as follows:

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Less than 3 months 162 290 2 83

3 to 6 months 97 119 8 117

Above 6 months 169 92 84 28

428 501 94 228

The carrying amount of trade receivables individually determined to be impaired have been fully provided for at the balance 
sheet date and the movements in allowance for impairment of trade receivables during the financial year are as follows:

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Beginning of financial year 958 1,744 906 1,698

Allowance made 113 359 50 288

Allowance written back (254) (661) (245) (617)

Allowance utilised (515) (484) (506) (463)

End of financial year 302 958 205 906

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Raw materials 12 111 - 85

15. Inventories

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Deposits 708 1,884 72 80

Prepayments 16,135 115 21 39

Other assets 156 964 - -

16,999 2,963 93 119

16. Other current assets
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17. Available-for-sale financial asset 

(a) Current

16. Other current assets continued 

In the current financial year, included within prepayments and other assets are development costs incurred for the Group’s 
development on Bellfield, Papakura land (“Bellfield”), amounting to $15,294,000 (2017: Nil) relating to prepayments and cost 
incurred for land costs, construction costs for earthworks and professional fees. The land titles for Bellfield was transferred to 
the Group subsequent to year end on 4 July 2018. 

In the previous financial year, other assets pertain mainly to receivables owing from a third party to be settled in kind with the 
Group’s purchase of ice-cream supplies. A full provision has been made for this receivables in the current financial year. 

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Beginning of financial year - 6,380 - 6,380

Fair value gains recognised in other comprehensive income [Note 34(b)(iii)] - 1,730 - 1,730

Proceeds from disposal - (6,704) - (6,704)

Loss on disposal - (1,406) - (1,406)

End of financial year - - - -

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

In the previous financial year, the investment in quoted equity securities held as available-for-sale financial asset has been fully 
disposed of by the Group and Company with proceeds from disposal of $6,704,000. Including the reclassification of fair value 
reserve to profit or loss on disposal amounting to $1,730,000 [Note 34(b)(iii)], the Group and Company recognised a net gain of 
$324,000 on disposal.

(b) Non-current
Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Beginning of financial year 675 � 675 -

Addition 30 675 30 675

Reclassification from investment in associated company (Note 23) 47 � - -

Impairment on available-for-sale financial assets [Note 6(b)] (250) � (233) -

End of financial year 502 675 472 675

Available-for-sale financial assets are analysed as follows:

(i) In the current financial year, the Group and the Company acquired a 10% interest in Page Advisor Holdings Pte Ltd 
amounting to $30,000. 

(ii) As at 30 June 2018, the Group and the Company recognised an impairment loss of $250,000 and $233,000 (2017: Nil) 
respectively in respect of the investment in available-for-sale financial assets due to significant or prolonged decline in the 
fair value below its costs.

(iii) In the previous financial year, the Group disposed of 80% of its shareholdings in eFusion (Note 13) and retained 20% of 
its interest. Following the disposal, the Group relinquished its board representation in eFusion. As a result, management 
assessed that the Group does not have significant influence over eFusion and accounted for its remaining 20% interest as 
available-for-sale financial asset. 

(c) Fair value hierarchy

The non-current available-for-sale financial assets are classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy where the inputs 
used for the fair value measurement of the non-current available-for-sale financial assets are not based on observable market 
data (unobservable inputs). The movement during the financial year is disclosed in the non-current available-for-sale financial 
assets movement table in Note 17(b). 

In 2017, the current available-for-sale financial asset was classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of 
these financial assets traded in active market is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date of the previous 
financial year. The quoted market price used for these assets is the bid price on 30 June 2017. The movement in the previous 
financial year is disclosed in the current available-for-sale financial asset movement table in Note 17(a). 

There were no transfers into or out of the fair value hierarchy levels for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017. 

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair value measurements

The following table presents the valuation technique and key input that were used to determine the fair value of the non-current 
available-for-sale financial assets categorised under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

(a) Fair value of the unquoted equity investments of the Group has been determined using the Group’s share of net asset value of the equity investments. 
Management has determined that valuation using the net asset value is appropriate as the underlying assets and liabilities of the entities relate mainly to cash 
and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables in which their carrying amount approximates their fair value. 
(b) In the previous financial year, fair value of the unquoted equity investment of the Group has been determined using the Group’s cost of investment in the equity 
investment. Management has determined that valuation using the cost of investment is appropriate as the Group made the equity investment on 31 May 2017. 
As the date of investment is close to the financial year end, management has determined that the cost of investment approximates its fair value as at year end. 

Description
Fair value at
30 June 2018
($’000)

Valuation technique Unobservable input
Range of  
unobservable 
inputs

Unquoted equity 
investments 

$502
(2017: $675)

Net asset value(a)

(2017: Cost of 
investment(b))

Net asset value 
(2017: Not 
applicable)

Not applicable
(2017: Not 
applicable)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Non-Current

Trade 118 118

Non-trade 90,180 73,319

90,298 73,437

Less: Allowance for impairment of receivables (9,810) (9,286)

80,488 64,151

Group and Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Due from an associated company (trade) 277 -

18. Due from subsidiaries

The non-trade amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand, except for $3,974,000 
(2017: $3,974,000) due from a subsidiary which is interest-bearing at a range of 4% to 10% (2017: 4% to 10%) per annum. 

In the current financial year, management has assessed that the trade and non-trade amount due from subsidiaries are 
not expected to be settled within the next twelve months. As such, the amounts are classified as non-current receivables 
accordingly.

As at 30 June 2018, the fair values of the non-current trade and non-trade amounts due from subsidiaries amounted 
to $78,905,000 (2017: $62,898,000). The fair values are computed on cash flows discounted at market bond rate of  
2.0% (2017: 2.0%). The fair values are within Level 2 of the fair values hierarchy, where the inputs used in the fair value 
measurement are inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly 
(i.e. derived from prices).

19. Due to subsidiaries
As at 30 June 2018, the current non-trade amounts due to subsidiaries are $9,161,000 (2017: $8,589,000) and are unsecured, 
interest-free and repayable on demand. 

20. Due from associated companies

The trade amounts due from an associated company is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. 

21. Other non-current assets
Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Deferred expenditure 631 474 - -

Club membership at cost 97 97 97 97

Less: Allowance for impairment loss (67) (45) (67) (45)

30 52 30 52

Other assets - 50 - 50

Less: Allowance for impairment loss - (50) - (50)

- - - -

661 526 30 52

Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Equity investments at cost

Beginning of financial year 3,415 10,314

Disposals [Note 22(a)/(b)] (172) (5,519)

Reclassification to available-for-sale financial asset  [Note 22(b)] - (1,380)

End of financial year 3,243 3,415

22. Investment in subsidiaries

Details of the subsidiaries are included in Note 41. 

(a) On 5 January 2018, the Company transferred 100% of the interest held in its wholly owned subsidiary, SG Innovation Hub 
Pte Ltd (“SGIH”) to another wholly owned subsidiary, GYP Investments Pte Ltd (“GYPI”) for a consideration of $1. Accordingly, a 
loss on disposal of investment in SGIH has been recognised in the profit or loss of the Company amounting to $172,000.

(b) On 31 May 2017, the Company disposed of 80% controlling interest in eFusion for a consideration of $2,700,000 (Note 13). 
The remaining 20% interest in eFusion has been reclassified to an available-for-sale financial asset [Note 17(b)]. 

(c) Carrying value of non-controlling interests

SRE has an amount due to the Company amounting to $7,599,000 (2017: $7,361,000) which is not probable that the 
Company will be able to recover the balance following the cessation of SRE’s operations in FY2016. This amount 
has been fully provided for. As a result, a cumulative gain amounting to $3,800,000 (2017: $3,681,000) [Note 34(b)
(v)], representing 50% of the provision made for the intercompany balance accruing to the non-controlling interest.  
 
The non-controlling interest as at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017 is not material to the Group. 

2018  
$’000

2017  
$’000

Singapore River Explorer Pte Ltd (“SRE”) (13) (20)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

(i) On 31 July 2017, the Group and the Company invested $60,000 in Yellow Pages Pte. Ltd. (“YP”) constituting 20% interest 
in YP and accounted for the investment as an investment in associated company as the Group and the Company was able to 
demonstrate significant influence over YP. The Group and the Company also entered into a licensing arrangement with YP 
for the exclusive rights to use the Internet Yellow Pages and the non-exclusive rights to the trademarks. The Group and the 
Company earns royalty income from YP which amounted to $237,000 during the year. 

(ii) On 5 January 2018, the Group invested $500,000 in FundPlaces Pte. Ltd. (“FundPlaces”) constituting 20% interest 
in FundPlaces and accounted for the investment as an investment in an associated company as the Group was able to 
demonstrate significant influence over FundPlaces.

On 11 May 2018, a new Shareholders’ Agreement was executed and the Group lost its Board representation in FundPlaces. 
Although the Group retains its 20% interest in FundPlaces, management has assessed that the Group no longer has significant 
influence over FundPlaces. Accordingly, the investment in FundPlaces has been reclassified as an available-for-sale financial 
asset. A loss on deemed disposal of an associated company amounting to $407,000 (2017: Nil) has been recognised in profit 
or loss of the Group. 

Group

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Beginning of financial year 110 110

Additions 560 -

Disposal (1) -

Share of results of associated companies (74) -

Loss on deemed disposal of an associated company [Note 6(b)] (407) -

Reclassification to available-for-sale financial asset [Note 17(b)] (47) -

End of financial year 141 110

23. Investments in associated companies 

Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Unquoted equity investments  
At cost

Beginning of financial year 6 6
Addition 60 -
Disposal (6) -
End of financial year 60 6

Accumulated impairment loss
Beginning of financial year (5) (5)
Disposal 5 -
End of financial year - (5)

60 1

Details of the associated companies are included in Note 41. 

The Group’s investment in the associated companies as at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017 is not material to the Group. There 
are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest in the associated companies.

# Amount less than $1,000

Group
2017  
$’000

Unquoted equity investment  
At cost

Beginning and end of financial year #

Accumulated impairment loss

Beginning and end of financial year (#)

-

24. Investment in joint venture

In the previous financial year, the investment in joint venture has been fully impaired. In the current financial year, the joint 
venture company has been struck off from the Register.

Details of the joint venture company are included in Note 41.

The Group’s investment in a joint venture as at 30 June 2017 was not material to the Group. There are no contingent liabilities 
relating to the Group’s interest in the joint venture. 
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25. Property, plant and equipment

Group 
2018

Leasehold
property

$’000

Office
equipment 

and furniture
$’000

Computer
equipment

$’000

Fittings
and fixtures

$’000

Motor
vehicles

$’000
Renovation

$’000
Total
$’000

Cost 

Beginning of 
financial year 18,064 670 662 736 389 48 20,569

Additions - 1 7 262 142 - 412

Disposals and 
write-offs - (8) (143) - (335) (48) (534)

Currency 
translation 
differences

- (2) (1) (1) - - (4)

End of  
financial year 18,064 661 525 997 196 - 20,443

Accumulated 
depreciation

Beginning of 
financial year 9,694 500 495 617 244 13 11,563

Depreciation 
charge 693 68 33 54 36 4 888

Disposals and 
write-offs - (4) (109) - (237) (17) (367)

Currency 
translation 
differences

- (1) - - - - (1)

End of financial 
year 10,387 563 419 671 43 - 12,083

Accumulated 
impairment

Beginning and 
end of financial 
year

- 9 42 18 - - 69

Net book value

End of financial 
year 7,677 89 64 308 153 - 8,291

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

Group 
2017

Leasehold
property

$’000

Office
equipment 

and 
furniture

$’000

Computer
equipment

$’000

Fittings
and fixtures

$’000

Motor
vehicles

$’000
Boats
$’000

Renovation
$’000

Total
$’000

Cost 

Beginning of 
financial year 18,064 684 2,866 1,165 389 7,523 882 31,573

Additions - 7 58 85 - - - 150

Disposals and 
write-offs - (1) (1,637) - - (7,523) (736) (9,897)

Disposal of 
subsidiaries 
(Note 13)

- (22) (626) (514) - - (98) (1,260)

Currency 
translation 
differences

- 2 1 - - - - 3

End of  
financial year 18,064 670 662 736 389 - 48 20,569

Accumulated 
depreciation

Beginning of 
financial year 9,001 450 2,536 980 206 2,420 416 16,009

Depreciation 
charge 693 72 155 54 38 - 29 1,041

Disposals and 
write-offs - (1) (1,637) - - (2,420) (270) (4,328)

Disposal of 
subsidiaries 
(Note 13)

- (22) (558) (417) - - (161) (1,158)

Currency 
translation 
differences

- 1 (1) - - - (1) (1)

End of financial 
year 9,694 500 495 617 244 - 13 11,563

Accumulated 
impairment

Beginning of 
financial year - 9 42 18 - 5,103 466 5,638

Disposals - - - - - (5,103) (466) (5,569)

End of financial 
year - 9 42 18 - - - 69

Net book 
value

End of 
financial year 8,370 161 125 101 145 - 35 8,937

In the previous financial year, boats and kiosks with net book value of $Nil were sold to external parties for a total cash 
consideration of $680,000.
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Company 
2018

Leasehold
property

$’000

Office
equipment

and furniture
$’000

Computer
equipment

$’000

Fittings
and fixtures

$’000

Motor
vehicles

$’000
Total
$’000

Cost 

Beginning of  
financial year 18,064 518 536 736 389 20,243

Additions - 1 1 244 142 388

Disposals and  
write-offs - - (136) - (335) (471)

End of financial year 18,064 519 401 980 196 20,160

Accumulated 
depreciation

Beginning of  
financial year 9,694 416 449 603 244 11,406

Depreciation charge 693 50 33 54 36 866

Disposals - - (104) - (237) (341)

End of financial year 10,387 466 378 657 43 11,931

Net book value

End of financial year 7,677 53 23 323 153 8,229

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

25. Property, plant and equipment continued

Company 
2017

Leasehold
property

$’000

Office
equipment

and furniture
$’000

Computer
equipment

$’000

Fittings
and fixtures

$’000

Motor
vehicles

$’000
Total
$’000

Cost

Beginning of  
financial year 18,064 516 2,044 651 389 21,664

Additions - 2 12 85 - 99

Disposals and  
write-offs - - (1,520) - - (1,520)

End of financial year 18,064 518 536 736 389 20,243

Accumulated 
depreciation

Beginning of  
financial year 9,001 363 1,881 566 207 12,018

Depreciation charge 693 53 88 37 37 908

Disposals - - (1,520) - - (1,520)

End of financial year 9,694 416 449 603 244 11,406

Net book value

End of financial year 8,370 102 87 133 145 8,837
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Group

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Rental revenue (Note 4) 10,345 10,396

Direct operating expenses arising from:

- Investment properties that generate rental revenue 3,480 3,571

Investment properties are leased to non-related parties under operating leases [Note 37(c)].

Investment properties with carrying values amounting to $87,676,000 (2017: $91,094,000) are mortgaged to secure bank 
loans (Note 31).

The following amounts are recognised in profit and loss:

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on valuations performed by independent external professional valuer. The 
fair values are generally derived using the following methods:

• Income Capitalisation – Properties are valued by capitalising the net property income at an appropriate rate of return to 
arrive at the market value. The net property income is the estimated annual net rental income of the building at current 
rate after deducting all necessary outgoings and expenses. The adopted yield reflects the nature, location, tenure, tenancy 
profile of the property together with the prevailing property market condition.

• Discounted Cash Flow – Properties are valued by discounting the future net income stream over a period to arrive at a 
present value.

• Direct Comparison – Properties are valued using analysis of comparable sales after making allowances for factors such as 
date of sale, sale terms and conditions, location, discernible differences between the properties and other pertinent factors, 
to assist in the assessment of current market value. 

Management is of the view that the valuation methods and estimates are reflective of the current market condition.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

26. Investment properties 

(a) Investment properties
Group

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Beginning of financial year 95,064 93,307

Additions - 13

Fair value gain/(loss) [Note 6(a)/(b)] 4,542 (3,186)

Currency exchange differences (8,238) 4,930

End of financial year 91,368 95,064

(b) Fair value hierarchy

The investment property is classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The movement during the financial year is 
disclosed in the investment property movement table presented in Note 26(a). There were no transfers into or out of the fair 
value hierarchy levels for the financial year ended  30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair value measurements

The following table presents the valuation techniques and key inputs that were used to determine the fair value of investment 
properties categorised under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

At the balance sheet date, the details of the Group’s investment properties are as follows:

Location Description/existing use Tenure

10 Aylesbury Street and  
167 Pakuranga Road, 
Pakuranga, Auckland,  
New Zealand 

Retail and office space including a  
four-storey shopping mall, 
outdoor Warehouse Plaza and a    
standalone Plaza Business Centre 

Freehold

169 Pakuranga Road, 
Pakuranga, Auckland,  
New Zealand

Land for development 999 years lease

171 Pakuranga Road,     
Pakuranga, Auckland,  
New Zealand

Land for development 999 years lease

Description
Fair value at

30 June 2018
($’000)

Valuation 
technique

Unobservable 
input(a)

Range of 
unobservable 

inputs

Relationship of 
unobservable 

inputs to  
fair value

Retail and 
office space 

$87,676 
(2017: $91,094)

Income 
capitalisation

Capitalisation 
rate 

7.75%
(2017: 8.13%)

The higher the 
capitalisation 
rate, the lower 
the fair value

Discounted 
cash flow

Discount rate  9.00%
(2017: 9.63%)

The higher the 
discount rate, 
the lower the 
fair value

Terminal yield 8.00%
(2017: 8.38%)

The higher the 
terminal yield, 
the lower the 
fair value

Land for 
development
(2017:  Residential 
apartment units(b))

$3,692
(2017: $3,970)

Direct 
comparison

Adjusted price 
per square 
metre 

Land rate of 
$1,842 and 
$1,844
(2017: $6,305 - 
$7,398)

The higher the 
adjusted price 
per square 
metre, the 
higher the  
fair value

(a) There were no significant inter-relationships between unobservable inputs.
(b)  In the previous financial year, the land for development was valued separately based on six residential apartment units on the land area. In the current financial 
year, the residential units have been vacated and the investment property has been valued as a vacant site for future re-development.



118 119

GLOBAL YELLOW PAGES LIMITED | 2018 ANNUAL REPORT GLOBAL YELLOW PAGES LIMITED | 2018 ANNUAL REPORT

26. Investment properties continued

(b) Fair value hierarchy continued

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group engages external, independent and qualified valuers to determine the fair value of the Group’s properties at the end 
of every financial year based on the properties’ highest and best use. As at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017, the fair values of 
the properties have been determined by Bayleys Valuations Limited.

At each financial year end, management:

- assesses property valuation movements when compared to the prior year valuation report; and 
- holds discussions with the independent valuer.

Changes in Level 3 fair values are analysed at each reporting date during the management meeting. As part of this discussion, 
a report is presented to the Board of Directors that explains the reasons for the fair value movements.

(a) As at 30 June 2018, properties under development which were not scheduled for completion within the next 12 months 
amounted to $24,750,000 (2017: $21,964,000).

(b) The costs capitalised under development properties amounting to $24,750,000 (2017: $21,964,000) are denominated in 
New Zealand dollars (“NZD”).

(c) Borrowing costs of $338,000 (2017: $254,000) arising from bank borrowing specifically entered into for the purchase of the 
land for development were capitalised during the financial year and included in development properties. The bank borrowing is 
secured on the land for development and bears effective interest rate of 4.69% (2017: 4.64%) per annum at the balance sheet 
date.

(d) Details of the Group’s development properties as at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017 are as follows:

Group

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Land at cost    18,005 19,681

Development costs 6,223 2,029

Borrowing costs capitalised (Note 9) 522 254

Development properties 24,750 21,964

27. Development properties

Tenure of Land Site area (sqm)

Remarkables Residences
A planned development comprising 200-225 units of residential units Freehold 38,400

The development has been pledged by way of first registered and exclusive mortgage as security for the bank loan granted to 
the Group [Note 31(b)(iv)].

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued 28. Intangible assets
Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Composition:

Goodwill arising on consolidation    - - - -

Intellectual property assets 11,863 11,863 - -

Computer software licence and development costs 16 157 7 139

  11,879 12,020 7 139

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Beginning of financial year - 2,708 - -

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 13) - (2,708) - -

End of financial year - - - -

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Beginning of financial year 11,863 13,615 - 1,752

Amortisation - (517) - (517)

Impairment of intellectual property assets [Note 28(b)(ii)] - (1,235) - (1,235)

End of financial year 11,863 11,863 - -

(a) Goodwill arising on consolidation

(b) Intellectual property assets

Intellectual property assets with indefinite useful lives [Note 28(b)(i)] 11,863 11,863 - -

Intellectual property assets with finite useful lives [Note 28(b)(ii)] 115,480 115,480 115,480 115,480

Accumulated amortisation (6,166) (6,166) (6,166) (6,166)

Accumulated impairment (109,314) (109,314) (109,314) (109,314)

- - - -

Net book value 11,863 11,863 - -

(i) The intellectual property assets include trademarks, recipes and formulas. The intellectual property assets have been 
assessed as having an indefinite useful life as the directors believe there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which this 
trademark is expected to generate net cash inflows for the Group. This conclusion is subject to annual reviews to determine 
whether events and circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful life basis for this asset.

(ii) The intellectual property assets acquired upon business acquisition were valued on the basis of fair market value of the 
brand names and related trademarks by an independent valuer. As the leading publisher of telephone directories as well as 
the largest provider of classified directory advertising and associated products and services in Singapore, the Group has a 
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Based on the key assumptions above used by management, an increase in the weighted average cost of capital (pre-tax) by 
0.4% (2017: 1.6%) or a decrease in terminal growth rate by 0.3% (2017: 1.6%), with all other variables being held constant, would 
result in the value-in-use being equal to the carrying value. 

Wendy’s CGU 2018 2017

Terminal growth rate 2.2% 2.0%

Discount rate (pre-tax) 15.8% 15.0%

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

28. Intangible assets continued

(b) Intellectual property assets continued

number of intellectual property assets, which are mainly registered trademarks. 

On 1 August 2017, the Company announced that it will restructure its business to focus on real estate as its core business 
and cease publication of print directories from 2018 and revamp the digital business (Note 11). In conjunction with the 
restructuring exercise, management has performed an impairment assessment on the assets relating to print directories 
and digital business. The intellectual property assets amounting to $1,235,000 have been allocated for impairment testing 
purposes to the Search cash-generating-unit (“CGU”) in the previous financial year. 

Management has determined the recoverable amount of the Search CGU to be at $141,000 based on the value-in-use 
calculation, at a discount rate of 12%. Based on the value-in-use calculation, an impairment charge of $1,235,000 was 
recognised in the previous financial year.  

(c) Impairment test of indefinite life intellectual property assets

Indefinite life intellectual property assets are tested for impairment annually and whenever there is any impairment indication. 
For purposes of impairment testing, the recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined based on the value-in-use 
calculations.

Indefinite life intellectual property assets amounting to $11,863,000 (2017: $11,863,000) relating to the Wendy’s CGU have 
been tested for impairment. The cash flow projections used in the value-in-use calculations are based on financial budgets 
approved by management covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the 
estimated terminal growth rate stated in Note 28(d). The terminal growth rate did not exceed the long term average growth rate 
of the industry. Based on the value-in-use calculations, the recoverable amount of the Wendy’s CGU is higher than its carrying 
amount.

(d) Critical assumptions used for value-in-use calculations

(e) Computer software licence and development costs

29. Trade and other payables 
Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Current

Trade payables - third parties 1,211 858 1 7

Other creditors 622 619 352 409

Security deposits 216 303 164 198

Accruals for operating expenses 2,220 2,518 848 1,007

Accrued interest payable - loans 50 47 7 7

Other liabilities 1,861 1,027 - -

6,180 5,372 1,372 1,628

Non-current

Security deposits 526 464 248 249

Retention payables 161 - - -

Other liabilities 24 25 - -

711 489 248 249

6,891 5,861 1,620 1,877

The carrying amount of non-current security deposits, retention payables and other liabilities approximate its fair value. 

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Cost

Beginning of financial year 619 5,119 589 3,714

Additions 2 139 - 14

Write-offs (63) (26) (63) (26)

Disposals - (3,113) - (3,113)

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 13) - (1,501) - -

Currency translation differences (1) 1 - -

End of financial year 557 619 526 589

Accumulated amortisation

Beginning of financial year 462 4,636 450 3,456

Amortisation 79 252 69 107

Disposals - (3,113) - (3,113)

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 13) - (1,313) - -

End of financial year 541 462 519 450

Net book value 16 157 7 139
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30. Provision

On 27 October 2009, the Group commenced legal proceedings relating to copyright infringement. On 28 January 2016, the 
Court dismissed the Group’s claim and costs were awarded to the defendant for both defending the claim and the counterclaim. 
The Group has appealed the decision by the Court and the appeal was heard on 23 November 2015. The Court of Appeal 
allowed parts of the Group’s claim, but dismissed the Group’s appeal in respect of the copyright infringement. 

In the previous financial year, after taking appropriate legal advice, the Group wrote back the provision amounting to $417,000 
for the legal claims with an ending provision of $583,000.

As at balance sheet date, the suit and appeal are at an end with only costs to be resolved. On 23 August 2018, the Group 
announced that the High Court reviewed the cost payable by the Group to the defendant and has awarded the sum of 
$1,175,000 to the defendant. The Group has made a provision amounting to $1,246,000 (2017: $583,000) in respect of the 
estimated legal claims awarded including Court’s taxing fees as at 30 June 2018. The Group has further appealed the decision 
by the High Court but the appeal has yet to be heard. Management does not expect any significant loss beyond the amounts 
provided as at 30 June 2018. 

Group and Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Provision for legal claims
Beginning of financial year 583 1,000
Provision made [Note 11(c)] 663 -
Write-back of provision - (417)
End of financial year 1,246 583

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

31. Borrowings
(a) Current

(b) Non-current

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Term loans - secured 60,048 67,536 1,739 1,682

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Term loans - secured 11,977 13,715 11,977 13,715

The exposure of the borrowings of the Group and the Company to interest rate changes and the contractual repricing dates at 
the balance sheet date are as follows:

Details of the term loans are as follows:

(i) A term loan of $11,906,000 (2017: $13,016,000) is secured over the Company’s leasehold property and repayable over 10 
years with a fixed repayment schedule beginning September 2012.

(ii) A term loan of $1,810,000 (2017: $2,381,000) is secured over the Company’s leasehold property and repayable over 7 
years with a fixed repayment schedule beginning June 2014.

(iii) Term loans of $51,221,000 (2017: $58,107,000) (“PPL loans”) are secured over a freehold property (Note 26). The term 
loans mature in September 2018. A repayment of $2,002,000 (2017: Nil) was made by the Group on 29 June 2018.

(iv) A term loan of $7,088,000 (2017: $7,747,000) (“RR land loan”) is secured over a freehold land parcel purchased (Note 27). 
The term loan matures in September 2018.

(v) Carrying amount and fair value.

In the current financial year, the carrying amounts of the borrowings approximate their fair value. 

The fair values are within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

(vi) The weighted average effective interest rate at the balance sheet date is 4.25% (2017: 4.80%).

(vii) Refinancing of current borrowings.

Term loans amounting to $58,309,000 (2017: $65,854,000) at the balance sheet date will mature and are fully repayable on 
30 September 2018 (2017: 24 October 2017). These term loans are secured over a freehold property (Note 26) and a freehold  
land (Note 27).

On 29 August 2018, the Group has obtained the extension to the PPL loans amounting to $51,221,000 [Note 31(b)(iii)] with 
the bank for a further term of 3 years and will now be due for expiry on 29 August 2021. 

On 30 August 2018, the RR land loan amounting to $7,088,000 [Note 31(b)(iv)] has been further extended for a period of 2 
months from 30 September 2018. The loan will be due for expiry on 30 November 2018. 

The Group is in the process of finalising the terms of RR development loan with the bank for the development of Remarkables 
Residences (Note 27). Upon finalising the terms and drawdown of the RR development loan, RR land loan will be refinanced 
for a period of 17 months from the date of drawdown of the RR development loan.

As at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017, the Group is in compliance with the debt covenants.  

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

6 months or less 72,025 23,144 13,716 15,397
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32. Share capital and treasury shares
No. of ordinary shares Amount

Issued share 
capital

’000

Treasury 
shares

’000

Share
capital
$’000

Treasury 
shares
$’000

Group and Company

2018

Beginning of financial year 210,015 (914) 79,705 (960)

Ordinary share issued 65,820 - 13,164 -

Share issue expenses - - (167) -

End of financial year 275,835 (914) 92,702 (960)

2017

Beginning of financial year 175,939 (914) 74,493 (960)

Ordinary share issued 34,076 - 5,248 -

Share issue expenses - - (36) -

Treasury share reissued - - - -

End of financial year 210,015 (914) 79,705 (960)

(a) 2018

In the current financial year on 4 June 2018, the Company issued 24,000,000 new ordinary shares to Mr Mah Bow Tan under 
a placement agreement at a price of $0.20 per share. In the current financial year on 27 June 2018, the Company also issued 
41,820,136 new ordinary shares in the capital of the Company at the rights issue price of $0.20 per share. The net proceeds 
from the placement and rights issuance as at 30 June 2018 were $4,732,000 and $8,265,000 respectively.

(b) 2017

In the previous financial year on 7 October 2016, the Company completed the placement of 34,076,000 new ordinary shares 
in the capital of Global Yellow Pages Limited at the issue price of $0.154 per share. The net proceeds from the placement were 
$5,212,000 and has been fully utilised on 15 November 2015 for the Group’s acquisition of a land parcel in Queenstown, New 
Zealand for the purpose of residential development for sale (Note 27). 

(c) Warrants

In the current financial year, arising from the rights issued in (a) above, the number of existing warrants was reduced from 
102,263,118 to 99,340,476. During the current financial year, there were no warrants (2017: Nil) exercised. As at the balance 
sheet date, 99,340,476 (2017: 102,263,118) warrants have not been exercised.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued 33. Accumulated loss
Movement in accumulated loss for the Company is as follows:

Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Beginning of financial year (15,602) (12,168)

Net loss (3,250) (3,434)

End of financial year (18,852) (15,602)

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Share option reserve 57 57 57 57

Currency translation reserve (3,387) 132 - -

Fair value reserve - - - -

Capital reserve (4,003) (4,003) (4,003) (4,003)

Transactions with non-controlling interest (3,868) (3,794) - -

(11,201) (7,608) (3,946) (3,946)

34. Other reserves
(a) Composition
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Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

(i) Share option reserve

Beginning and end of financial year 57 57 57 57

(ii) Currency translation reserve

Beginning of financial year 132 (2,048) - -

Reclassification to profit or loss (Note 13) - 63 - -

Net currency translation differences of financial statements of  
    foreign subsidiaries and associated companies (3,519) 2,117 - -

End of financial year (3,387) 132 - -

(iii) Fair value reserve

Beginning of financial year - - - -

Fair value (losses)/gains on available-for-sale financial asset (Note 17) (250) 1,730 (233) -

Reclassification to profit or loss on disposal - (1,730) - -

Reclassification to profit or loss on impairment 250 - 233 -

End of financial year - - - -

(iv) Capital reserve

Beginning and end of financial year (4,003) (4,003) (4,003) (4,003)

(v) Transactions with non-controlling interest

Beginning of financial year (3,794) (6,224) - -

Transactions with non-controlling interest [Note 22(c)] (119) 126 - -

Disposal of subsidiaries 45 2,304 - -

End of financial year (3,868) (3,794) - -

34. Other reserves continued 

(b) Movements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

35. Dividends
For the financial year ended 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017, no dividend has been declared or recommended.

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Not later than one year 228 234 1 44

Between one and five years 11 102 - 1

239 336 1 45

36. Contingent liabilities
(a) The Company has given undertakings to certain subsidiaries to provide continued financial support to these subsidiaries to 
enable them to operate as going concerns and to meet their obligations as and when they fall due for at least 12 months from 
the financial year end. At the date of these financial statements, the directors are of the view that no material losses will arise 
from the undertaking to provide financial support.

(b) On 23 December 2015, the Group filed a claim in the Supreme Court of South Australia against a third party for infringement 
of the Wendy’s trademarks, passing off and misleading and deceptive conduct. A counterclaim was then filed by the defendant 
against the Group, alleging that the Group had misled the defendant into believing that the defendant had the rights to continue 
using the intellectual property. 

For the financial year ended 30 June 2018, independent legal advice obtained indicates that it is unlikely that any significant 
liability will arise from the counterclaim. At the date of these financial statements, the directors are of the view that no material 
losses will arise in respect of the legal claim.

(c) On 7 July 2017, the Group commenced a separate legal claim on behalf of a subsidiary against the other shareholder of the 
subsidiary for breach of Service Agreement entered into between the shareholder and the subsidiary and against a director of 
the subsidiary for breach of director’s duties owed to the subsidiary. 

As at 30 June 2018, the case is still ongoing and based on independent legal advice obtained, it is unlikely that a significant 
liability will arise from the proceeding. At the date of these financial statements, the directors are of the view that no material 
losses will arise in respect of the legal claim. 

37. Commitments
(a) Capital commitments

There are no capital expenditure contracted for at the balance sheet date but not recognised in the financial statements as at 
30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017.

(b) Operating lease commitments – where the Group is a lessee

The Group leases certain computer, office equipment and office space under non-cancellable operating lease agreements 
from non-related parties.  The leases have varying terms and renewal rights.

The future minimum lease payables under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the balance sheet date but not 
recognised as liabilities, are as follows:
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38. Financial risk management 
Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity 
risk.  The Group’s overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise any adverse effects from the unpredictability of financial 
markets on the Group’s financial performance. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for setting the objectives and underlying principles of financial risk management for the 
Group.

(a) Market risk

(i) Currency risk

Currency risk arises within entities in the Group when transactions are denominated in foreign currencies such as the 
Singapore Dollar (“SGD”), Australian Dollars (“AUD”), New Zealand Dollars (“NZD”) and Malaysian Ringgit (“MYR”).

In addition, the Group is exposed to currency translation risk on the net assets in foreign operations. Where appropriate, the 
exposure is managed through borrowings denominated in the relevant foreign currencies. 

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Not later than one year 8,988 8,543 1,389 2,137

Between one and five years 14,684 11,839 984 787

More than five years 7,344 3,894 - -

31,016 24,276 2,373 2,924

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

37. Commitments continued

(c) Operating lease commitments – where the Group is a lessor

The Group leases out investment properties and excess office space that it owns under non-cancellable operating leases to 
non-related parties.  The leases have varying terms and renewal rights.

The future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the balance sheet date but 
not recognised as receivables, are as follows:

The Group’s currency exposures based on the information provided to key management are as follows:

2017

Cash and cash equivalents 2,395 6,013 1,273 94 60 9,835

Trade and other receivables 2,027 397 529 - 55 3,008

Other financial assets 80 - 1,804 - - 1,884

Intercompany receivables 65,728 8,935 28,370 - - 103,033

Other financial liabilities (2,067) (1,502) (1,248) - (17) (4,834)

Borrowings (15,397) - (65,854) - - (81,251)

Intercompany payables (65,728) (8,935) (28,370) - - (103,033)

Net financial (liabilities)/assets (12,962) 4,908 (63,496) 94 98 (71,358)

Less: Net financial liabilities/(assets)   
    denominated in the respective entities    
    functional currencies 13,021 (788) 76,628 - - 88,861

Net currency exposure 59 4,120 13,132 94 98 17,503

2018 SGD
$’000

AUD
$’000

NZD
$’000

MYR
$’000

Others
$’000

Total
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 978 2,059 473 9 48 3,567

Trade and other receivables 1,104 282 794 - - 2,180

Other financial assets 72 - 636 - - 708

Intercompany receivables 80,185 14,014 36,331 - 24 130,554

Due from associated companies 277 - - - - 277

Other financial liabilities (1,881) (857) (2,292) - - (5,030)

Borrowings (13,716) - (58,309) - - (72,025)

Intercompany payables (80,185) (14,014) (36,331) - (24) (130,554)

Net financial (liabilities)/assets (13,166) 1,484 (58,698) 9 48 (70,323)

Less: Net financial  liabilities/(assets)  
    denominated in the respective entities      
    functional currencies

505 (1,034) 75,884 - - 75,355

Net currency exposure (12,661) 450 17,186 9 48 5,032
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2017

Cash and cash equivalents 2,262 4,613 312 94 60 7,341

Trade and other receivables 1,861 - - - - 1,861

Other financial assets 80 - - - - 80

Due from/(to) subsidiaries 49,562 (4,750) 10,750 - - 55,562

Other financial liabilities (1,860) - - - (17) (1,877)

Borrowings (15,397) - - - - (15,397)

Net financial assets/(liabilities) 36,508 (137) 11,062 94 43 47,570

Less: Net financial assets denominated  
    in the respective entities functional 
    currencies

(36,508) - - - - (36,508)

Net currency exposure - (137) 11,062 94 43 11,062

38. Financial risk management continued

(a) Market risk continued

(i) Currency risk continued

The Company’s currency exposures based on the information provided to key management are  as follows:

2018 SGD
$’000

AUD
$’000

NZD
$’000

MYR
$’000

Others
$’000

Total
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 739 186 13 9 48 995

Trade and other receivables 1,209 - - - - 1,209

Other financial assets 72 - - - - 72

Due from/(to) subsidiaries 63,077 (5,364) 13,614 - - 71,327

Due from associated companies 277 - - - - 277

Other financial liabilities (1,620) - - - - (1,620)

Borrowings (13,716) - - - - (13,716)

Net financial assets/(liabilities) 50,038 (5,178) 13,627 9 48 58,544

Less: Net financial assets  denominated    
    in the respective entities functional   
    currencies

(50,038) - - - - (50,038)

Net currency exposure - (5,178) 13,627 9 48 8,506

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

If the AUD, NZD and MYR change against SGD by 3% (2017: 2%) with all other variables including tax rate being held constant, 
the effects arising from the net financial asset position will be as follows:

Increase/(Decrease)
2018

Increase/(Decrease)
2017

Profit
after tax

$’000

Other  
comprehensive 

income
$’000

Profit
after tax

$’000

Other  
comprehensive 

income
$’000

Group

AUD against SGD

- Strengthened 11 64 68 56

- Weakened (11) (64) (68) (56)

NZD against SGD

- Strengthened 428 1,085 218 791

- Weakened (428) (1,085) (218) (791)

MYR against SGD

- Strengthened - - 2 -

- Weakened - - (2) -

Company

AUD against SGD

- Strengthened (129) - (2) -

- Weakened 129 - 2 -

NZD against SGD

- Strengthened 339 - 184 -

- Weakened (339) - (184) -

MYR against SGD

- Strengthened - - 2 -

- Weakened - - (2) -
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38. Financial risk management continued

(a) Market risk continued

(ii) Interest rate risks

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest rate risk arise mainly from borrowings. The borrowings expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. 
The Group manages its cash flow interest rate risks by adopting a preference for fixed rate instruments over variable rate 
instrument.

The Group’s borrowings at variable rates on which effective hedges have not been entered into are denominated mainly in 
SGD and NZD. If the SGD and NZD interest rates had increased/decreased by 0.50% (2017: 0.50%) with all other variables 
including tax rate being held constant, the profit after tax would have been lower/higher by $299,000 (2017: $96,000) as a 
result of higher/lower interest expense on these borrowings.

(iii) Price risks

The Group is not exposed to price risk as it has no investments in listed equity securities in the current and previous  
financial years. 

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
Group. The Group is exposed to credit risk due to its customer base including a large number of small and medium size 
enterprises in diversified industries. The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk from trade debtors due to its 
diversified customer base. The Group manages its credit risks through credit reviews. Deposits are obtained for higher- 
risk customers. 

The age analysis of trade receivables past due but not impaired is shown in Note 14 of the financial statements.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for each class of financial instrument is the carrying amount of that class of 
financial instruments presented on the balance sheet.

The Group’s major classes of financial assets are bank deposits and trade and other receivables. The Group places its cash 
and cash equivalents in the form of short-term deposits and enters into treasury transactions only with high credit quality 
financial institutions. Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are substantially companies with a 
good collection track record with the Group.

(c) Liquidity risk 

The table on the right analyses the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted  
cash flows.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
Less than

1 year
$’000

Between
1 and 5
years
$’000

Over 
5 years
$’000

Group

2018

Trade and other payables 4,319 690 21

Borrowings  60,048 11,977 -

Future interest payable on borrowings 1,109 1,100 -

2017

Trade and other payables 4,345 476 13

Borrowings  67,536 6,639 7,076

Future interest payable on borrowings 1,557 1,335 57

Less than
1 year
$’000

Between
1 and 5
years
$’000

Over 5 
years
$’000

Company

2018

Trade and other payables 1,372 248 -

Due to subsidiaries 9,161 - -

Borrowings  1,739 11,977 -

Future interest payable on borrowings 471 1,100 -

2017

Trade and other payables 1,628 249 -

Due to subsidiaries 8,589 - -

Borrowings  1,682 6,639 7,076

Future interest payable on borrowings 475 1,335 57

The table below analyses the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted  
cash flows.
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38. Financial risk management continued

(c) Liquidity risk continued

The Group and Company closely monitors and manages its debt maturity profile, operating cash flows and the availability of 
funding. The Group maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by management and ensures flexibility in 
meeting funding requirements by securing revolving credit facilities.

(d) Capital risk

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximise shareholder value. In order to maintain or achieve an optimal capital 
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment, issue new shares, buy back issued shares, obtain new 
borrowings or sell assets to reduce borrowings.

Management monitors capital based on gearing ratio.

The gearing ratio is calculated as total debt divided by total equity. Total debt refers to borrowings (Note 31). Total equity refers 
to equity attributable to shareholders of the Company, comprising issued capital (Note 32), accumulated losses (Note 33) and 
other reserves (Note 34).

The Group and the Company are in compliance with the externally imposed capital requirements for the financial year ended 
30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017.

(e) Fair value measurements 

Assets and liabilities measured and carried at fair value are classified by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

(a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

(b) inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as 
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (Level 2); and

(c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (Level 3). 

Disclosures of the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets and investment properties are set out in Note 17 and Note 26 
respectively.

The carrying amount less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values. 
The carrying amounts of current borrowings approximate their fair values.  

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Total debt 72,025 81,251 13,176 15,397

Total equity 76,157 63,009 68,944 59,197

Gearing ratio 95% 129% 19% 26%

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

39. Related party transactions 
The following transactions took place between the Group and related parties during the financial year:

(a) Key management personnel compensation 

Key management personnel compensation is as follows:

Included in the above is total compensation to directors of the Company amounting to $1,053,000 (2017: $1,081,000). 

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Loans and receivables 6,732 14,727 83,041 73,433

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 77,055 86,085 24,497 25,863

Group

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Wages and salaries 1,620 2,345
Employer’s contribution to defined contribution plans, including  
    Central Provident Fund 53 104

  1,673 2,449

(b) Income and purchases of goods and services

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following transactions took 
place between the Group and Company and related parties at terms agreed between the parties during the financial year.

(f) Financial instruments by category

The aggregate carrying amounts of loans and receivables and financial liabilities at amortised cost are as follows:

Group Company

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Subsidiary companies

- Dividends received/receivable* - - - 580

- Management fees received/receivable* - - - 230

- Rental income received/receivable - - 2 -

- Services rendered/receivable* - - - 11

Associated company

- Royalty income received/receivable 237 - 237 -

Other related parties

- Salaries and wages 30 77 - -

Directors of the Company

- Consultancy services provided 324 324 324 324

- Indemnification of legal fees - 50 - 50

* Includes transactions with a subsidiary disposed of in the previous financial year. Transactions disclosed above occurred prior to the date of the Group’s 
disposal of its interest held in the subsidiary.   
Other related parties refer to close family members of key management personnel. Outstanding balances at balance sheet date are disclosed in Notes 18, 19 
and 20 respectively.
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40. Segment Information
Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Executive Committee that are 
used to make strategic decisions. The Executive Committee comprises the Chief Executive Officer and a director.

The Group is organised into business units based on their products and services and has the following reportable operating 
segments:

a) The Property segment includes property investment, property management and property development activities in  
New Zealand.

b) The Food and Beverage segment includes the operation of the retail master franchise and supply chain business of the 
Wendy’s brand of ice-cream and treats for the Wendy’s store network. 

c) Others include Group level corporate services and investments in equity shares in Singapore.

The Search segment activities had ceased in the current financial year (Note 11) and the comparative figures have been re-
presented accordingly. The Direct Sales activities had ceased in the previous financial year (Note 11) and is included in the 
comparative figures presented as discontinued operations. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

2018
Property

$’000

Food &
Beverage

$’000
Others
$’000

Eliminations
$’000

Total for 
continuing 
operations

$’000
Revenue
External revenue 10,345 7,442 - - 17,787
Inter-segmental revenue 3,063 2,604 - (5,667) -
Total operating revenue 13,408 10,046 - (5,667) 17,787
Result
Segment results 10,446 176 (2,911) - 7,711
Interest on borrowings (2,595) - (495) - (3,090)
Interest income 1 2 32 - 35
Share of results of associated companies - - (74) - (74)
Profit/(loss) before income tax 7,852 178 (3,448) - 4,582
Income tax expense (1,160)
Profit from continuing operations 3,422
Other Information
Segment assets 134,723 14,405 821 - 149,949
Assets transferred from discontinued operations * - - 10,398 - 10,398
Segment assets 134,723 14,405 11,219 - 160,347
Deferred income tax assets 119
Assets associated with discontinued operations 10,721
Assets transferred to Others * (10,398)
Assets associated with discontinued operations 323
Consolidated total assets 160,789
Segment assets includes:
Investment in associated companies - - 141 - 141
Additions to:
- property, plant and equipment 17 6 389 - 412
- intangible assets - 2 - - 2
Segment liabilities 61,594 2,399 1,249 - 65,242
Liabilities transferred from discontinued 
operations* - - 14,083 - 14,083

Segment liabilities 61,594 2,399 15,332 - 79,325
Current income tax liabilities 883
Deferred income tax liabilities 2,765
Liabilities associated with discontinued operations 15,755
Liabilities transferred to Others* (14,083)
Liabilities associated with discontinued operations 1,672
Consolidated total liabilities 84,645
Other material non-cash items:
Depreciation - (21) (783) - (804)
Amortisation of intangible assets - (10) - - (10)
Impairment of other receivables - (927) - - (927)
Write back of impairment of trade receivables 1 8 - - 9
Allowances for impairment of trade receivables (45) (18) - - (63)
Fair value gains on investment properties 4,542 - - - 4,542
Deemed loss on disposal of associate - - (407) - (407)
Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets - - (250) - (250)

* Assets and liabilities transferred from discontinued operations to Others pertain to the carrying amount of Yellow Pages building, assets and liabilities 
associated with Yellow Pages building and cash and cash equivalents of the Company previously presented under the  Search segment.
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2017
Property

$’000

Food &
Beverage

$’000
Others
$’000

Eliminations
$’000

Total for 
continuing 
operations

$’000
Revenue
External revenue 10,396 10,174 - - 20,570
Inter-segmental revenue 2,040 2,999 - (5,039) -
Total operating revenue 12,436 13,173 - (5,039) 20,570
Result
Segment results 3,370 1,506 (1,101) - 3,775
Interest on borrowings (2,989) (2) (598) - (3,589)
Interest income 10 1 93 - 104
Profit/(loss) before income tax 391 1,505 (1,606) - 290
Income tax expense (1,438)
Net loss from continuing operations (1,148)
Other Information
Segment assets 120,588 15,258 794 - 136,640
Assets transferred from discontinued operations * - - 17,512 - 17,512
Segment assets 120,588 15,258 18,306 - 154,152
Deferred income tax assets 125
Assets associated with discontinued operations 18,597
Assets transferred to Others * (17,512)
Assets associated with discontinued operations 1,085
Consolidated total assets 155,362
Segment assets includes:
Investment in associated companies - - 110 - 110
Additions to:
- property, plant and equipment - 4 - - 4
- intangible assets - 4 - - 4
- investment properties 13 - - - 13
Segment liabilities 68,143 2,125 1,029 - 71,297
Liabilities transferred from discontinued operations* - - 16,031 - 16,031
Segment liabilities 68,143 2,125 17,060 - 87,328
Current income tax liabilities 846
Deferred income tax liabilities 2,353
Liabilities associated with discontinued operations 17,877
Liabilities transferred to Others* (16,031)
Liabilities associated with discontinued operations 1,846
Consolidated total liabilities 92,373
Other material non-cash items:
Depreciation - (21) (693) - (714)
Amortisation of intangible assets - (10) - - (10)
Write back of impairment of trade receivables 44 - - - 44
Allowances for impairment of trade receivables (46) (25) - - (71)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries - - (746) - (746)
Loss on re-measurement of retained interest on  
    disposal of subsidiaries - - (171) - (171)

Fair value losses on investment properties (3,186) - - - (3,186)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets - - 324 - 324
* Assets and liabilities transferred from discontinued operations to Others pertain to the carrying amount of Yellow Pages building, assets and liabilities 
associated with Yellow Pages building and cash and cash equivalents of the Company previously presented under the Search segment.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

40. Segment Information continued

Operating revenue for 
continuing operations

Non-current assets for 
continuing operations

Total assets for 
continuing operations

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Singapore - - 21,038 21,954 22,979 30,172

New Zealand 10,345 10,396 92,015 95,538 134,717 120,588

Australia 7,442 10,174 175 208 2,660 3,407

Others - - 110 110 110 110

Total 17,787 20,570 113,338 117,810 160,466 154,277

Geographical segment

The principal geographical area in which the Group operates is Singapore.

Name of companies Principal activities
Country of 
business /
incorporation

Percentage of equity held

2018
%

2017 
%

Subsidiaries held by the Company

Gloria Jean’s Coffees Holdings Pte Ltd (e) Dormant Singapore 100 100

GYP Investments Pte Ltd (formerly known as 
Singapore Information Services Pte Ltd) (a) Dormant Singapore 100 100

GYP Real Estate Pte Ltd (formerly known as 
GYP Properties Pte Ltd) (a)

Property management 
and investment holding Singapore 100 100

Singapore River Explorer Pte Ltd (a) (c) Dormant Singapore 50 50

SG Innovation Hub Pte Ltd (formerly known 
as CallmyName Registry Pte Ltd) (a) ( j)

Property management 
services Singapore - 100

Subsidiaries held by subsidiaries

SG Innovation Hub Pte Ltd (formerly known 
as CallmyName Registry Pte Ltd) (a) ( j)

Property management 
services Singapore 100 -

Pakuranga Plaza  Limited (b)
Investment holding and 
rental of investment 
properties

New Zealand 100 100

Pakuranga Plaza Management Limited (b) Property management 
services New Zealand 100 100

Pakuranga Town Centre Development 
Limited (b)

Property investment and 
development New Zealand 100 100

41. Listing of companies in the Group
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Name of companies Principal activities
Country of 
business /
incorporation

Percentage of equity held

2018
%

2017 
%

Subsidiaries held by subsidiaries cont.

Global Food Retail Group Pte Ltd (a) Leasing of non-financial   
intangible assets Singapore 100 100

Remarkables Residences Limited (f ) Property investment and 
development New Zealand 100 100

Bellfield Estate Limited (f ) Property investment and 
development New Zealand 100 -

Bellfield Retail Investment Limited (f )
Property investment 
and rental of investment 
properties

New Zealand 100 -

FP Network Pte Ltd (a) Investment holding Singapore 100 -

Supatreats Asia Pte Ltd (d) (g) Investment holding Singapore 100 100

Supatreats Australia Holdings Pty Ltd (d) (g) Investment holding Australia 100 100

Supatreats Australia Pty Ltd (d) (g) Retail franchise Australia 100 100

Supatreats Australia Supplies Pty Ltd (d) (g) Supply chain business Australia 100 100

Supatreats Australia Leases Pty Ltd (d) (g) Dormant Australia 100 100

Supatreats Global Supplies Pte Ltd (d) (g) Supply chain business Singapore 100 100

Retail Leases Pty Ltd (d) (g) Dormant Australia 100 100

Supatreats NZ Limited (f ) (g) Retail franchise New Zealand 100 -

Retail Leases Limited (f ) (g) Dormant New Zealand 100 -

Associated companies held by the 
Company

Forward Media Sdn Bhd (h) Dormant Brunei 50 50

Global Coresoft Pte Ltd (i) Dormant Singapore - 50

Yellow Pages Pte Ltd (k)

Provision of 
telecommunication 
activities and other 
publishing activities 

Singapore 20 -

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

41. Listing of companies in the Group continued

Name of companies Principal activities
Country of 
business /
incorporation

Percentage of equity held

2018
%

2017 
%

Joint venture held by subsidiary

Global Aimers Pte Ltd (i) Dormant Singapore - 50

(a) Audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Singapore.
(b) Audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers network firm outside Singapore.
(c) The Company has control over the operating and financial policies of the subsidiary.
(d) Audited by BDO LLP.
(e) Not audited as company is dormant. 
(f) Not required to be audited in the country of incorporation.
(g) In accordance to Rule 716 of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited – Listing Rules, the Audit Committee and Board of Directors of the 
Company confirmed that the appointment of different auditors for its subsidiaries would not compromise the standards and effectiveness of the audit of  
the Group.
(h) In the process of liquidation.
(i) Struck off from the Register in August 2017.
( j) Not audited in previous financial year as company was dormant.
(k) Has yet to appoint auditor of the company.

42. Events occurring after balance sheet date
(a) On 4 July 2018, the Group completed the purchase of a plot of freehold land of approximately 21.8521 hectares located at 
Bellfield Road, Papakura, New Zealand (“Bellfield”) upon the transfer of the land titles to the Group. 

As at 30 June 2018, instalments paid amounting to $13,844,000 for the land and development costs incurred amounting 
to $1,450,000 relating to construction costs for earthworks and professional fees have been recognised as prepayments. 
Upon the transfer of land titles subsequent to year end, the land costs and development costs incurred will be reclassified to 
development properties. 

(b) During the financial year, the Group commenced two separate legal proceedings in the High Court of New Zealand against the 
master franchisee, certain franchisees and the respective guarantors for the New Zealand Wendy’s Supa Sundae franchisee 
business for breach of the master franchise agreement, the establishment of competing business and unlawful use of the 
Group’s intellectual property. 

On 15 August 2018, the Group announced that a Deed of Settlement (“Deed”) was reached and the master franchisee, certain 
franchisees and the respective guarantors shall jointly pay a sum of NZ$6 million plus interest to the Group in several tranches 
over an agreed timeline. The first four tranches comprise an aggregate sum of NZ$2.5 million which will be made within four 
months from the execution of the Deed. The remaining tranches comprise a sum of NZ$3.5 million to be made in equal monthly 
instalments over a period of 2 years from 7 February 2019. 

As at 30 June 2018, no income nor receivable from the Deed has been recognised as the Deed was only reached subsequent 
to year end. 

(c) The Group commenced a legal proceeding on 27 October 2009 relating to copyright infringement against the defendant. 
On 21 August 2018, the Court awarded $1,175,000 to the defendant for the legal claims payable by the Group.

As at 30 June 2018, a provision for legal claims amounting to $1,246,000 (2017: $583,000) (Note 30) including the Court’s 
taxing fees has been recognised.

(d) The Group is committed to focus on its core property business and is looking into potential divestment of its non-core 
operating segment. Plans relating to this will be further reviewed and determined after necessary work have been completed.

As at the date of issuance of these financial statements, there are no definitive agreements that have been entered into by the 
Group with any party; and there is no assurance that any transaction will materialise. Accordingly, no financial impact has been 
disclosed in these financial statements.
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43. New accounting standards and FRS interpretations
Below are the mandatory standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that have been published, and 
are relevant for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2018 and which the Group has not early adopted:

(a) FRS 109 Financial instruments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018)

FRS 109 replaces FRS 39 Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement and its relevant interpretations.

FRS 109 retains the mixed measurement model and establishes three primary measurement categories for financial assets: 
amortised cost, fair value through Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) and fair value through Profit or Loss. The basis of 
classification depends on the entity’s business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. 

Investments in equity instruments are required to be measured at fair value through profit or loss with an irrevocable option at 
inception to present changes in fair value in OCI (FVOCI). Gains and losses realised on the sale of such financial assets at FVOCI 
are not transferred to profit or loss on sale but reclassified from the FVOCI reserve to retained earnings.

Under FRS 109, there are no changes to the classification and measurement requirements for financial liabilities except for the 
recognition of fair value changes arising from changes in own credit risk. For liabilities designated at fair value through profit or 
loss, such changes are recognised in OCI.

There is also now a new expected credit losses impairment model that replaces the incurred loss impairment model used 
in FRS 39. It applies to financial assets classified at amortised cost, debt instruments measured at fair value through OCI, 
contract assets under FRS 115 Revenue from contracts with customers, lease receivables, loan commitments and certain 
financial guarantee contracts.

The new standard also introduces expanded disclosure requirements and changes in presentation.

The Group is required to adopt a new accounting framework from 1 July 2018 (Note 44). The new accounting framework has 
similar requirements of FRS 109. Management has considered the effects of applying the new standard on the Group’s financial 
statements and does not expect the standards to have material impact to the financial statements.

(b) FRS 115 Revenue from contracts with customers (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018)

This is the converged standard on revenue recognition. It replaces FRS 11 Construction contracts, FRS 18 Revenue, and related 
interpretations. Revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of a good or service. A customer obtains control 
when it has the ability to direct the use of and obtain the benefits from the good or service. The core principle of FRS 115 is that 
an entity recognises revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. An entity recognises revenue 
in accordance with that core principle by applying the following steps:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer 
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract 
Step 3: Determine the transaction price 
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract 
Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

FRS 115 also includes a cohesive set of disclosure requirements that will result in an entity providing users of financial 
statements with comprehensive information about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows 
arising from the entity’s contracts with customers. 

Management has considered the effects of applying the new standard on the Group’s financial statements and does not 
expect the standards to have material impact to the financial statements.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
(c) INT FRS 122 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Considerations (effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2018)

INT FRS 122 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Considerations considers how to determine the date of the 
transactions when applying the standard on foreign currency transactions, FRS 21 The Effect of Changes in Foreign Exchange 
Rates. The Interpretation applies where the Group either pays or receives consideration in advance for foreign currency-
denominated contracts.

For single upfront payment/receipt, the Interpretation states that the date of the transaction, for the purpose of determining 
the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related item, should be the date on which an entity initially recognises the 
non-monetary asset or liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance of 
recognising the related item, the entity should determine the date of the transaction for each payment or receipt. 

The Interpretation is effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2018. Early adoption is permitted. 
Management has considered the effects of applying the new standards on the Group’s financial statements and does not 
expect the standards to have material impact to the financial statements.

(d) FRS 116 Leases (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019)

FRS 116 will result in almost all leases being recognised on the balance sheet, as the distinction between operating and finance 
leases is removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are 
recognised. The only exceptions are short-term and low-value leases. The accounting for lessors will not change significantly.

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for the Group’s operating leases. As at the reporting date, the Group has non-
cancellable operating lease commitments of $239,000 (2017: $336,000) [Note 37(b)]. However, the Group has yet to determine 
to what extent these commitments will result in the recognition of an asset and a liability for future payments and how this will 
affect the Group’s profit and classification of cash flows.

Some of the commitments may be covered by the exception for short-term and low-value leases and some commitments may 
relate to arrangements that will not qualify as leases under FRS 116.

Management is currently assessing the effects of applying the new standards on the Group’s financial statements. The Group 
does not expect the standards to have material impact to the financial statements.

44. Adoption of SFRS(I)
The Singapore Accounting Standards Council has introduced a new Singapore financial reporting framework that is equivalent 
to the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 
The new framework is referred to as ‘Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International)’ (“SFRS(I)”) hereinafter. 

As required by the listing requirements of the Singapore Exchange, the Group has adopted SFRS(I) on 1 July 2018 and will be 
issuing its first set of financial information prepared under SFRS(I) for the quarter ended 30 September 2018 in October 2018. 
In adopting SFRS(I), the Group is required to apply all of the specific transition requirements in SFRS(I) 1 First time Adoption of 
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International). The Group will also concurrently apply new major SFRS(I) 9 Financial 
Instruments and SFRS(I) 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The estimated impact arising from the adoption of 
SFRS(I) on the Group’s financial statements are set out as follows:

(a) Application of SFRS(I)  

The Group is required to retrospectively apply all SFRS(I) effective at the end of the first SFRS(I) reporting period (financial year 
ending 30 June 2019), subject to the mandatory exceptions and optional exemptions under SFRS(I). The Group does not plan 
to elect relevant optional exemptions and the exemptions that will result in adjustments to the Group‘s financial statements 
prepared under SFRS(I).

(b) Adoption of SFRS(I) 9 

The Group plans to elect to apply the short-term exemption under SFRS(I) 1 to adopt SFRS(I) 9 on 1 July 2018. Accordingly, 
requirements of SFRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement will continue to apply to financial instruments 
up to the financial year ended 30 June 2018.
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(i) Classification and measurement 

The Group has assessed the business models that are applicable on 1 July 2018 to financial assets so as to classify them 
into the appropriate categories under SFRS(I) 9. The Group has elected to recognise changes in the fair value of all its equity 
investments not held for trading and previously classified as available-for-sale, in other comprehensive income.

As a result, assets with a fair value of $502,000 (2017: $675,000) will be reclassified from “available-for sale financial assets” 
to “financial assets, at fair value through other comprehensive income” (“FVOCI”) on 1 July 2018. 

Fair value gains and losses will continue to be recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in fair value 
reserve. However, gain or losses realised on the sale of such assets will no longer be transferred to profit or loss on sale, but 
instead reclassified from fair value reserve to retained earnings.

(ii) Impairment of financial assets 

The following financial assets will be subject to the expected credit loss model under the SFRS(I) 9: 

• Trade and other receivables; 
• Amount due from an associated company; and
• Amount due from subsidiaries.
An increase in provision for impairment for the above financial assets and corresponding decrease in opening retained 
earnings may arise from the application of the expected credit loss impairment model. Management has considered the 
effects of applying the new standards on the Group’s financial statements and does not expect the standards to have 
material impact to the financial statements.

(c) Adoption of SFRS(I) 15 

In accordance with the requirements of SFRS(I) 1, the Group will adopt SFRS(I) 15 retrospectively. Management has considered 
the impact arising from the adoption of SFRS(I)15 and does not expect the standards to have material impact to the financial 
statements [Note 43(b)].

45. Authorisation of financial statements 
These financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors of Global Yellow 
Pages Limited on 20 September 2018.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

A. Material contracts 
There were no other material contracts entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries involving the interests of the Chief 
Executive Officer, any Director or controlling shareholder, either still subsisting at the end of the financial year, or if not then 
subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous financial year except those disclosed in the interested person transaction  
in E.

B. Auditors’ remuneration

C. Directors’ remuneration 
The following information relates to remuneration of directors of the Company during the financial year: 

* Includes the network of member firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited (PwCIL)

Group

2018  
$’000

2017  
$’000

Audit fees paid/payable to:

Auditors of the Company 159 167

Other Auditors* 110 104

269 271

Non-audit fees paid/payable to:

Auditors of the Company 23 18

Other Auditors* 43 50

66 68

2018 2017 

Number of directors of the Company  
in remuneration bands:

$500,000 to below $750,000 1 �

$250,000 to below $500,000 - 1

below $250,000 4 5

Total 5 6

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
For the financial year from 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018 
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E. Interested person transactions
As at 30 June 2018, the status of the utilisation of the proceeds raised from the Company’s placement and rights issue exercise 
during the financial year ended 30 June 2018 is as follows:

D. Properties of the Group
Name of interested person

Transactions not conducted 
under shareholders’ mandate 
pursuant to Rule 920

Transactions conducted  
under shareholders’ mandate 
pursuant to Rule 920

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Professional services provided by

Mah Bow Tan 144 144 - -

Andrew Tay Gim Chuan 180 180 - -

Location Existing use Tenure Gross floor area  
(sq m)

Effective Group 
interest

1 Lorong 2 Toa 
Payoh, Yellow 
Pages Building, 
Singapore

Headquarters
60 Year lease with 
effect from  
26 July 1969

13,223 100%

10 Aylesbury 
Street & 167 
Pakuranga Road, 
Pakuranga, 
Auckland,  
New Zealand

Retail shopping 
mall including 
outdoor 
Warehouse Plaza 
and office space 
in a four-storey 
standalone Plaza 
Business Centre

Freehold 39,187 100%

169 Pakuranga 
Road, Pakuranga, 
Auckland, New 
Zealand

Land for 
development 999-Year lease 1,001 100%

171 Pakuranga 
Road, Pakuranga, 
Auckland, New 
Zealand

Land for 
development 999-Year lease 1,002 100%

Eastern 
Access Road, 
Queenstown, New 
Zealand

Development 
of Phase 1 of 
Remarkables 
Residences 
(approximately 
15% completed 
and expected 
completion  
in 2020)

Freehold 9,621 100%

Balance are land 
for development.

Total land area: 
38,400 sqm

Freehold N.A. 100%

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION continued

The above utilisation is in accordance with the intended use of proceeds and with the percentage allocated as stated in 
the Company’s announcements and the Offer Information Statement dated 1 June 2018 lodged by the Company with the 
Monetary Authority of Singapore.

F. Use of proceeds 
As at 30 June 2018, the status of the utilisation of the proceeds raised from the Company’s placement and rights issue exercise 
during the financial year ended 30 June 2018 is as follows:

Use of Placement 
Proceeds

Allocation of  
Placement Proceeds
($’000)

Placement  
Proceeds utilised 
($’000)

Balance of  
Placement Proceeds 
($’000)

Expenses* 12 12 -

Acquisition 4,788 4,788^ -

Total 4,800 4,800 -

Use of Rights Issue 
Proceeds

Allocation of Rights 
Issue Proceeds
($’000)

Rights Issue  
Proceeds utilised 
($’000)

Balance of Rights  
Issue Proceeds 
($’000)

Expenses* 95 5 90

Acquisition 8,269 5,731^ 2,538

Total 8,364 5,736 2,628

Notes: 
* Expenses incurred relate to professional fees and listing fees.    
^ This amount was used to satisfy in part the First Instalment for the acquisition of the land in Papakura, New Zealand.
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Share capital

**This is based on records kept with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) and differs from the accounting records of the Company of 
S$92,702,000 due to certain share issue expenses.

Distribution of shareholdings

Number of Issued Shares 275,835,089

Number of Issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) 274,920,818

Number of Treasury Shares 914,271 (0.33%)

Share Capital S$95,347,640**

Class of Shares Ordinary Shares

Voting Rights (excluding treasury shares) On a poll – one vote for every ordinary share

Size of 
Shareholdings

No.  of
Shareholders %

No. of Shares
(excluding 
treasury share)

%

1  -  99 153 4.72 1,578 0.00

100  -  1,000 941 29.02 392,344 0.14

1,001  -  10,000 1,263 38.94 5,567,088 2.03

10,001  -  1,000,000 860 26.52 49,983,167 18.18

1,000,001 and above 26 0.80 218,976,641 79.65

Total 3,243 100.00 274,920,818 100.00

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLINGS
As at 6 September 2018

Notes:
(1) Based on the issued share capital of the Company comprising 274,920,818 Shares (excluding 914,271 treasury shares) as at 6 September 2018.
(2) Mah Bow Tan is deemed interested in the shares of the Company held by his spouse, Dr Sheryn Mah by virtue of Section 164 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.
(3) Kathlyn Tan Jiling holds a 50% shareholding interest in Global Media Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“GMH”) and is therefore deemed to be interested in GMH’s shareholdings 
in the Company by virtue of Section 4 of the Securities and Futures Act (“SFA”).
(4) Sam Goi Seng Hui is the sole shareholder of Oregold Pte. Ltd., and is therefore deemed to be interested in the 23,021,400 shares in the Company held by 
Oregold Pte. Ltd. by virtue of Section 4 of the SFA.

Substantial shareholders 
No. of Shares

% of Share Capital 
of the Company(1)

Name Direct Interests Deemed Interests Total Interest

Mah Bow Tan 24,000,000 600,000 (2) 24,600,000 8.95

Pang Yoke Min 29,353,740 - 29,353,740 10.68

Kathlyn Tan Jiling 12,000,000 10,200,000 (3) 22,200,000 8.08

Yong Yin Min 26,313,690 - 26,313,690 9.57

Oregold Pte Ltd 23,021,400 - 23,021,400 8.37

Sam Goi Seng Hui 16,999,319 23,021,400 (4) 40,020,719 14.56
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Twenty largest shareholders
As shown in the Register of Members and Depository Register

Based on the information available to the Company as at 6 September 2018, approximately 40.23% of the issued ordinary 
shares of the Company are held by the public and therefore, Rule 723 of the Listing Manual issued by the SGX-ST has been 
complied with.

No. of Shares %

PANG YOKE MIN 28,993,740 10.55

YONG YIN MIN 26,313,690 9.57

DB NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 24,600,000 8.95

OREGOLD PTE LTD 23,021,400 8.37

DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 22,863,220 8.32

GOI SENG HUI 16,999,319 6.18

RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LIMITED 12,916,710 4.70

HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 11,393,900 4.14

OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED 11,018,978 4.01

GLOBAL MEDIA HOLDINGS PTE LTD 10,200,000 3.71

CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 4,105,930 1.49

LAW XIAOWAN 4,096,000 1.49

TAN SOON HOE 3,177,100 1.16

HONG LEONG FINANCE NOMINEES PTE LTD 1,979,200 0.72

MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 1,919,426 0.70

KGI SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. 1,906,003 0.69

UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED 1,667,800 0.61

TEOH AH LECK @ TEO WENG WAH 1,635,000 0.59

FIRSTLINK INVESTMENTS CORPORATION LIMITED 1,500,000 0.55

CGS-CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. 1,335,233 0.49

Total 211,642,649 76.99

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS continued
As at 6 September 2018

Twenty largest warrantholders
As shown in the Depository Register

No. of Warrants %

DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 23,769,012 23.93

OREGOLD PTE LTD 11,181,822 11.26

KGI SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. 4,662,855 4.69

CGS-CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD. 4,450,150 4.48

PANG YOKE MIN 3,873,304 3.90

YONG YIN MIN 2,185,714 2.20

MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 2,026,842 2.04

OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED 1,998,942 2.01

TAN SOON HOE 1,505,714 1.52

NG TIE JIN (HUANG ZHIREN) 1,453,257 1.46

UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED 1,226,425 1.23

TEOH AH LECK @ TEO WENG WAH 1,214,285 1.22

FONG SOON YONG 1,011,451 1.02

NG YEE CHENG WENDY 967,541 0.97

NG ENG KUAY 949,182 0.96

PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 932,602 0.94

CHEW CHOY SENG 777,142 0.78

TAN KAY CHENG 767,428 0.77

CHIN CHEE KIONG 715,651 0.72

TAN KIEN LIP OR CHOW LAI YUAN 705,548 0.71

Total 66,374,867 66.81

Distribution of warrantholdings

Size of 
Warrantholdings

No.  of
Warrantholders % No. of

Warrants %

1  -  99 42 3.05 3,976 0.00

100  -  1,000 85 6.17 57,488 0.06

1,001  -  10,000 702 50.98 2,984,592 3.01

10,001  -  1,000,000 535 38.85 35,734,647 35.97

1,000,001 and above 13 0.95 60,559,773 60.96

Total 1,377 100.00 99,340,476 100.00
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT THE  15TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of the Company will be held at 450 Lorong 6 
Toa Payoh, Hersing Centre Level 3 (Red Auditorium), Singapore 319394 on Friday,  26 October 2018 at 10.00 a.m. to 
transact the following businesses:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS 

1. To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 together with the Directors’ 
Statement and the Auditors’ Report thereon. (Resolution 1)

2. To re-elect the following Directors of the Company retiring pursuant to Article 91(b) of the Company’s Articles of Association:

(i) Mr Mah Bow Tan (Resolution 2) 
(ii) Mr Pang Yoke Min (Resolution 3)

(See Explanatory Note 1)

3. To re-elect Mr Loo Wen Lieh, a Director of the Company retiring pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of 
Association.  (Resolution 4)

4. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$275,000 for the financial year ended 30 June 2018.  (2017: S$312,000).  
(Resolution 5)

5. To re-appoint Messrs PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix their 
remuneration. (Resolution 6)

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following ordinary resolution with or without modifications:

6. AUTHORITY TO ALLOT AND ISSUE SHARES 

“That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to:

(a) (i) issue shares in the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or 

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would require shares to be issued, 
including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) options, warrants, debentures or other 
instruments convertible into shares,

at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors of the Company 
may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and 

(b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue shares in pursuance of  
any Instruments made or granted by the Directors of the Company while this Resolution was in force, 

 provided that: 

(1) the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made or granted pursuant 
to this Resolution) to be issued pursuant to this Resolution shall be limited as follows: 

(A) without prejudice to sub-paragraph (1)(B) below, the aggregate number of shares to be issued shall not exceed 50 per 
centum (50%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital 

of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (4) below), of which the aggregate number of shares 
to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the Company shall not exceed 20 per centum (20%) of the 
total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company (as 
calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (4) below) (“General Limit”); 

(B) in addition to the General Limit, the aggregate number of shares to be issued by way of renounceable rights issues 
on a pro rata basis (“Renounceable Rights Issues”) shall not exceed 50 per centum (50%) of the total number of issued 
shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance 
with sub-paragraph (4) below (“Additional Limit”); 

(C) where an issue of shares is to be issued by way of Renounceable Rights Issues, that issue shall first use the Additional 
Limit, and in the event that the Additional Limit has been fully used and is insufficient to satisfy that issue, that issue may 
use the General Limit, but only to the extent of the then remaining General Limit; 

(D) where an issue of shares is to be issued otherwise than by way of Renounceable Rights Issue, that issue may only use 
the General Limit, but only to the extent of the then remaining General Limit; 

(E) an issue of shares that is not for a financing purpose may only use the General Limit, but the number of such shares 
that may be issued shall be limited to the numerical number of the then remaining Additional Limit; 

(2) the General Limit and the Additional Limit shall not, in aggregate, exceed 100 per centum (100%) of the total number 
of issue shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in 
accordance with sub-paragraph (4) below); 

(3) no shares shall be issued pursuant to this Resolution after 31 December 2018, if on that date the aggregate number 
of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) 
exceeds 50 per centum (50%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) 
in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (4) below);

(4) (subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST for the purpose of determining the aggregate number 
of shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1)(A) and (1)(B) above, the total number of issued shares (excluding 
treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) shall be based on the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury 
shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company at the time of the passing of this Resolution, after adjusting 
for: 

(a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities; 

(b) new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the 
time of the passing of this Resolution; and 

(c) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares; 

(5) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of the Listing 
Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) and the 
Constitution of the Company; and 

(6) unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such authority shall continue in force until the conclusion 
of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company 
is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.”  (Resolution 7) 

(See Explanatory Note 2)

7. To transact any other ordinary business which may be properly transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

By Order of the Board

Lee Wei Hsiung,  
Company Secretary 
 
Date: 4 October 2018
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Notes

1) (a) A member who is not a Relevant Intermediary is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote at  
 the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”). Where such member appoint two (2) proxies, he/she should specify the proportion of  
 his/her shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be presented by each proxy in the instrument appointing  
 a proxy or proxies.  

 (b) A member who is a Relevant Intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote at the AGM,  
 but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares held by such member.  
 Where such member appoints more than two (2) proxies, the number and class of shares in relation to which each proxy   
 has been appointed shall be specified in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. A proxy need not to be a member of  
 the Company. 

 “Relevant Intermediary” has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.     

2) The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or by his/her attorney duly authorised 
in writing.  Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under 
its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

3) The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Company’s Share Registrar, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory 
Services Pte. Ltd. at 50 Raffles Place, #32-01 Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 048623 not later than 48 hours before the time 
appointed for the Meeting.

Explanatory note

1) Mr Mah Bow Tan will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as Chairman of the Nominations Committee and 
a member of the Remuneration Committee.

Mr Pang Yoke Min will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as a member of the Audit, Nominations and 
Remuneration Committees.

The Directors who have offered themselves for re-election have each confirmed that, they do not have any relationships 
(including immediate family relationships) with the other Directors, the Company or its 10% shareholders. The current 
directorships in other listed companies and details of other principal commitments held by each of these Directors are set out 
on pages 33 to 35 of this Annual Report.

2) The proposed Ordinary Resolution 7, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, effective until the conclusion of 
the next AGM of the Company, or the date by which the next AGM of the Company is required by law to be held or such authority 
is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue shares, make or grant instruments 
convertible into shares and to issue shares pursuant to such Instruments, up to a number not exceeding the aggregated of (i) 
50% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company, 
of which up to 20% may be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to shareholders of the Company (the General Limit) and (ii) 
additional 50% for Renounceable Rights Issues, of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary 
holdings) in the capital of the Company (the Additional Limit), provided that the total number of shares which may be issued 
pursuant to (i) and (ii) shall not exceed 100% of the issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) at the 
time Ordinary Resolution 6 is passed, after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible 
securities or share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time when this Ordinary 
Resolution is passed and any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares. 

The authority for the Additional Limit is proposed pursuant to SGX-ST Practice Note 8.3 which became effective on 13 March 
2017 until 31 December 2018 by which date no further shares shall be issued pursuant to this Resolution, if on that date the 

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING continued
aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made or granted pursuant to 
this Resolution) exceeds 50% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the 
capital of the Company (“the Enhanced Rights Issue Limit”). The Enhanced Rights Issue Limit is aimed at helping companies 
raise funds expediently for expansion activities or working capital. It is subject to the condition that the Company complies 
with applicable legal requirements including but not limited to provisions in the Companies Act requiring the Company to seek 
shareholders’ approval and disclosure requirements under the Listing Manual on the use of the proceeds as and when the 
funds are materially disbursed and a status report on the use of proceeds in the annual report; and limitations in any existing 
mandate from shareholders. 

The Board is of the view that the Enhanced Rights Issue Limit is in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as it 
widens fund-raising avenues available to the Company, thereby enabling it to respond to financing needs to meet on-going 
changes and opportunities in the business environment in more expedient and cost-efficient manner. 

The Enhanced Rights Issue Limit will be exercised only if the Directors believe that to do so would be likely to promote the 
success of the Company for the benefit of shareholders as a whole.

Personal data privacy

Where a member of the Company submits an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and 
vote at the Annual General Meeting and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, 
use and disclosure of the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and 
administration by the Company (or its agents) of proxies and representatives appointed for the Annual General Meeting 
(including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, proxy lists, minutes and other 
documents relating to the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its 
agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”); (ii) warrants 
that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or 
its agents), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and 
disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, 
and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and 
damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.
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* I/We

and

Of

Dated this

being a *member/members of Global Yellow Pages Limited (the “Company”), hereby appoint

or failing the person, or either or both of the persons, referred to above, the Chairman of the Meeting, as my/our proxy/proxies 
to attend and to vote for me/us on my/our behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll at the 15th Annual General Meeting of the 
Company to be held at 450 Lorong 6 Toa Payoh, Hersing Centre Level 3 (Red Auditorium), Singapore 319394 on Friday, 26 
October 2018 at 10.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Ordinary Resolutions set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting 
as indicated hereunder. In the absence of specific instructions, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain as he/they may think fit, as 
he/they will on any other matter arising at the Annual General Meeting.

or

NRIC No

Name Address NRIC/Passport No
Proportions of shareholdings 
(%)

Total Number of  
Ordinary Shares Held

Resolution No. Ordinary Resolutions For Against

1.
To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year  
ended 30 June 2018 together with the Directors’ Statement and the Auditors’ 
Report thereon.

2. To re-elect Mr Mah Bow Tan as Director.

3. To re-elect Mr Pang Yoke Min as Director.

4. To re-elect Mr Loo Wen Lieh as Director.

5. To approve Directors’ fees of S$275,000 for the financial year ended 30 June 2018.

6. To re-appoint Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

7. To approve the proposed share issue mandate.

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF

IMPORTANT

1. A relevant intermediary may appoint more than two proxies to attend the 
Annual General Meeting and vote (please see note 2(b) for the definition of 
“Relevant Intermediary”). 
2. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy the Shares of Global 
Yellow Pages Limited, this Annual Report is forwarded to them at the request 
of their CPF Approved Nominees and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY. 
3. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF Investors and shall be ineffective 
for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them. 
4. CPF investors who wish to attend and vote at the Meeting, should contact 
their respective CPF Approved Nominees within the time frame specified.

Signature(s)/Common Seal of Members

* If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against”, please indicate with an “X” within the box provided.  Alternatively, please indicate the number of votes  
as appropriate.

day of 2018

PROXY FORM
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

 
GLOBAL YELLOW PAGES LIMITED 
Company Registration Number: 200304719G (Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

Name

(Tick as appropriate)

Address
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1. If you have Ordinary Shares entered against your name in the Depository 
Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of 
Singapore), you should insert that number of Ordinary Shares.  If you have 
Ordinary Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you 
should insert that number of Ordinary Shares.  If you have Ordinary Shares 
entered against your name in the Depository Register and Ordinary Shares 
registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert 
the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares entered against your name in 
the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of 
Members. If no number is inserted, the Proxy Form shall be deemed to 
relate to all the Ordinary Shares held by you.

2. (a) A member who is not a Relevant Intermediary is entitled to appoint  
 not more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote at the Annual General  
 Meeting. Where such member appoint two (2) proxies, he/she should  
 specify the proportion of his/her shareholding (expressed as a  
 percentage of the whole) to be presented by each proxy in the  
 instrument appointing a proxy or proxies.  

(b) A member who is a Relevant Intermediary is entitled to appoint more 
than two (2) proxies to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting, 
but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a 
different share or shares held by such member. Where such member 
appoints more than two (2) proxies, the number and class of shares in 
relation to which each proxy has been appointed shall be specified in 
the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. A proxy need not to be a 
member of the Company. 

“Relevant Intermediary” has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 
of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.    

3. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of 
the appointor or by his/her attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the 

instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it 
must be executed under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney 
duly authorised.

4. The Proxy Form must be lodged at the Company’s Share Registrar, 
Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. at 50 Raffles Place, 
#32-01 Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 048623 not less than 48 hours 
before the time appointed for the Annual General Meeting.

5. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its 
directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit to act as its 
representative at the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with Section 
179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

General

The Company shall be entitled to reject the Proxy Form if it is incomplete, 
improperly completed or illegible or where the true intentions of the 
appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor 
specified in the Proxy Form. In addition, in the case of Ordinary Shares 
entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any Proxy 
Form lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have 
Ordinary Shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 
72 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting, 
as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

Personal Data Privacy

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), 
the member accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out 
in the Notice of Annual General Meeting dated 4 October 2018.

Proxy Form

The Company Secretary 
Global Yellow Pages Limited 

1 Lorong 2 Toa Payoh, Yellow Pages Building 
Singapore 319637

Affix
Postage
Stamp

Fold here

Fold here
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